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ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF COUNTRY 
We pay our respects to the Traditional Custodians of the lands on which our 
offices are located – Whadjuk Noongar (Perth), Wadandi Noongar (Bunbury) and 
Kariyarra (Port Hedland) – as well as Traditional Custodians across WA, to all 
Elders and leaders. 

May we continue our journey together towards a bright future.
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Message from the Chair
Darren Cooper

As the new DevelopmentWA Chair, 
I have the pleasure of working with 
talented people helping to build a 
prosperous State with its face turned 
to the future.

The past year has seen Western 
Australia navigate the arrival of 
COVID-19 in our community, together 
with associated supply chain 
disruptions, skills shortages and 
other impacts. 

Despite these challenges, 2021-22 
has seen us achieve a number of 
significant milestones across our 
business – and we are proud to have 
played an important role in driving 
the State’s ongoing growth and bright 
economic outlook.

Over the past year, we have integrated 
land assets from the Department of 
Communities into DevelopmentWA. 
This process is progressing, and 
we look forward to continuing to 
play our part in supporting the 
State Government’s commitment to 
improving and expanding social and 
affordable housing across WA.

We have continued to invest in 
delivering sensitive and sustainable 
infill projects, breathing new life into 
the areas we know and love. 

Our landmark Subi East project 
– one of the biggest urban infill 
redevelopments in the nation – 
has made significant progress. 
Landscaping around the reinstated 
Subiaco Oval, including the installation 
of quality new community facilities 
and amenity, is now underway and the 
first lots at The Oval precinct are set to 
come to market by the end of the year.

On our coastline, work is continuing on 
the creation of a landmark residential, 
tourism, recreational and commercial 
precinct at Ocean Reef Marina. The 
new breakwaters, which will provide 
a safe waterside entry for the marina, 
have now reached their final length, 
and the $2.3 million extension to 
Hodges Drive as the main entrance to 
the precinct is completed and opened.

To the south, the State Government’s 
$89.3 million investment in key 
infrastructure upgrades at the world-
class Australian Marine Complex (AMC) 
in Henderson continues to position 
WA to secure a greater share of the 
nation’s growing defence industry. 

The past year has seen the Industrial 
Lands Authority (ILA) play a pivotal 
role in supporting our State’s ongoing 
economic prosperity.

The launch of the unique Australian 
Automation and Robotics Precinct 
in Neerabup in October 2021 ensures 
WA is prepared to support future 
industries. The 51ha precinct is the 
first of its kind in Australia and will 
support the resource industry’s efforts 
in transitioning to Net Zero.

The ILA has also supported WA’s 
exciting new renewable hydrogen 
industry, providing 130ha of industrial 
land at the Kwinana and Rockingham 
Strategic Industrial Areas (SIAs) for  
the development of Woodside’s  
$1 billion H2Perth hydrogen and 
ammonia production facility.

In December we welcomed a new 
Minister for Lands, the Hon. John 
Carey MLA. I would like to thank his 
predecessor the Hon. Dr Tony Buti MLA 
for his valued contribution during his 
time in the role, and as always I thank 
the Hon. Rita Saffioti MLA, Minister for 
Transport, Planning and Ports for her 
continued support.

I would also like to extend my sincere 
appreciation to my predecessor 
George McCullagh for his strong 
leadership of the agency over the 
course of more than a decade, as 
well as my fellow directors and the 
DevelopmentWA Executive, our 
dedicated workforce and stakeholders. 

I look forward to another year helping 
to shape and create sustainable 
communities, prosperous industry and 
resilient regions across the State.
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Message from the CEO
Frank Marra

Sharing the operational successes of 
the past 12 months is a highlight of any 
leader’s year. From sound financial 
performance to the delivery of major 
projects that will shape our State’s 
future, the past year has certainly given 
us plenty to be proud of.

In the year that borders came down and 
COVID finally came to Western Australia, 
DevelopmentWA continued to play 
an important role in supporting the 
resilience of our State – unlocking and 
delivering strategically-located land to 
drive business growth and ensure the 
WA economy remained strong.

Our projects are helping to support 
the State’s affordable and social 
housing needs, activating major 
transport precincts, and ensuring the 
availability of suitable land for economic 
development.

We have been tasked with the delivery 
of $300 million worth of diverse 
metropolitan, regional and industrial 
projects under the State Government’s 
$5.5 billion State Recovery Plan, right 
across WA, and these are an ongoing 
focus for investment, resources and 
programs of work.

Our work through the Industrial 
Lands Authority (ILA) supported the 
full spectrum of industry, from small 
businesses to the powerhouses of WA’s 
resources economy, while developing 
new opportunities and high-tech hubs 
in areas of strategic importance to our 
State’s future economy such as battery 
minerals and renewable hydrogen.

Of particular note is the launch of the 
Australian Automation and Robotics 
Precinct (AARP) on the site of a 
former limestone quarry 40km north 
of the Perth CBD at Neerabup. The 
State Government has invested $20 
million into the AARP through the 
State Recovery Plan, with the unique 
precinct set to become a cutting-edge 
technology cluster for testing and 
research into robotics and automation. 

The AARP will be the low-carbon home 
of up to 5,000 jobs in research and 
development, building on the world-

leading automation status already 
forged by WA’s resources industry.

At Peel Business Park in Nambeelup, 
10km north-east of Mandurah, the ILA is 
continuing to progress the development 
of the first 120ha of this innovative 
industrial estate. Stage 1 is sold out, 
with Stage 2 attracting strong interest 
from agri-businesses keen to reduce 
their carbon footprint using Australia’s 
first industrial renewable energy 
microgrid.

On the residential front, high-quality 
sustainable infill developments are 
taking shape at both Montario Quarter 
and OneOneFive Hamilton Hill, breathing 
new life into the former Shenton Park 
Rehabilitation Hospital and Hamilton 
Hill Senior High School sites. At Subi 
East, the biggest project of its kind in 
modern WA, we’ve set new standards 
for community engagement to minimise 
local disruption surrounding this 
landmark 35ha inner city site, with the 
first land releases on track for the end of 
this year.

Subi East has also been an exemplar 
of our award-winning Aboriginal 
Development Manager (ADM) program, 
developed in consultation with Noongar 
Elders and businesses to ensure 
Aboriginal people’s insights, history and 
culture help shape the redevelopment 
and creation of some of our most 
significant projects.

In addition to Subi East, the ADM 
program has been implemented at the 
710ha master-planned Alkimos Central 
coastal development north of Perth 
and at Ocean Reef Marina. We’re proud 
of this collaborative cultural approach 
to development, and look forward to 
applying the program to more projects 
across WA moving forward.

On the regional housing front, we’ve 
been pleased to unveil our innovative 
Duettes development in Albany. These 
unique dual-purpose, double-storey 
terrace homes combine two separate 
accommodation areas with dual key 
access and independent entrances 
– introducing a brand-new housing 

typology to the Great Southern region 
and offering residents the opportunity 
to sublet an apartment space, or 
accommodate multi-generational living.

Importantly, 2021-22 has also seen the 
launch of our Net Zero Transition Plan. 
This framework will guide our journey 
towards this important goal and has set 
the target of achieving Net Zero Scope 
1 and Scope 2 emissions by 2025, as 
part of the State Government’s plans to 
transition to Net Zero by 2050.

Sustainability has always been a key 
focus for DevelopmentWA, and goes 
hand-in-hand with the commitment 
to innovation that is embedded in 
our thinking and in our operations 
right across the State. I look forward 
to sharing our progress as we move 
towards Net Zero, and as always to 
sharing our insights and learnings 
with industry to allow others to follow 
with confidence.

Finally, I’d like to extend my deep and 
sincere thanks to our network of valued 
partners in industry, community and 
government for their support over the 
past year – and to the whole team at 
DevelopmentWA, who have continued 
to work tirelessly to deliver incredible 
outcomes in what remains a challenging 
environment.

Together, we will continue to drive 
and deliver the insights, innovation 
and opportunities needed to build 
a strong, sustainable future for all 
Western Australians.
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DevelopmentWA is a Government Trading 
Enterprise established in September 2019 through 
the merger of LandCorp and the Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority. 
We operate under the Western Australian Land Authority Act 1992 and the 
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority Act 2011 to deliver residential, commercial 
and industrial developments and revitalisation projects across Western Australia.

DevelopmentWA is managed via an independent Board of Directors and reports 
to Parliament through the Minister for Housing; Lands; Homelessness; and 
Local Government.

1.1 ABOUT
DEVELOPMENTWA

1.2 ABOUT
THIS REPORT

This report presents our performance for the financial year 1 July 2021 to 30 June 
2022 and adheres to the requirements set out in the Western Australian Land 
Authority Act 1992 and Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority Act 2011. 

The report has been prepared in accordance with the relevant Acts, as well 
as the Government of Western Australia Public Sector Commission Annual 
Reporting Framework. 

It sits alongside the 2021-22 Sustainability Report, which uses the Global 
Reporting Initiative (GRI) Standards to assess our social, economic and 
environmental performance.

Australian Marine Complex
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2.1 SHAPING OUR STATE’S FUTURE
Operating throughout Western Australia, DevelopmentWA 
drives economic and employment growth, demonstrates 
innovation and champions sustainability as we shape our 
State’s future. 

Partnering with industry and agencies, we create great 
places for people to live, work, visit and do business in 
regional and metropolitan WA. Through the Industrial Lands 
Authority, we provide the land and connections needed to 
power the drivers of our State’s economy – from the nation’s 
biggest resource projects through to small businesses.

Our diversified portfolio has the scale, scope and strength 
to work towards zero carbon communities and deliver 
social and economic outcomes for the benefit of all 
Western Australians.

Our transformative projects 
include the creation of new 
cities, diverse communities, 
precinct-scale urban renewal 
and the revitalisation of shared 
community destinations.

2.2 VALUES 
Values are central to our culture and performance. They underpin the way we work, 
and guide our relationships with each other and with our partners, stakeholders 
and customers. Our values are: 

Brilliance

Always striving. Never 
settling.

We relentlessly pursue 
brilliance in all aspects of 
our work. Our agility drives 
a solutions-focused, can-do 
approach to challenges.

Alliance 

Stronger together.

Our strength comes from 
our diversity. We engage, 
listen and learn from each 
other, the community, our 
stakeholders, suppliers and 
partners. We are strongest 
when we work together. 

Courage 

Backing ourselves and  
each other.

We lead through our collective 
commitment to innovation 
and action. We bring a can-do 
attitude and dedication to 
our work, our goals and our 
culture. Always seeking new 
perspectives and exploring 
new ways of thinking. 

Integrity 

Integrity at our core.

Integrity is reflected in 
everything we do. 
Each and every day.  
We are unwavering in our 
commitment to transparency 
and professionalism. 
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Sienna Wood

2.3 OPERATING ENVIRONMENT
Despite another challenging year across the globe with 
the ongoing impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, natural 
disasters and global uncertainty, the Western Australian 
economy has managed to prosper. 

The State finished 2021-22 with a 3.4 per cent unemployment 
rate and a 69.3 per cent participation rate – the highest across 
all Australian states. 

Western Australia’s mining sector also remains strong. In 
2021-22, the sector maintained its position as the world’s 
largest producer of iron ore and lithium, and the world’s third 
largest producer of gold and LNG. 

Some of the biggest challenges facing the property industry 
in 2021-22 were shortages in skilled workers and materials. 
Nearly three in five businesses in the construction industry 
have turned down new work as a result of worker shortages 
(CCIWA, March 2022) and the median house price in Perth 
increased by $40,000 in 12 months (Property Council of 
Australia, January 2022).

In January 2022, the Property Council of Australia 
(WA) released a report which estimated the delivery of 
around 10,000 apartments had been delayed due to price 
escalations resulting from supply shortages. 

As a result, a number of initiatives are underway to help 
improve housing affordability and allow more Western 
Australians to access home ownership. 

Social Housing
The WA Government has committed $2.1 billion towards 
social housing over the next four years, which will renovate 
older housing stock and deliver up to 3,300 new properties. 

DevelopmentWA is developing a strategy to contribute 
towards the Government’s 3,300-homes target, as well as a 
future pipeline of social and affordable homes. 

To coordinate social housing delivery, a dedicated 
steering committee has been established, including 
senior representatives from the Department of Premier 
and Cabinet; Department of Treasury; Department of 
Communities; Department of Finance; Department of 
Planning, Lands and Heritage; and DevelopmentWA.

In February 2022, the Housing Diversity Pipeline was 
launched with a registration of interest process calling for 
developers, builders, community housing providers and 
other partners who can deliver diverse housing – including 
social housing – on eleven identified sites. 

This pipeline of future work will support the housing 
needs of local communities, while creating work for the 
construction industry as the current housing boom eases.
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Government Reform
As part of the Western Australian Government’s measures 
to improve accountability and transparency in the public 
sector, the Housing Authority’s land development projects 
and related commercial functions were transferred to 
DevelopmentWA. 

The first phase took place in February 2021 and included the 
transfer of $136 million of land assets. The second phase 
occurred on 1 July 2021 and comprised the transfer of the 
remaining commercial land development projects and 
assets, valued at $411 million.

We are working with the Department of Communities 
and project partners to complete the project and asset 
transfer process.

2.4 OUR STRATEGIC
OBJECTIVES
What we deliver for Western Australia 
DevelopmentWA is focused on four strategic objectives to 
deliver the transformative projects that support the social 
and economic prosperity of Western Australia. 

Sustainable Communities

We plan and develop high quality major projects, transport-
oriented development, urban regeneration projects, 
rail station precincts and accessible land options for 
new communities. 

Prosperous Industry

We unlock land to facilitate economic diversification and 
jobs growth in industrial areas throughout Western Australia. 

Resilient Regions

We work with stakeholders across the State to deliver 
projects and land for growing communities which support 
regional economic development and job creation. 

A Highly Capable and Innovative Organisation

We create a culture of innovation that is creative, 
collaborative, solutions-focused and pursues continuous 
improvement. We support high capability and capacity 
through solid commercial and financial disciplines, an 
excellent workforce, robust systems, and strong stakeholder 
and community support. We also demonstrate innovative, 
sustainable outcomes in our developments that provide 
leadership in overcoming industry challenges.

Alkimos Beach, Alkimos
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3.1 ACTIVATING OUR CITY
From urban infill to land for new communities, we aim to create major projects, 
rail station precincts and housing opportunities across the metropolitan area.
Yagan Square, Perth City Link

As one of the city’s most exciting redevelopments, Perth 
City Link reconnects the CBD with Northbridge for the first 
time in more than 100 years. 

The centrepiece of this project will be Edith Cowan 
University’s inner-city campus – a world-class creative 
industries, business and technology campus expected to 
ultimately bring 11,000 students and staff into the CBD. 

The $853 million project is scheduled to start construction 
in mid-2022 following approval of the Development 
Application earlier this year. 

Adjacent to this site, Nokturnl is set to take over the Yagan 
Square Market Hall after their successful Expression of 
Interest in September 2021. 

The local operator is planning to deliver a hospitality and 
event space to reinvigorate the Market Hall and serve as a 
catalyst for the revitalisation of the Yagan Square precinct.

This redevelopment will be complemented by improved 
landscaping and a program of events and activations throughout 
the Yagan Square precinct. This investment aims to attract more 
visitors to the area and help to reinvigorate Perth CBD. 

Subi East

Subi East is transforming this well-established suburb into a 
vibrant city village with great new places to live, learn, work 
and play. 

In January 2022, the first stage of civil and landscaping 
work within The Oval Precinct began. These works will 
provide a safer environment for pedestrians and cyclists 
around Subiaco Oval, as well as introducing a Noongar Six 
Seasons Bidi trail, extensive public art, picnic facilities, play 
equipment and new development sites. 

At the eastern end of the project, demolition of the former 
Princess Margaret Hospital is close to completion, with the 
final two buildings expected to be removed in Spring 2022. 
This Precinct will become a gateway to Perth CBD and aims 
to raise the bar on planning and design of inner-city living. 

Subi East has been designed in close collaboration with 
Aboriginal Elders to ensure it reflects the area’s deep 
connection to culture. 

In February 2022, Subi East received a 6-Star Green Star 
– Communities rating, recognising the project as a world-
leading sustainable community.

Subi East, Subiaco. Artist impression only.

3.0DELIVERY
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Bayswater

The Bayswater Project Area forms part of METRONET East 
and aims to activate and redevelop the precinct surrounding 
the new Bayswater Station – which will become one of the 
busiest transit hubs in Perth – and parts of the town centre. 

The METRONET East-Bayswater Design Guidelines were 
shaped by several rounds of community and stakeholder 
consultation, before being adopted in March 2022. 

We have worked closely with key stakeholders, local 
groups and the broader community to ensure the planning 
framework balances the development opportunities with the 
area’s rich heritage and character. 

When fully built out, the precinct will see activation through: 
high quality design outcomes; diverse, inclusive, affordable 
and adaptable housing options to deliver multi-age living 
opportunities; clustering of highly activated retail, dining and 
entertainment uses to facilitate business and employment 
growth; and a rich and interesting streetscape and pedestrian 
experience that is safe, universally accessible and sustainable, 
with connections to the new station and other transport modes.

Any future developments in the Bayswater Project Area will 
be assessed against the final adopted guidelines.

Sienna Wood

Located 30 kilometres south-east of the Perth CBD in 
the suburbs of Hilbert and Haynes, Sienna Wood is being 
developed in partnership with Stockland and will become 
home to almost 12,000 people, alongside schools, parks and 
a proposed town centre.

With a focus on innovation and affordability, the estate 
features seven two-storey townhouses – known as 
the Garden Houses – which provide a new approach to 
affordable and diverse housing in the area. 

The Garden Houses were designed and constructed to 
streamline costs and accelerate build time, and were 
ultimately able to be sold at prices significantly below the 
median house price for the area. 

Following the success of the initial release, seven new 
Garden Houses were released in April 2022, providing more 
affordable housing to meet demand.

ACTIVATING OUR CITY: INSIGHTS

170
Development Applications 

approved 
Total value of approved 

Development Applications

$2.47b

expected to be invested 
in built form on lots sold

$757m

2 2 5 0
Dwelling Unit Equivalents in Perth Metropolitan area  

from 2021-22 land releases

2,300
jobs expected as a result 
of built form construction 

on lots sold

86%

affordable lots in Perth 
metropolitan area*

*Based on Department of Communities’ affordability price points.
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3.2 SUPPORTING REGIONAL LIFESTYLES
We are investing in regional growth and engaging local businesses, ensuring 
support for regional economies and communities. 
Madigan at Baynton West

Supporting the significant growth experienced in the 
City of Karratha, Madigan at Baynton West is a 68-hectare 
residential estate close to parks, recreational facilities, 
Baynton West Primary School and the Tambrey town centre.

The estate will ultimately supply an additional 700 lots to 
Karratha, with a range of lot sizes and housing types to 
provide new affordable housing options to the city.

High demand has been experienced across Karratha in  
2021-22, with 19 lots sold at Madigan, including six houses 
built for Government Regional Officer Housing (GROH).

Construction of the next two stages is scheduled to 
commence in August 2022 and deliver 62 new lots to the 
market to meet demand.

Waranyjarri Estate, Broome North

Waranyjarri Estate is the first residential community to be 
delivered within the 700-hectare Broome North precinct 
and is Western Australia’s only regional EnviroDevelopment-
accredited estate. 

The estate has been designed to consider the high cost of 
living in the region and features climate-responsive design 
and sustainability initiatives, as well as extensive parks, 
ecological corridors and Broome North Primary School.

Stage 11 of Waranyjarri Estate is planned for release in July 
2022 and includes 33 single residential lots alongside a 
childcare centre development opportunity. This release will 
provide opportunities for local builders and help to meet the 
high demand for residential land in the town. 

Planning for the nearby Broome North District Centre is also 
underway. A civil works contractor will soon be appointed 
to prepare the area for a potential supermarket, retail 
shops, professional services, a medical centre and further 
residential land options. 

Waranyjarri Estate, Broome North
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Clydesdale Park

Albany’s Clydesdale Park is providing affordable housing 
options to the Great Southern region. 

Located in McKail, a north-western suburb of Albany, 
Clydesdale Park will ultimately bring 465 new homes to the 
area, with a mix of cottage, traditional and grouped housing 
lots designed to suit a range of budgets and lifestyles. 

Work to deliver Stage 2 is underway after a local earthworks 
contractor was appointed in March 2022. The 31 lots in 
Stage 2 were released to the market in April 2022.

Clydesdale Park is complemented by other DevelopmentWA 
estates nearby, including the sought-after Oyster Harbour 
residential development and the mixed-use Middleton Beach 
Activity Centre.

GreenView at Karlkurla

Overlooking the Kalgoorlie Golf Course, GreenView at 
Karlkurla is bringing a range of new housing options to the 
regional city.

Civil construction works on Stage 3 of the estate began 
in August 2021, with 31 new lots released to the market in 
October 2021 to meet the increasing demand. 

This release follows the sale of Lot 205 Aslett Drive in 
July 2021. The 6,011sqm site is proposed to be developed 
into 23 terrace homes, bringing more housing choice and 
construction jobs to the local area.

All lots in Stage 3 have now been contracted and planning is 
underway to release Stage 4 in late 2022. 

86%

affordable lots in 
regional WA*

$225.2m
expected to be invested in built form on lots sold

686
jobs expected as a result 

of built form construction 
on lots sold

1 3 7
Dwelling Unit Equivalents in regional areas  

from 2021-22 land releases

*Based on Department of Communities’ affordability price points.

Clydesdale Park, Albany GreenView at Karlkurla, Kalgoorlie

SUPPORTING REGIONAL LIFESTYLES: INSIGHTS
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Australian Marine Complex

The Australian Marine Complex (AMC) in Henderson is a 
world-class centre of excellence comprising five main 
precincts: shipbuilding; technology; support industry; 
fabrication; and recreational boating.

Four major infrastructure projects are being delivered at the 
AMC, funded through the State Government’s WA Recovery 
Plan. The first – construction of a new vessel transfer path 
– was completed in April 2022 and now provides improved 
capacity to support the Australian Navy’s Arafura Class 
offshore patrol vessels.

A $32.1 million upgrade to the existing AMC wharves 
commenced in February 2022 and construction work is well 
underway to deliver a new superyacht fabrication facility. 
Work to upgrade and signalise two road intersections to 
improve safety and efficiency is also in progress. 

Together, these infrastructure projects are expected to 
create up to 600 local construction jobs and further boost 
Western Australia’s defence industry.

Rockingham Industry Zone

The 1,150-hectare Rockingham Industry Zone provides 
a range of light, general and strategic industrial and 
service commercial land in Perth’s premier southern 
industrial corridor. 

In August 2021, CBH Group – one of the world’s largest grain 
supply chains – leased land within the Rockingham Strategic 
Industrial Area to develop a $55 million granular and liquid 
fertiliser storage facility to support their expansion plans. 

Around 130 hectares of strategic industrial land was also 
leased in October 2021 to Woodside to establish H2Perth, a 
$1 billion global-scale hydrogen energy hub, strengthening 
WA’s renewable hydrogen industry and putting the 
State at the forefront of the global push for a renewable 
energy future.

Orion Industrial Park

Located in Perth’s south within the Latitude 32 Industry 
Zone, Orion Industrial Park is transforming a 95-hectare 
former limestone quarry into a bustling, high quality 
industrial area.

Earthworks began in September 2021 to prepare the area for 
up to 100 businesses who will ultimately call Orion Industrial 
Park home.

Stage 1 was released in June 2021 after being brought 
forward in response to high demand and the sell-out of the 
nearby Flinders Precinct. More than half of the available land 
in Stage 1 is now under contract.

When fully built-out and operational, Stage 1 is expected 
to generate around 880 ongoing jobs and contribute $325 
million to the Western Australian economy annually.

Boodarie Strategic Industrial Area

Boodarie Strategic Industrial Area (SIA) is ideally situated to 
facilitate the processing of the State’s natural resources in 
the Pilbara region. 

Located just outside of South Hedland, Boodarie SIA 
features 4,000 hectares of land zoned for ‘strategic industry’, 
surrounded by a two to three kilometre buffer area.

In January 2022, a $10.5 million upgrade of the entrance 
road to Boodarie SIA was completed, paving the way for the 
precinct to become a world-class industrial estate.

Funded through the State Government’s WA Recovery Plan, 
the upgrade has created a primary access point for the SIA 
as well as improved safety for vehicles turning at the nearby 
access road. 

Boodaria SIA is one of 13 Strategic Industrial Areas across 
Western Australia, led by the Department of Jobs, Tourism, 
Science and Innovation and delivered by DevelopmentWA.

3.3 CREATING JOBS AND ECONOMIC DIVERSITY
Through the Industrial Lands Authority, we take a leading role in delivering 
land for jobs and driving Western Australia’s economic development.
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463

1,301
construction jobs on 

industrial lots sold

ongoing jobs on 
industrial lots sold39ha

of industrial land sold

Boodarie Strategic Industrial Area

CREATING JOBS AND ECONOMIC DIVERSITY: INSIGHTS

1,050
construction jobs

370
ongoing jobs

TWO SIA LEASES SIGNED
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Duettes at Middleton Beach, Albany. Artist impression only.
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$23.435m
Dividends to Government

93%26.4
average hours of training 
completed by employees

$14,646
donated by staff through 

Workplace Giving

79% STAFF RETENTION RATE

RESIDENTIAL 
CUSTOMER 

SATISFACTION
40%

women in 
management
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$766.7m
TOTAL REVENUE

$227.0m
METROPOLITAN

$306.3m
RESIDENTIAL LANDS

$38.4m
REGIONAL

$195.0m
ILA

REVENUE

AWARDS

Property Council of Australia (WA) 
State Development of the Year – Claremont on the Park

International Association for Public Participation 
Indigenous – Aboriginal Development Manager Program

IPAA Achievement Awards 
Finance Practitioner of the Year – Fiona Barclay

UDIA Awards for Excellence 
Urban Renewal (WA) – Claremont on the Park 
Affordable Development (WA) – Sienna Wood (with Stockland)

WasteSorted Awards 
Commercial and Industrial Waste Award – Alkimos Beach

Watercorp Waterwise Developments 
Waterwise Development of the Year – OneOneFive Hamilton Hill

WINS

IPAA Achievement Awards 
Government Collaboration – Smart Sun

BRONZE

Planning Institute of Australia WA – Planning Excellence Awards 
Strategic Planning Project – Subi East

Property Council of Australia – Innovation and Excellence Awards 
Government Leadership – Claremont on the Park 
Project Innovation – Smart Sun 

Property Council of Australia – WA Property Awards 
Best Innovation Award – Peel Business Park 
Best Sustainable Development – Alkimos Beach 
Best Community Activation or Community Engagement  
– Alkimos Beach 
Best Marketing Campaign – Alkimos Beach 
Best Innovation - Alkimos Beach - Battery Trial

ULI Asia Pacific Awards 
Claremont on the Park

UDIA Awards for Excellence 
Urban Renewal (National) – Claremont on the Park 
Residential Development (WA) – Champion Lakes 
Women in Leadership (WA) – Anna Evangelisti 
Young Development Professional (WA) – Nathan Varma

WAAA Apartment Awards for Excellence 
Pioneering Award – Duettes

WA Energy Awards 
Energy Innovation of the Year – Smart Sun

FINALISTS
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Peel Business Park, Nambeelup
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Innovation drives everything we do. From staff development to sustainable new 
construction practices, we aim to demonstrate leadership and pave the way for 
others to follow with confidence.

Transition to Net Zero

In November 2021, we launched our first Net Zero Transition 
Plan, outlining our roadmap to achieve net zero carbon 
emissions by 2050. 

The plan identifies three priority targets:

1. Achieve net zero scope one and two emissions by 2025;

2.  Achieve net zero scope one, two and three emissions 
between 2040 and 2050; and

3. Develop a net zero culture.

Scope one includes direct emissions that are released into 
the atmosphere from an activity owned or controlled by 
DevelopmentWA. 

Scope two emissions are indirect, but related to the 
consumption of energy by DevelopmentWA that has been 
produced elsewhere, such as grid-supplied electricity.

Scope three emissions are a consequence of our activities, 
but generated in the wider economy from sources not 
owned or controlled by DevelopmentWA. 

Although we have a long journey ahead, we have already 
started working towards our priority targets, including 
assessing emission reduction opportunities in assets we 
own and operate, transitioning our fleet cars to electric 
vehicles and staff education campaigns.

East Village at Knutsford

A project leading the way in reducing carbon emissions, 
East Village at Knutsford will become one of WA’s most 
sustainable developments. 

The precinct will follow the principles of One Planet Living 
to deliver a connected community of 36 energy-efficient 
homes featuring a micro-grid supply network for water 
and power. 

The homes will be powered from 100 per cent renewable 
sources, including individual 5kW PV solar systems, a shared 
battery and renewable grid energy when needed, as well as 
electric vehicle fast charging infrastructure.

On-site stormwater capture and non-potable water 
systems such as individual rainwater tanks plumbed to 
each household and a strata-owned bore ensure precious 
rain water is harvested and recycled back into the precinct, 
significantly reducing demand on mains water.

East Village is a living laboratory, demonstrating the 
effectiveness of precinct-scale renewable energy and 
waterwise initiatives.

Ultimately, the East Village town homes will achieve net zero 
energy utilising a solar microgrid and shared battery back-up 
– one of the biggest of its kind in the State.

Australian Automation and Robotics Precinct, Neerabup
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OneOneFive Hamilton Hill

OneOneFive Hamilton Hill is an innovative new residential 
estate being developed on the former Hamilton Senior High 
School site. 

It is targeting the highest levels of sustainability by 
minimising waste, water and energy consumption and 
retaining the site’s landform, trees and biodiversity. 

The former school site was demolished with the goal of 
processing and reusing all non-hazardous demolition material 
onsite. In total, 96 per cent of the 10,625 tonnes of demolition 
material was able to be reused or recycled, with the remaining 
4 per cent identified as hazardous and disposed of safely.

This process resulted in 1,000 fewer truck movements, 9,000 
litres of diesel saved and 663 tonnes of CO2 avoided. 

Once constructed, residents will live within a 100 per cent 
net zero estate.

Duettes at Middleton Beach

Redevelopment of Albany’s Middleton Beach foreshore 
precinct will deliver new public spaces, tourist facilities, 
restaurants, retail and accommodation options to the area. 

Within the Middleton Beach Activity Centre, innovative 
‘Duettes’ homes will bring a flexible new housing product to 
the area. The Duettes will be two-storey terrace homes with 
two separate accommodation areas offering flexibility to 
help bridge the work/life divide. 

The ground floor may be used as a work space, or a separate 
apartment for multigenerational or tenanted living without 
the need for costly conversion. 

The site’s unique location and climatic conditions are integral 
to the home designs, with light and ventilation maximised to 
increase comfort and improve energy efficiency.

Local builder Smith Constructions started work on these 
homes in March 2022.

Australian Automation and Robotics Precinct

In Perth’s northern corridor, work has begun on a world-
leading automation and robotics test facility. 

The 51-hectare Australian Automation and Robotics Precinct 
(AARP) will become a major hub for testing and research into 
automation, remote operation and robotic systems. 

It is expected to be used by a broad range of industries 
including mining and resources, defence, oil and gas, 
agriculture, space, logistics, construction, advanced 
manufacturing and the education sector. 

Planned to become one of the biggest test facilities 
of its kind in the world, AARP is a prime example of 
DevelopmentWA’s commitment to innovation, and the 
opportunities for land development to help diversify WA’s 
economy and support the jobs of the future.

Aboriginal Development Manager Program

The Aboriginal Development Manager (ADM) Program was 
co-designed with Noongar Elders to allow for deeper, more 
meaningful engagement and build capacity for Aboriginal 
businesses on DevelopmentWA projects. 

ADMs have been employed within the core consulting team 
of three major projects – Alkimos Central, Ocean Reef Marina 
and Subi East – and have been instrumental in facilitating 
respectful participation and contribution across each project. 

For example, the Alkimos Central ADMs met with local 
Whadjuk Elders and identified a culturally-significant site 
within a proposed future road reserve. As a direct result 
of this input, the road was realigned and the future town 
centre was reoriented to preserve and respect the cultural 
significance of this site. 

The ADM Program also received national recognition as 
winner of the 2021 International Association for Public 
Participation (IAP2) Core Values Award – Indigenous category.

We are working to embed this program into our business 
processes, with the intention to expand it to other 
significant projects in the near future. 

My Learning Journey

People are at the heart of DevelopmentWA, and we take 
pride in our organisational culture. 

This year, we launched the next phase of our Learning and 
Development Strategy, called My Learning Journey. 

My Learning Journey is aimed at developing a sustainable 
and proactive learning culture by providing ongoing 
development opportunities for our people. This initiative 
will allow people to be more flexible in their approach 
to professional growth, which will be tailored to each 
individual’s developmental needs.

Development opportunities are available to all staff across 
eight categories:

• Foundation skills

• Mini mastery topics

• Technical learning

• Coaching and mentoring

• Tertiary personalised 

• Curated digital learning

• Targeted self-learning

• Social networking 

My Learning Journey is part of our continual investment 
in cultivating a culture of learning and a rewarding 
working environment.
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Innovation cannot be achieved in isolation. In 2021-22 we were proud to 
support innovative organisations and initiatives including:
• Business News’ RISE Business Awards

•  Civil Contractors Federation Industry 
and Training Awards

• Collie Small Business Awards

•  Curtin University’s Design and Built 
Environment Awards

• Landgate’s SPUR Location Grants Program

• Lithium, Battery and Energy Conference

• Robotics and Automation in Mining Conference

• Rockingham-Kwinana CCI Awards

• WA Apartment Advocacy’s Apartment Awards

• Wanneroo Business Association’s Business Awards

•  Wunan East Kimberley Aboriginal 
Achievement Awards

INNOVATION: INSIGHTS

36
contracts signed with 
Aboriginal businesses 

to the value of  
$5.76 million

15
279

 Spark events held;

 Spark attendees
‘Spark’ was an innovation 

program available to all staff 
in February 2022. It offered a 

series of events, activities and 
presentations to encourage 

people to think creatively and 
explore new ways of operating.

35
ideas in the 
innovation 

pipeline
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6.1 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

COMMITMENT
DevelopmentWA is committed to the highest standards of  
corporate governance. 

Our approach includes a commitment to robust governance 
standards that are fundamental to the sustainability of 
our operations and performance, and foster a culture of 
compliance which values ethical behaviour, personal and 
corporate integrity, accountability and respect for others.

DevelopmentWA’s main corporate governance practices 
provide a framework to ensure we act with exemplary 
standards of corporate behaviour. We use a range 
of benchmarks to guide our practices, including the 
Public Sector Management Act 1994, Public Sector 

Commission Principles of Good Governance for Boards and 
Committees, and the Corporate Governance Principles and 
Recommendations as determined by the Australian Stock 
Exchange (ASX) (to the extent they can be applied). These 
practices, comply with the standards set out in the Western 
Australian Land Authority Act 1992 (WALA Act), Statutory 
Corporations (Liability of Directors) Act 1996, and the 
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority Act 2011 (MRA Act).

The Minister for Lands has portfolio responsibility for 
DevelopmentWA.
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PERFORMANCE
Board of Directors

DevelopmentWA is comprised of the Western Australian Land 
Authority (WALA) and Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority 
(MRA). The Boards of both entities have common directors; 
references to the DevelopmentWA Board encompass the 
MRA and WALA Boards as a combined entity. 

Board Role and Responsibilities 

The Board of Directors recognises accountability to the 
WA Government and Minister for Lands. This requires the 
Board to deliver the objectives and functions set out in the 
Western Australian Land Authority Act 1992 and Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority Act 2011.

The Board is accountable to the Government for 
DevelopmentWA’s performance with responsibility for:

•  setting out corporate directions, submitting the 
annual Statement of Corporate Intent and five-year 
Strategic Development Plan, including financial and key 
performance indictor targets, to the Minister;

•  providing strategic direction and approving significant 
strategic corporate objectives;

•  maintaining communication with the Minister and 
Government; 

•  maintaining working relationships with Management;

•  developing and maintaining relationships with key 
stakeholders, including Government and business partners;

•  evaluating Board performance;

•  evaluating performance of the Chief Executive;

•  planning for Board and Management succession; 

•  monitoring financial and corporate performance;

•  half-yearly and annual reports;

•  overseeing and assessing DevelopmentWA’s social, 
economic and environmental impact and performance;

•  reviewing, ratifying and monitoring appropriate systems 
of risk management and legal compliance; 

•  satisfying itself that appropriate internal control 
mechanisms are in place and are being implemented;

•  determining the scope of authority (and any limits on 
authority) which is delegated to the Chief Executive or 
any other officer;

•  ensuring appropriate resources are available to senior 
management; and

•  maintaining an emphasis on audit activities.

Board Composition

The Board comprises seven independent directors appointed 
by the Minister for Lands in accordance with relevant 
provisions of the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority Act 
2011 and the Western Australian Land Authority Act 1992. The 
skills and experiences of Directors on the Board during the 
reporting period are set out in the Directors’ Report. 

Board members are remunerated according to Public Sector 
Commission guidelines. 

The Board induction process includes briefings with the 
Chief Executive and senior management, provision of 
information on key corporate and Board policies, strategic 
plans and relevant project site visits.

Director Development

Directors undertake professional development to maintain 
skills required to discharge their duties. This may include 
approved industry seminars and education courses as well 
as customised development opportunities. The Board’s 
Governance and Remuneration Committee oversees 
Director Development and makes recommendations on 
skills and knowledge development. 

The Board and the Chief Executive

The Board is responsible for the appointment and 
employment contract of the DevelopmentWA Chief 
Executive, subject to obtaining the Minister’s approval.

Day-to-day oversight and management of operations are 
the responsibility of the Chief Executive, who reports to the 
Board on issues including:

•  corporate strategies;

•  human resources;

•  annual budgeting;

•  managing day to day operations;

•  risk management;

•  operations and major project challenges and 
milestones; and

•  strategic marketing and communications.

The role of the Chief Executive Officer under the Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority Act 2011 is maintained as an 
executive position within the DevelopmentWA structure.
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Board Committees

The Board has established committees to assist it in 
the performance of its functions in addition to the Land 
Redevelopment Committees (LRC) established under 
section 26 of the MRA Act. These committees are:

•  Audit and Risk Management (WALA and MRA);

•  Governance and Remuneration (WALA); and

•  Statutory Planning (WALA). 

Each committee reviews its charter and membership 
annually, with any proposed changes submitted to the Board 
for approval. The Board has oversight of committee minutes 
and Directors may attend committee meetings even if they 
are not a member of that committee.

Audit and Risk Management Committee

This Committee assists the Board to fulfil its corporate 
governance and oversight responsibilities in relation to 
accounting policies, financial reporting, internal control 
systems, risk management systems and the internal and 
external audit functions. 

The Committee has direct access to external auditors, internal 
auditors and senior management. The Committee meets 
regularly, meeting external auditors at least twice a year and 
internal auditors frequently. External auditors are appointed 
in accordance with DevelopmentWA’s governing legislation.

Governance and Remuneration Committee

This Committee assists the Board in ensuring that 
appropriate and effective policies, plans and practices 
are in place in relation to: corporate governance; Board, 
Committee and Chief Executive Officer performance 
management; Board and Executive succession and 
remuneration; and Human Resources standards oversight.

Statutory Planning Committee

This Committee is the decision-making body for the 
Western Australian Land Authority’s statutory planning 
responsibilities as defined in the Hope Valley-Wattleup 
Redevelopment Act 2000 and Perry Lakes Redevelopment Act 
2005.

Land Redevelopment Committees 

A Land Redevelopment Committee (LRC) has been 
established for each Redevelopment Area to enable 
community and Local Government involvement in the 
development and delivery of urban renewal projects. The 
five committees (for Armadale, Central Perth, Midland, 
Scarborough and Subiaco) have planning powers delegated 
by the Board and provide advice on local planning matters. 
The membership of the LRCs is in accordance with section 
80(1) of the MRA Act.

Performance Evaluation

The Board Chairperson is responsible for leading the 
review of Board performance, including monitoring the 
contribution of individual Directors and counselling them on 
areas that may improve Board performance. These annual 
reviews may be undertaken using a variety of methodologies 
and resources. The Governance and Remuneration 
Committee assists the Board with the implementation of 
any recommendations and actions arising. 

Each Board committee reviews its performance annually 
against its charter, which is then reported to the Governance 
and Remuneration Committee.

The performance evaluation of the Chief Executive 
is undertaken by the Board though the Chairperson. 
A performance agreement and targets are set and 
performance reviews are undertaken a minimum of 
twice annually. 

The Board also receives quarterly reports on 
DevelopmentWA’s social, environmental and economic 
performance against its corporate strategy. 

Conflicts of interest

DevelopmentWA’s governing legislation details the 
requirements for Board Directors to declare conflicts of 
interest. A Conflict of Interest Policy is in place detailing 
management of such matters. This Policy accords with 
standards set by the Western Australian Public Sector 
Commissioner.

New Directors appointed to the Board declare financial 
and pecuniary interests at their first meeting. A standing 
protocol dictates where a Director would disclose an 
interest in any item on the Board meeting agenda. Any 
Director who considers he or she has a conflict of interest 
is required to give other Directors immediate notice. 
Disclosures are recorded in the meeting minutes, with a 
copy placed into a Declarations of Interest Register.

Where a Director makes a declaration of a conflict of 
interest, the Board may allow the Director to partially 
participate in discussion of the agenda item, make a 
statement to the Board prior to leaving the meeting room or 
request the Director leave the meeting immediately.

The Conflict of Interest Policy also applies to staff and 
contractors who, when conflicted, are required to make a 
formal disclosure to the Chief Executive who determines 
the management action required. These interests are also 
recorded in the Declarations of Interest Register.
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Ethical Standards 

DevelopmentWA’s governing legislation requires 
DevelopmentWA and its employees to comply with:

•  any Acts governing their conduct (including those 
mentioned above); 

•  Public Sector Commissioner’s instructions;

•  applicable Human Resource management standards and 
principles; and

•  applicable codes of ethics and conduct.

Employees are also required to:

•  act with integrity in the performance of official 
duties and are to be scrupulous in the use of official 
information, equipment and facilities; and

•  exercise proper courtesy, consideration and sensitivity in 
their dealings with members of the public and employees.

The DevelopmentWA Code of Conduct incorporates all these 
requirements and provides guidance on a set of principles 
that reflects its approach to business and applies to anyone 
working for or on behalf of DevelopmentWA including Board, 
Executive, staff and internal contractors and consultants. 
The Code of Conduct is part of the onboarding process, 
available to staff at all times via the intranet and document 
management system and supported by training and 
awareness-raising sessions. 

DevelopmentWA adopts a risk-based, precautionary and 
proactive approach to our operations, with zero tolerance to 
fraud and corruption. DevelopmentWA manages risk related 
to corruption across all operations at a corporate level. This 
involves a system of procedures that include: a Code of 
Conduct; fraud audits and training (including accountable and 
ethical decision making training); Directors and Officers liability 
insurance risk assessments; corporate risk register; and a 
series of policies. These policies address the key areas of:

•  values and ethics;

•  trade practices;

•  procurement and tendering;

•  gifts and hospitality;

•  occupational health and safety;

•  equal employment opportunity;

•  continuous disclosure of conflicts of interest; and

•  personal duties and responsibilities.

The Governance and Remuneration Committee reviews the 
Code of Conduct as part of a regular review process, prior to 
approval by the Board. 

Shareholder

The Minister for Lands has portfolio responsibility for 
DevelopmentWA. The Minister for Planning is also engaged 
on relevant projects and approvals as required.

Ministerial Reporting

Governing legislation sets out reports which are to be 
provided to the Minister.

DevelopmentWA’s Strategic Development Plan and Statement 
of Corporate Intent provide the Minister with details on 
activities, key objectives, strategies and operational targets. 
The requirement for a business plan and operational plan 
under section 10 of the MRA Act are addressed by the 
Strategic Development Plan and Statement of Corporate 
Intent. Both are submitted to the Minister for approval 
annually, with the consent of the Treasurer. 

The Minister tabled the annual Statement of Corporate 
Intent in the Parliament and was provided with the 
document within the timeframes prescribed in legislation.

Beyond the legislative requirements, there is a commitment 
to ensuring the Government is fully informed on significant 
activities and developments. This commitment is achieved 
by provision of information and advice to the Minister for 
Lands, and includes, but is not limited to, annual reports, 
half-yearly reports and budget submissions as well as 
responses to specific requests from Parliament, Members 
of Parliament, agencies and the public.

Ministerial Direction

The Minister may give directions in writing to the Board of 
Directors with respect to the performance of the functions 
prescribed under the legislation. The Board has maintained a 
procedure with respect to responding to Ministerial direction.

There were no Ministerial directions during the reporting period.

Ministerial Approvals

There have been two transactions approved by the Minister 
pursuant to the requirement of the WALA Act and no 
approvals by the Minister pursuant to the MRA Act in 2021-22. 

Ministerial Recommendations

No Ministerial Recommendations pursuant to section 29(1) 
and 29(5) of the MRA Act were received between 1 July 2021 
to 30 June 2022. 

Ministerial Review

Section 48 of the WALA Act requires the Minister to carry 
out a review of the operation and effectiveness of the WALA 
Act within six months after every fifth anniversary of the 
commencement of the Western Australian Land Authority 
Act Amendment 2004.

The next WALA Act Review is due in 2024. 
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CORPORATE COMPLIANCE DISCLOSURES
Freedom of Information

The provisions of the Freedom of Information (FOI) Act 1992 
apply to DevelopmentWA and statistics relating to 
applications received for this reporting period are shown 
below. We work with applicants to facilitate full disclosure 
of documents where appropriate.  

An Information Statement in accordance with the 
FOI Act, providing information about DevelopmentWA  
and how to make an FOI request is available at  
http://www.developmentwa.com.au. 

FOI STATISTICS 2021-22

Access applications received 21

Applications transferred to another agency 0

Applications withdrawn 0

Applications processed 17

 Access in full 2

 Edited access 10

 Documents not found/do not exist  1

 Access refused 2

 Access deferred 1

 Access given (s.28) 0

 Refuse to deal (s.20 ) 1

Applications carried over from previous years 1

Internal reviews received 4

External reviews received 4

Records Management

In accordance with Section 61 of the State Records Act 2000 
and the State Records Commission Standards (Standard 2 - 
Principle 6), DevelopmentWA has an approved Recordkeeping 
Plan. The Plan describes how records are created, 
maintained, managed and disposed of in accordance with 
DevelopmentWA’s standards and principles. Regular reviews 
of recordkeeping practices and systems are conducted and 
any opportunities for improvement addressed. 

The DevelopmentWA onboarding process for all staff and 
contractors includes online records management training, 
including information on employees’ roles and responsibilities 
and how they comply with the approved Recordkeeping Plan. 
Completion of the course is monitored and documented and 
there is an opportunity to provide feedback on course content.

Public Interest Disclosure 

The Public Interest Disclosures Act 2003 facilitates the 
disclosure of public interest information and provides 
protection for those who make disclosures and those who 
are the subject of disclosures. 

DevelopmentWA has an officer who can assist with enquiries 
and implement internal procedures developed to ensure 
compliance with obligations under the Act. No disclosures 
were received during the period.

Unauthorised Use of Credit Cards 

During 2021-22 reporting period there were no instances of 
erroneous and unresolved personal expenditure.

Substantive Equality 

Diversity and Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO) for all 
employees and prospective employees is promoted in the 
DevelopmentWA workplace. Diversity targets have been 
defined and incorporated into our EEO Management Plan and 
Reconciliation Action Plan with specific focus on employment 
of Aboriginal Australians, people with disabilities and females 
in senior roles. To achieve this, policies and strategies are 
in place to create awareness and eliminate discrimination 
and harassment, particularly on grounds covered by EEO 
legislation. Our diversity targets and performance are 
monitored and reported to the Board annually.
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Disability Access and Inclusion Plan

DevelopmentWA believes that people with a disability should 
have equal opportunity to access our services, facilities and 
information. In accordance with Part 5 of the Disabilities 
Services Act 1993, the MRA established a new Disability 
Access and Inclusion Plan (DAIP) for the period 2017-2022. 
This involved conducting workshops with staff across the 
organisation and public consultation. The feedback sourced 
through this consultation shaped the new strategies for the 
MRA DAIP for the 2017-2022 period. Employee induction 
processes and ongoing policy implementation increased 
employee awareness of disability and access issues, 
addressing desired outcomes in accordance with Schedule 3 
of the Disability Services Regulations 2004 during 2021-22.

Reportable Expenditure

The Electoral Act 1907 (Section 175 ZE) requires the 
disclosure of certain categories of expenditure. Details of 
the organisations contracted and the amounts paid for the 
financial year are as follows:

DEVELOPMENTWA

Advertising $1,251,762 

The Brand Agency

Rare Pty Ltd

Media Advertising $376,340

Carat Australia Media Services Pty Ltd

Initiative Media

Market Research $127,358

Research Solutions

Painted Dog

Faster Horses

Direct mail $0

Polling $0

Total Expenditure $1,755,460

Pricing Policies 

In accordance with the Metropolitan Redevelopment 
Authority Regulations 2011, the MRA provides planning 
services in accordance with fees prescribed at Schedule 5 
of the Regulations. 

Environmental Regulation and Management 

Day-to-day operations are subject to regulation under 
both Commonwealth and State environmental legislation 
applicable to any Australian commercial entity. 
These include:

•  Waterways Conservation Act (WA) 1976;

•  Environmental Protection Act (WA) 1986; 

•  Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation 
Act (Commonwealth) 1999; 

•  Contaminated Sites Act (WA) 2003 and 

•  Biodiversity Conservation Act (WA) 2019.

Risk Management

Strong risk management is part of our culture. The 
processes and structures are directed toward ensuring 
that DevelopmentWA transparently meets legislative 
requirements, Government priorities, strategic and 
operational objectives and any contractual requirements in 
a clear and timely manner. It is supported by a ‘Risk Appetite 
Statement’ and ‘Risk and Opportunity Assessment Criteria’.

DevelopmentWA’s risk appetite and tolerance level is set by 
the Board and supported by the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee.

The Risk Management Framework applies to all of 
DevelopmentWA’s functions and activities and is consistent 
with ISO 31000:2018 and Treasurer’s Instruction 825 ‘Risk 
Management and Security’.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee provides 
transparency, focus and independent judgement over 
the Risk Management Framework ensuring a consistent 
approach to the identification, measurement and evaluation 
of risks and opportunities across our business, and oversees 
the integration of internal audit recommendations. 

Our risk management process cascades from the strategic 
plan through to operational and project plans. The Corporate 
(Strategic and Operational) Risk Register is monitored quarterly 
by the Risk Management Steering Committee which instigates 
mitigation changes based on emerging risks. Internal audits 
are undertaken regularly to confirm processes and controls are 
operating effectively and ensuring the risk culture is consistent 
with the Board’s risk appetite and risk priorities. 

In general, DevelopmentWA’s risk appetite is ‘low’, with 
exception in areas of safety and health, fraud, corruption, 
misconduct and willful breaches of confidentiality, where 
risk appetite is ‘zero’. 

‘Moderate’ risk is tolerated subject to the identification 
of potential opportunities, risks and effective mitigation 
controls in areas such as: commercial activities (i.e. 
partnering, complex sales transactions, long term leasing), 
organisational and commercial sustainability, market 
leadership and innovation and regulation, and planning and 
development control.
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WORK HEALTH, SAFETY AND INJURY MANAGEMENT
Western Australia’s Work Health and Safety

The Work Health and Safety Act 2020 (WHS Act) was passed 
on 10 November 2020 with the Act and accompanying 
regulations coming into effect on 31 March 2022. To align to 
the new laws, previous references to ‘Occupational Safety 
and Health’ matters are now referred to as Work Health and 
Safety (WHS) matters.

Over the past year, a concerted effort has been applied 
to prepare DevelopmentWA for the new laws. Such work 
included reviewing contracts, policies and procedures to 
ensure total alignment to the new law. A number of new 
initiatives will be rolled out during 2022-23 including:

•  A small contractor induction module (to be housed in 
the DevelopmentWA in-house incident management 
system).

•  Enhancement to the WHS module contained in the 
DevelopmentWA online learning platform with a specific 
module for “officers” to be introduced.

•  A Mental Health and Wellbeing Policy to align with 
industry best practice.

COVID-19 Pandemic Response 

Since the declaration of the global pandemic, 
DevelopmentWA continued to apply our Crisis Management 
Plan and hold meetings as required premised on the health 
advice from the Western Australian Government and the 
status of COVID-19 in the community. 

DevelopmentWA’s Crisis Management Plan and checklist were 
updated in early 2022 in preparation for Western Australia’s 
increasing COVID-19 numbers and the borders re-opening. 
These documents continued to focus on the following.

•  Continuity of services, including a focus on the 
continued provision of key services/activities with the 
mandate of ‘business as usual’.

•  Education and awareness to ensure staff were cognisant 
of current hygiene practices (e.g. social distancing), privacy 
and data security (e.g. approvals) and the alignment of 
the organisation with Government guidance issued.

•  Infrastructure / building management, including liaison 
and agreed mitigations with the Building Manager (e.g. 
increased cleaning regimes, access and lift protocols) 
and changes to internal processes (e.g. changes to 
reception and meeting room protocols).

•  Workplace health and safety including identifying and 
addressing the current needs of those personnel who 
continued to work in the office, those who worked 
remotely at home and those who were required to adopt 
a blended model. 

•  Workforce planning and management, including 
adopting a model which sought to ‘keep our shape’ in 
terms of an office presence and respect the travel and 
health/hygiene restrictions from both a corporate and 
project location perspective.

•  Contractor management, including the extension of 
contracts/panels, the inclusion of contractually-relevant 
clauses in agreements and the verification of contractor 
solvency/liquidity.

•  Managing financial impacts including cash flow 
modelling and future scenario analysis.

•  Sufficiency and quality of communications to internal 
and external stakeholders. 

Vaccinations

DevelopmentWA had a duty to comply with public health 
orders and to minimise, as far as reasonably practicable, 
the risks of COVID-19 in the workplace. As a result, and 
after extensive consultation with external and internal 
stakeholders, DevelopmentWA’s COVID-19 Vaccination Policy 
was implemented in December 2021. The policy stipulated 
that all staff were required to: 

•  be vaccinated by the following dates (unless exempt):

 - 31 December 2021 – partially vaccinated (first dose)

 - 31 January 2022 – fully vaccinated (second dose) 

 -  booster shot (third dose) within one month of 
becoming eligible; and

•  provide evidence of vaccination by the nominated date 
or evidence of an approved exemption.

Work Health and Safety (WHS) Management Systems

DevelopmentWA operates within the guidance of AS/NZS 
4801:2001 Occupational Health and Safety Management 
Systems. Our internal WHS management system is 
monitored and audited on a cyclical basis. DevelopmentWA’s 
WHS system provides the foundations for designing, 
implementing, monitoring, reviewing and continually 
improving the safety and health of all of our people and 
business. The overall objective of the management system 
is to instil the appropriate behaviours and processes 
within the organisation to drive consistent and effective 
application of WHS at an organisation, project and 
operational level. 

DevelopmentWA’s WHS Policy and WHS Management Plan 
are aligned with Western Australia’s new WHS laws.

The WHS Management Plan describes the policies and 
processes that are implemented at our Perth head office 
and office sites throughout Western Australia. This Plan is 
intended as a practical document for reference by Board, 
management, employees and contractors to understand and 
achieve DevelopmentWA’s WHS objectives. 
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This Plan was developed in reference to the following 
Legislations, Standards, Acts and Regulations: 

•  Work Health and Safety Act 2020 (WA);

•  Work Health and Safety Regulations 2021 (WA);

•  AS/NZ 4801:2001 – Safety Management System 
Standard;

•  ISO 45001:2018 – Safety Management System Standard; 
and

•  other relevant legislation, Codes of Practice and industry 
standards.

In 2021-22, a legal review and gap analysis of the WHS 
Management system deployed by DevelopmentWA in 
preparation for the new safety legislation was undertaken. 
At the same time, internal auditors conducted an audit on 
Contractor Safety Management. All recommendations from 
both reviews are being actioned. 

Worksafe Accreditation 

In accordance with the Public Sector Commissioner’s 
Circular 2018−03 Code of Practice: Occupational Safety 
and Health in the Western Australian Public Sector, Chief 
Executive Officers in the Western Australian public sector 
are required to ensure that an assessment of their agency’s 
occupational safety and health management system 
has been completed within the past five years, using a 
recognised assessment tool, such as the WorkSafe Plan.

DevelopmentWA currently holds Platinum WorkSafe Plan 
Accreditation, which is the highest an organisation can 
achieve. Our current certification was received in July 2021 
with recertification due in July 2023.

WHS Training 

A compulsory online WHS training module is completed 
every two years by all staff. In 2021-22, 100 per cent of 
staff met this requirement and all new staff members 
and contractors received a face-to-face WHS 
orientation session. 

In addition, all project-related staff are trained and issued 
with a Construction Induction Card (White Card). This course 
is mandatory for anyone who works on a construction site 
in Australia. WHS training in specific areas such as 4WD 
training, Performance Driver Training, First Aid training and 
Mental Health First Aid training is available to staff subject 
to Manager approval and/or job requirements.

WHS Committee

DevelopmentWA’s WHS committee meets quarterly to discuss 
health, safety and wellbeing issues providing a systematic 
and proactive way to address issues and discuss WHS 
matters. It consists of representatives from all divisions, 
as well as Managers and a General Manager. Seven per cent 
of DevelopmentWA’s total workforce is represented on the 
WHS Committee. Committee members commit to a 12-month 
minimum tenure before nominating a new member.

Statement of Compliance to Injury Management

A commitment is in place to provide injury management 
support to all workers who sustain a work-related injury or 
illness, with a focus on safe and early returns to meaningful 
work and in accordance with the Worker’s Compensation and 
Injury Management Act 1981.

WHS Performance 

The table below outlines our performance against key WHS measures for DevelopmentWA’s employees.

TARGET 2021-22 2020-21 2019-20 2018-19 2017-18

Number of fatalities 0 0 0 0 0 0

Lost time injury and/or disease incidence rate 2 0.4 2.2 0 0 0

Lost time injury and/or disease severity rate 2 2.2 2.5 0 0 0

Percentage of injured workers returned to work: 
(i) within 13 weeks 
(ii) within 26 weeks

0% 
0%

100% 
100%

100% 
100%

0% 
0%

0% 
0%

0% 
0%

Note: Minor first-aid injuries have not been included in the injury rates.
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6.2 DIRECTORS’ REPORT
The Board of Directors presents its report for the financial year ended 30 June 2022.
Directors

Persons who held the office of Director during the course of the year were as follows:

DATE FIRST APPOINTED

Director WALA Board MRA Board Appointment Term

Darren Cooper (Chairperson) 1 September 2021 1 September 2021 30 September 2023

Rebecca Field (Deputy Chairperson) 1 January 2018 1 January 2018 31 December 2023

Jane Bennett 1 January 2018 1 January 2018 31 December 2022

Dale Page 1 January 2018 1 January 2018 30 June 2023

Simon Reed 16 October 2019 1 January 2019 30 September 2024

Reg Gillard 1 September 2021 1 September 2021 30 September 2023

Jo Gaines 1 March 2022 1 March 2022 28 February 2025

George McCullagh (Chairperson) 28 September 2010 1 January 2018 31 August 2021

Alan Carpenter 30 September 2020 30 September 2020 28 February 2022

Simon Read 27 April 2010 1 January 2018 31 August 2021

Committees

Audit and Risk Management Committee Reg Gillard (Chair), Rebecca Field and Simon Reed.

Governance and Remuneration Committee Rebecca Field (Chair) and Simon Reed.

Statutory Planning Committee Dale Page (Chair), Rebecca Field and Jo Gaines.

Current Directors:

Darren Cooper was appointed as Chairperson 
to the Western Australian Land Authority and 
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority Boards 
on 1 September 2021. Darren is currently 
Managing Director of his own consulting business 
and holds a number of Board and strategic 
advisory positions across property, training 
and labour hire, technology and e-commerce 
organisations. He is a Past President and Life 
Member of the Urban Development Institute of 
Australia (UDIA) in Western Australia and a Past 
President of UDIA National. Darren is a graduate 
of the Australian Institute of Company Directors 
and has a Bachelor of Business and Masters of 
Applied Finance.

Rebecca Field was appointed to the Western 
Australian Land Authority and Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority Boards on 1 January 
2018 and was appointed Deputy Chairperson of 
DevelopmentWA on 16 October 2019. Rebecca 
is the Chairperson of the Governance and 
Remuneration Committee and a member of 
the Audit and Risk Management Committee 
and Statutory Planning Committee. She is 
also a partner at Corrs Chambers Westgarth. 
Rebecca advises clients on the legal, strategic 
and risk management issues associated with 
property development and redevelopment 
projects and the sale, acquisition and leasing 
of large commercial, retail, industrial, pastoral, 
agricultural and tourism assets. Rebecca also 
has many years’ experience in property and 
development finance, and is a graduate of the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors.
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Jane Bennett was appointed to the Western 
Australian Land Authority and Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority Boards on 1 January 
2018. Jane is Chairperson of the Central Perth, 
Midland and Scarborough Land Redevelopment 
Committees and member of the Armadale and 
Subiaco Land Redevelopment Committees. With 
extensive experience as a practising town planner in 
local government and private practice, she has been 
instrumental in the planning and delivery of major 
residential, commercial and industrial projects in 
Western Australia, as well as major government and 
institutional projects. Jane is a strong advocate for, 
and actively involved in, the planning reform agenda. 
She holds a Bachelor of Arts in Urban and Regional 
Planning, a Masters in Business Administration and 
is a graduate of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors. Jane was made a Fellow of the Planning 
Institute of Australia in 2015 for her contribution 
to planning. Jane is an owner and Director at CLE 
Town Planning and Design and is a member of the 
Western Australian Planning Commission. Jane is 
an UDIA WA Councillor and Chair of the Liveability 
Strategic Committee.

Dale Page was appointed to the Western 
Australian Land Authority and Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority Boards on 1 January 
2018 and is Chairperson of the Statutory Planning 
Committee. Dale is Chairperson of the Armadale 
and Subiaco Land Redevelopment Committees 
and a member of the Midland and Scarborough 
Land Redevelopment Committees. As General 
manager Planning and Economic Development 
at the City of Perth, Dale is responsible for 
Statutory and Strategic Urban Planning, Building 
Approvals, Planning and Building Compliance, 
City Future, Urban Design and Transport, and 
Economic Development. Dale has considerable 
experience in delivering land development projects 
throughout Western Australia, previously working 
in senior roles at the East Perth and Subiaco 
Redevelopment Authorities and LandCorp.

Simon Reed was appointed to the Western 
Australian Land Authority Board on 16 October 
2019 and Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority 
Board on 1 January 2020. Simon is a member 
of Audit and Risk Management Committee and 
the Governance and Remuneration Committee. 
Simon is also head of the Perth Corporate 
Group for law firm Herbert Smith Freehills. 

Simon has over 20 years of experience as a 
corporate lawyer, advising both listed and private 
companies as well as government and statutory 
bodies. Simon specialises in governance 
matters, mergers and acquisitions, capital 
markets and corporate re-constructions. He has 
acted for clients in a range of sectors including 
mining, energy, financial services, manufacturing 
and property. Simon has strong relationships 
with key stakeholders in the Australian corporate 
regulatory landscape.

Simon holds a Bachelor of Laws with honours 
and a Bachelor of Economics. Simon also holds 
a Graduate Diploma of Applied Finance and 
Investment (corporate finance major) from 
FINSIA. He was previously a board member for 
WA Music.

Reg Gillard was appointed to the Western 
Australian Land Authority and Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority Boards on 1 
September 2021. Reg is Chair of the Audit 
and Risk Management Committee. He has 
extensive experience in accounting, corporate 
management and governance. Reg has assisted 
around 30 ASX-listed companies through 
executive and non-executive director and chair 
roles and is now in semi-retirement.

Jo Gaines was appointed to the Western 
Australian Land Authority and Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority Board on 1 March 
2022 and is a member of the Statutory 
Planning Committee and the Central Perth 
Land Redevelopment Committee. Jo is an 
experienced organisational leader and strategic 
policy director operating at the highest level 
of government in Australia and was the Deputy 
Chief of Staff to Mark McGowan, the Premier of 
Western Australia and Leader of the Opposition. 
Jo has led significant policy development in a 
diverse range of fields including job creation, 
economic diversification, energy, training, 
child protection, health, contracting and 
procurement, and climate change. She has 
extensive experience in stakeholder relations 
and negotiations.

Jo is the Chair of GESB and Executive Director 
of Gaines Advisory. She is a graduate of the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors and 
holds a Bachelor of Arts and Post Graduate 
Diploma in Occupational Health and Safety.
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Directors whose term ended during the period:

George McCullagh was initially appointed Director 
of the Western Australian Land Authority Board 
in September 2010, George became Deputy 
Chairperson in June 2015 and as of 1 January 2018 
chaired the Western Australian Land Authority 
and Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority 
Boards. George was previously a Partner with 
the international consulting firm Deloitte. He has 
worked as a consultant in independent practice 
providing commercial and advisory services to 
a range of planning, infrastructure, transport 
and redevelopment organisations in Western 
Australia. George is a Member of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors.

Simon Read was appointed to the Western 
Australian Land Authority Board on 27 April 2010 
and as of 1 January 2018 was appointed to the 
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority Board. 
Simon chaired the joint MRA and WALA Audit and 
Risk Management Committee. His hands-on skill 
set has been honed over 25 years of working with 
Australia’s leading corporate recovery specialists. 
He has specialised knowledge in corporate 

reconstruction, turnaround and business 
improvement. Simon currently runs a consulting 
business specialising in the complex area of 
security and the role of the Personal Property 
Securities Act. He has worked across many 
industries with significant experience in forestry, 
mining, engineering, finance and property. 
Simon is a graduate of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors and a Chartered Accountant

Alan Carpenter was appointed to the Board 
on 30 September 2020 and a member of the 
WALA Board’s Governance and Remuneration 
Committee. Alan is a former Premier of Western 
Australia. He also served as State Development 
Minister and held numerous portfolios during 
his time as a member of the West Australian 
Parliament. A senior journalist before entering 
politics, Alan went on to be Wesfarmers’ 
Executive General Manager Corporate Affairs, for 
nine years before retiring in December 2018. Alan 
has also been a board member for HIF (Health 
Insurance Fund of Australia) and is a Member of 
the Australian Institute of Company Directors.

Directors’ Meetings

Details of attendance by Directors at Board meetings and Board Committee meetings is set out below:

DIRECTOR WALA BOARD MRA BOARD
AUDIT AND RISK 
MANAGEMENT 
COMMITTEE

GOVERNANCE AND 
REMUNERATION 
COMMITTEE

STATUTORY 
PLANNING 
COMMITTEE

 

Meetings 
Attended

Eligible to 
Attend1

Meetings 
Attended

Eligible to 
Attend1

Meetings 
Attended

Eligible to 
Attend1

Meetings 
Attended

Eligible to 
Attend1

Meetings 
Attended

Eligible to 
Attend1

Darren Cooper 7 7 7 7 12 22 12

Rebecca Field 9 9 9 9 4 4 4 4 2 2

Jane Bennett 9 9 9 9 12

Dale Page 8 8 8 8 2 2

Simon Reed 9 9 9 9 4 4 4 4

Reg Gillard 7 7 7 7 3 3 22 12

Jo Gaines 3 3 3 3 1 1

George McCullagh 2 2 2 2 12 12

Alan Carpenter 6 6 6 6 22 2 2 1 1

Simon Read 2 2 2 2 1 1

1 Indicates the number of meetings held during the period of each Director’s tenure.
2 Directors may attend committee meetings as an observer where they are not members.
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Land Redevelopment Committees

In 2021-22, the following number of LRC meetings were held:

DIRECTOR ARMADALE  
(5)

CENTRAL PERTH 
(9)

MIDLAND  
(5)

SUBIACO  
(1)

SCARBOROUGH  
(6)

 

Meetings 
Attended

Eligible 
to Attend1

Meetings 
Attended

Eligible 
to Attend1

Meetings 
Attended

Eligible 
to Attend1

Meetings 
Attended

Eligible 
to Attend1

Meetings 
Attended

Eligible 
to Attend1

Dale Page 4 5 3 7 2 5 1 1 1 6

Jane Bennett 0 5 9 9 5 5 0 1 5 6

Karen Hyde 5 5 7 9 5 5 1 1 5 6

Geoffrey London 5 5 8 9 5 5 1 1 6 6

Jo Gaines 2 2

Ruth Butterfield 1 3

John Keogh 1 2

Ms Dianne Bain 5 7

Joshua Topelberg2 0 0

Catherine Lezer 2 2

Susan Gontaszewksi2 0 0

Charlie Zannino 3 3

Dan Bull2 0 0

Margaret Thomas2 0 0

Filomena Piffaretti2 2 2

Dylan O’Connor2 0 0

Bianca Sandri 5 6

Murray Rowe 0 1

Mark Burns 0 0

1 Indicates the number of meetings held during the period of each Director’s tenure.
2 Members have been appointed as alternate members .

Duettes, Middleton Beach, Albany. Artist impression only.
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Principal Activities

DevelopmentWA was launched in September 2019 through 
a merger of the former agencies LandCorp and the 
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority (MRA).

The Western Australian Land Authority (WALA – formerly 
trading as LandCorp), is a publicly-owned State Government 
Trading Enterprise (GTE) established under the Western 
Australian Land Authority Act 1992. The Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority (MRA) was established pursuant 
to the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority Act 2011 
in January 2012 as an amalgamation of four existing 
redevelopment authorities across metropolitan Perth.

As part of the merger, the Government determined 
that WALA would provide activities and services for 
DevelopmentWA, including servicing the MRA functions. 
Both sets of legislation (WALA Act and MRA Act) are 
currently still applicable, and this has required a flexible and 
responsive approach to developing plans for the future to 
set the new entity up for success. 

The WALA Act also requires WALA to provide or promote the 
provision of land, infrastructure, facilities and services for the 
social, economic and environmental needs of the State. The 
provision of project-ready land enables the private sector 
to invest confidently and undertake major investments in 
built form, including industrial, commercial, tourism, and 
residential. The WALA Act objects and functions enables 
DevelopmentWA to work with both Government and private 
sector to give effect to Government policy statewide.

A key requirement of the WALA legislation is to act in 
accordance with commercial principles: which requires 
being cost efficient, endeavouring to achieve or surpass 
financial targets and ensuring that no project undertaken is 
expected to achieve less than the hurdle rate of return. 

The MRA was created with the purpose of delivering 
redevelopment projects of strategic significance in the 
Perth metropolitan area. A key requirement of the MRA 
legislation is to plan, undertake, promote and coordinate 
the development of land in redevelopment areas in the 
metropolitan region. The MRA Act specifies redevelopment 
area objectives, being: to build a sense of place; to promote 
economic wellbeing; to promote urban efficiency; to 
enhance connectivity; to promote social inclusion; and to 
enhance environmental integrity.

Financial Highlights

In line with commercial principles specified in our 
legislation, development work was undertaken against the 
following Framework:

•  to act in accordance with commercial principles;

•  perform functions in a cost-efficient manner;

•  endeavour to surpass long-term financial targets 
specified in our Strategic Development Plan; and

•  ensure that no new project has an expected return below 
that specified within the Strategic Development Plan.

38 DEVELOPMENTWA ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22



OPERATING RESULTS 2021-22 
($M)

2020-21 
($M)

2019-20 
($M)

2018-19 
($M)

2017-18 
($M)

Profit Before Income Tax Equivalents 119.477 12.693 3.532 9.742 9.648

Income Tax Equivalents Expense 34.555 3.883 1.201 2.988 2.874

Net Profit 84.922 8.810 2.331 6.754 6.774

Returns to the State

As specified in section 32 of the Western Australian Land Authority Act 1992, DevelopmentWA pays rates and taxes. The 
following table outlines payments to Government in the last five years in respect of rates, taxes and dividends.

The Western Australian Land Authority Act 1992 specifies determination of the dividend by the Board and Minister. The Board 
of Directors is required to make a dividend recommendation to the responsible Minister as soon as practicable after the 
end of each financial year. The Minister is required to consult with the Treasurer and either accept the recommendation or 
otherwise determine the dividend payable by DevelopmentWA.

The Treasurer determines the date the dividend is paid.

OPERATING RESULTS 2021-22
(M)

2020-21
(M)

2019-20
(M)

2018-19
(M)

2017-18
(M)

2016-17
(M)

Dividends Paid* 23.435 168.666 8.443 37.869 53.779 43.219

Land Tax 45.062 43.908 41.815 40.626 42.969 47.357

Income Tax Expense 34.555 3.883 1.201 2.988 2.874 5.002

Local Government Rate Equivalents 32.892 6.109 7.510 7.780 7.009 8.147

Stamp Duty 35.369 19.008 1.163 0.590 1.336 0.785

Total Returns to Government 171.313 241.574 60.132 89.853 107.967 104.510

*Normal dividend retained in 2021-22 for future infrastructure investment per advice received from Minister for Lands on 27 August 2021. Special 
dividend of 23.435m paid relating to Residential Land Tranche 1 asset adjustments.

Likely Developments and Future Results

We will continue to work with Government, stakeholders and 
customers to deliver the functions set out in the Western 
Australian Land Authority Act 1992.

Expected future trading results, as set out in our 2022-23 
Statement of Corporate Intent are:

($M)

Sales Revenue (GST exclusive) 487.2

Sundry Revenue 393.1

Cost of Land Sold (328.1)

Estate Costs (87.1)

Operating Costs (398.9)

Profit before Interest and Tax 66.2

Net Interest Expense (4.9)

Income Tax Expense (23.8)

Profit after Income Tax 37.5

Payments to Government (through the Consolidated Fund) 
are expected to total around $169.9 million from 2022-23 
operations. This includes tax equivalents, stamp duty on 
land acquisitions and expected dividends.

Remuneration Report

Remuneration arrangements for key personnel refers to non-
executive Directors of the Board and Executives responsible 
for planning, directing and controlling operations.

Policy for determining the nature and amount of 
emoluments for key personnel is designed to attract, 
retain and engage appropriately qualified and experienced 
Directors and Executives. The Governance and 
Remuneration Committee assists the Board by ensuring that 
appropriate and effective policies, plans and practices are in 
place in relation to remuneration arrangements and meets 
regularly to consider relevant matters.
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EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ Emoluments

In accordance with Section 13(c) of Schedule 3A of the Western Australian Land Authority Act 1992, the following table shows the 
nature and amount of each element for each Director.

The remuneration of Directors is determined following independent advice from remuneration consultants and the Public 
Sector Commission and approved by the Minister. Remuneration is in the form of salary and superannuation contributions. 
No further post-employment benefits are paid to Directors.

Director remuneration covers fees for attendance at Board and committee meetings. Directors are not remunerated 
separately for Board and Committee attendance.

DIRECTOR PERIOD OF MEMBERSHIP DURING REPORTING PERIOD FEES  
$

George McCullagh 1 July 2021 to 31 August 2021 20,337

Rebecca Field 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022 72,518

Jane Bennett 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022 53,129

Alan Carpenter 1 July 2021 to 28 February 2022 36,168

Dale Page 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022 53,129

Simon Read 1 July 2021 to 31 August 2021 9,808

Simon Reed 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022 53,129

Darren Cooper 1 September 2021 to 30 June 2022 89,820

Reg Gillard 1 September 2021 to 30 June 2022 43,320

Jo Gaines 1 March 2022 to 30 June 2022 16,960

The MRA Act provides for remuneration to be paid to 
members of the Board, as determined by the Minister on 
recommendation from the Public Sector Commissioner. 
Since 1 July 2020 the payments of fees for MRA Board 
members and Board members who are members of an LRC 
was suspended reflecting the efficiencies gained from 
administrative reform of the merger with the Western 
Australian Land Authority.

Superannuation, at the required amount (10 per cent), is paid 
on fees as is required under the Superannuation Guarantee 
Administration Act 1992.

DIRECTOR SUPERANNUATION 
$

George McCullagh 2,034

Rebecca Field 7,252

Jane Bennett 5,313

Alan Carpenter 3,617

Dale Page 5,313

Simon Read 981

Simon Reed 5,313

Darren Cooper 8,982

Reg Gillard 4,332

Jo Gaines 1,696
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Directors’ Benefits

Other than those disclosures reported in Section 5 (WALA 
Note 20 Related Party Disclosures), no Directors have 
received benefits, or are entitled to receive any benefit 
(other than included in the total amount of emoluments 
received or due and receivable by Directors) by way of a 
contract made by DevelopmentWA with the Director, a firm 
of which the Director is a member, or with an entity in which 
the Director has a substantial interest.

Land Redevelopment Committees

In 2021-22, remuneration to LRC members was as follows: 

POSITION COMMITTEE MEMBER TYPE OF 
REMUNERATION

PERIOD OF 
MEMBERSHIP

ACTUAL 
REMUNERATION 
($)*

All LRCs

Deputy Chairperson Ms Karen Hyde Sessional 12 months 9300

LRC Member Prof. Geoffrey London Sessional 12 months 9990

Armadale LRC

LRC Member Cr Ruth Butterfield Sessional 6 months 1080

LRC Member Mr John Keogh Sessional 6 months 270

Central Perth LRC

LRC Member Ms Dianne Bain Sessional 6 months 2160

Alternate LRC Member Mr Joshua Topelberg Sessional 6 months -

LRC Member Ms Catherine Lezer Sessional 6 months 540

Alternate LRC Member Ms Susan Gontaszewksi Sessional 6 months -

Midland LRC

LRC Member Cr Charlie Zannino Sessional 12 months 1350

Alternate LRC Member Mr Dan Bull Sessional 6 months 810

Alternate LRC Member Ms Margaret Thomas Sessional 6 months 270

Alternate LRC Member Ms Filomena Piffaretti Sessional 6 months 810

Alternate LRC Member Mr Dylan O’Connor Sessional 6 months  -

Scarborough LRC

LRC Member Cr Bianca Sandri Sessional 12 months 2700

Subiaco LRC

LRC Member Mr Murray Rowe Sessional 6 months 540

LRC Member Mr Mark Burns Sessional 6 months -

*Represents remuneration paid during 2021-22 and may include fees for meetings that occured in the previous financial year.
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Yagan Square, Perth
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Executive Emoluments

The Chief Executive and Executives receive a salary and 
superannuation contributions in line with Government 
entitlements. Where eligible, the private use component 
of a vehicle is provided. Decisions are made within the 
context of organisational and individual performance, and 
are consistent with equivalent bodies, industry benchmarks, 
existing government policy and the industrial relations 
system. 

A total fixed remuneration (TFR) approach applies with 
flexible remuneration packaging arrangements, in line 
with industry best practice. This means that, although 
the components of the TFR or package may vary between 
remuneration reviews, the total amount remains constant. 

Superannuation is paid according to legislation and 
contractual arrangements, and availability of other benefits 
(e.g. vehicles) is subject to organisational policy and 
eligibility requirements.

Staff remuneration is reviewed annually. The Board is 
responsible for the remuneration of the Chief Executive 
which is also reviewed annually (in line with the Minister-
approved contract of employment). The Chief Executive, in 
line with the policy set by the Governance and Remuneration 
Committee and the Board, sets Executive remuneration 
based on annual salary survey data and advice from 
independent remuneration consultants as well as a range 
of other factors including performance and the public 
sector context.

Employees in management roles, including Executives, are 
employed on individual, market-based contracts. No short 
or long-term incentives, loans, grant options, rights or 
shares are provided to key management personnel. 

Performance of the Chief Executive and Executives is 
monitored against agreed performance criteria.

In accordance with Section 13(c) of Schedule 3A of the 
Western Australian Land Authority Act 1992, the details of 
emoluments provided to the five named officers receiving 
the highest emoluments are provided for the financial year 
by element of remuneration:

Salary element 

EXECUTIVES SALARY PAID 
$

Frank Marra 518,792

Dean Mudford 404,175

Fiona Barclay 331,509

John Hackett 327,411

Kerry Fijac* 288,810

*Comprising entitlement payment (including accumulative leave) 
upon retirement.
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Darren Cooper

Board Chairperson 
21 September 2022

Reginald Gillard

Director 
21 September 2022

Superannuation Element

Executives are paid superannuation in accordance with the 
Superannuation Guarantee Administration Act 1992 and the 
State Superannuation Act 2000. Currently the prescribed 
level under the Superannuation Guarantee Administration 
Act 1992 is 10 per cent of salary. Two Executives (Frank 
Marra and Kerry Fijac) were members of the Gold State fund 
administered by GESB for part of the year and received 
approximately 15 per cent of their salary in contributions to 
superannuation during the relevant period. Gold State Super 
is a defined benefit super scheme open to WA public sector 
employees until 1995.

EXECUTIVES SUPER PAID 
$

Frank Marra 78,734

Dean Mudford 40,418

Fiona Barclay 33,151

John Hackett 32,741

Kerry Fijac 41,723

Other benefits (motor vehicle) element

Other benefits cover the private use component of a vehicle, 
for those eligible. The value of the car to the remuneration 
package is based on the private use component of the 
lease and operating costs plus Fringe Benefits Tax (FBT). 
All DevelopmentWA vehicles attract a contribution from the 
employee to reduce FBT. 

EXECUTIVES VEHICLE BENEFIT 
$

Frank Marra 20,249

Dean Mudford 13,642

Fiona Barclay 12,538

John Hackett 6,510

Kerry Fijac 9,080

Indemnification and Insurance of Directors and Officers

During the reporting period, Directors’ and Officers’ liability 
insurance was maintained to ensure Directors and Officers 
are adequately covered. 

The policy indemnifies Directors and Officers from loss 
which he/she becomes legally obligated to pay on account 
of any claim first made against him/her during the policy 
period for an insured act committed before or during the 
policy period.

The Authority has entered into deeds of indemnity with 
each Director and Officer to indemnify them in relation to 
certain liabilities incurred whilst a Director or Officer of the 
Authority.

At the date of this report, no claims have been made against 
the Directors’ and Officers’ insurance policy.

Rounding of Amounts

Amounts are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars in the 
Directors’ Report and financial statements, unless otherwise 
shown or indicated. 

This Report is made in accordance with a resolution of the 
Board.
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7.0

MRA KEY 
PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS
7.1 CERTIFICATION OF KEY
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
We hereby certify that the Key Performance Indicators are based on proper 
records, are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the 
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority’s performance, and fairly represent the 
performance of the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2022.

Darren Cooper

Board Chairperson 
21 September 2022

Reginald Gillard

Audit and Risk Management 
Committee Chairperson 
21 September 2022

Elizabeth Quay, Perth
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7.2 KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
The Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority (MRA) Agency Level Desired Outcome is:

‘To deliver vibrant, attractive and active Redevelopment Areas by building 
a Sense of Place, enhancing Connectivity and Environmental Integrity, and 
promoting Economic Wellbeing, Urban Efficiency, and Social Inclusion through 
providing for the planning and redevelopment of those areas.’ 

This outcome is guided by the MRA Redevelopment Area 
Objectives as prescribed in the Metropolitan Redevelopment 
Authority Regulations 2011. Regulation 14 Redevelopment 
Area Objectives s.30(5)(c) states:

The objectives of each Redevelopment Area are as follows, to: 

•  build a sense of place by supporting high quality urban 
design, heritage protection, public art and cultural 
activities that respond to Perth’s environment, climate 
and lifestyle;

•  promote economic wellbeing by supporting, where 
appropriate, development that facilitates investment 
and provides opportunity for local businesses and 
emerging industries to satisfy market demand;

•  promote urban efficiency through infrastructure and 
buildings, the mix of land use and facilitating a critical 
mass of population and employment;

•  enhance connectivity and reduce the need to travel by 
supporting development aimed at well designed places 
that support walking, cycling and public transit;

•  promote social inclusion by encouraging, where 
appropriate, a diverse range of housing and by 
supporting community infrastructure and activities and 
opportunities for visitors and residents to socialise; and

•  enhance environmental integrity by encouraging 
ecologically sustainable design, resource efficiency, 
recycling, renewable energy and protection of the 
local ecology.

The Redevelopment Area Objectives define the outcomes 
that the MRA intends to deliver within its Redevelopment 
Areas. These Redevelopment Area Objectives apply to all of 
the MRA’s Project Areas within its Redevelopment Areas. 

A single set of Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) is in 
place to measure the delivery of these Objectives. Each 
Redevelopment Area Objective is represented by a KPI that 
best reflects the individual Objective, and each KPI attempts 
to provide a useful measurement at any stage of the project 
cycle.

Yagan Square, Perth
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7.3 AGENCY DESIRED OUTCOME
Agency Desired Outcome

To deliver vibrant, attractive and active Redevelopment Areas by building a sense of place, enhancing connectivity and 
environmental integrity, and promoting economic wellbeing, urban efficiency and social inclusion through providing for the 
planning and redevelopment of those areas.

REDEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVES KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Sense of Place

To build a sense of place by supporting high quality urban design, 
heritage protection, public art, and cultural activities that respond 
to Perth’s environment, climate and lifestyle.

User Satisfaction

The concept of Sense of Place is best experienced and enunciated 
by the users of the Redevelopment Area. In order to measure 
sense of place, it is acknowledged that each Redevelopment 
Area, project and its associated precinct are at different stages of 
development and in turn, may not be suitable for surveying. User 
satisfaction will measure the level of satisfaction of the users of 
the Redevelopment Areas.

Economic Wellbeing

To promote economic wellbeing by supporting, where 
appropriate, development that facilitates investment and provides 
opportunities for local businesses and emerging industries to 
satisfy market demand.

Investment Generated

The MRA invests money into Redevelopment Areas to stimulate 
the investment by other parties into the area. The proportion of 
investment made by private industry and/or non-MRA government 
bodies into the Redevelopment Area is an indicative measure of the 
economic activity that has been produced from the MRA investment.

Urban Efficiency

To promote urban efficiency through infrastructure and buildings, 
the mix of land use and facilitating a critical mass of population 
and employment.

Land Use Volume & Mix

A critical mass of population is best measured through the capacity 
of buildings produced through the Redevelopment. These measures 
must include the mix of land use – residential, commercial, retail and 
industrial that might be included in MRA Redevelopment Areas.

Social Inclusion

To promote social inclusion for various people in the 
redevelopment area by requiring diverse and affordable housing 
and supporting community infrastructure, activities and 
opportunities for visitors and residents to socialise.

Housing Stock Diversity 

Redevelopment Areas require a mixture of housing sizes to ensure 
the needs of the demographic mix of an area are catered for and 
to ensure consistency of measurements. Housing Stock Diversity 
will be based on the number of bedrooms in a dwelling. This will 
represent a range of size of dwellings. The diversity of the housing 
stock delivered by the MRA in the Redevelopment Area is the most 
accurate measure to gauge social inclusion.

Connectivity

To enhance connectivity by supporting development aimed at well-
designed places that support walking, cycling and public transit.

Public Transit Access

Access of residents, workers and visitors to public transport 
options is an important gauge of connectivity within the 
redevelopment area.

Environmental Integrity

To enhance environmental integrity by encouraging ecologically 
sustainable design, resource efficiency, recycling, renewable 
energy and protection of the local ecology.

Green Star Rating

The Green Star Rating system provides a measure of the 
environmental integrity and efficiency of the built form developed 
with the redevelopment area. This measure will demonstrate the 
environmental integrity and efficiency of commercial buildings.

SERVICES

Delivery of Major Projects 
Key Efficiency Indicator - Overheads to Inventory and Profit

The MRA exists to acquire land, develop land and sell land. The costs 
it incurs to deliver these services speaks to the efficiency of the 
organisation. The inventory of land assets held and the gross profit 
achieved through sales are two of the main metrics applicable to 
the MRA so a ratio of these metrics relative to the net operational 
overheads will track the efficiency of the Authority over time.

Statutory Planning Control 
Key Efficiency Indicator - Statutory Planning Determination 
Timeframes

Determining statutory applications is one of the most important 
and visible services the MRA provides to external parties who wish 
to develop in the Redevelopment Area. The efficiency of these 
services is tied directly to critical services delivery and has the 
ability to impact the MRA’s reputation.
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7.4 ARMADALE REDEVELOPMENT AREA1 
KEY 
PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

2012/13 
BASELINE

2019/20  
ACTUAL 
SCORE

2020/21 
ACTUAL 
SCORE

2021/22 
TARGET 
SCORE

2021/22 
ACTUAL 
SCORE

ANALYSIS

User Satisfaction

User Satisfaction 
against:

•  Project area quality
•  Project area 

amenity
•  Project area vitality

80% Not 
applicable

Not 
applicable

70% 70% A survey is conducted at the 
initiation of each project to establish 
a baseline then once the project 
is normalised or every five years, 
whichever is the earlier. A user 
satisfaction survey was conducted 
in 2021/22. This is comprised of 21% 
being ‘extremely satisfied’ and 49% 
being ‘very satisfied’.  

Investment 
Generated

$ value of non-
MRA investment 
compared to MRA 
investment.

51:1 $49,419,598 
: 

$1,546,079 
(31.96:1)

$97,852,058 
: 

$1,643,495 
(59.54:1)

$196,225,905 
: 

$23,044,000 
(8.52:1)

$140,668,213 
:  

$29,088,986 
(4.84:1)

Non-MRA investment targets are 
estimated based on predictions 
of incoming development 
applications, as such performance 
against the investment generated 
KPI is significantly impacted by 
market performance.  
Predicted Development Application 
forecasts were not met in 2021/22. 
While the targeted warehouse 
approvals exceeded expectations, 
the predicted number of dwellings 
was not met, both can be attributed 
to private market fluctuations. The 
residential outcome is considered 
reflective of a slow down of lot 
releases following the COVID stimulus 
timeframe in FY 2020/21 and a 
more cautious approach to housing 
delivery due to market pressures.

Land Use Volume 
and Mix

Number of approved 
Development 
Application 
residential units2 

Square metres 
of approved 
commercial, retail 
and industrial space

83 Units

 
 
 
 

75,366m2

214 Units 
 
 
 
 

11,062m2

558 Units 
 
 
 
 

41,089m2

423 Units 
 
 
 
 

41,987 m2

307 Units 
 
 
 
 

52,014m2

Housing Stock 
Diversity

Percentage of 
approved diverse 
residential dwellings 
according to number 
of bedrooms (1, 2 and 
3 bedroom) (minimum 
percentage)

1 0% 
2 0%  

3+ 100%

1 0% 
2 0% 

3+ 100%

1 10% 
2 9% 

3+ 81%

1 0% 
2 4% 

3+ 96%

1 0% 
2 3% 

3+ 97%

The approved dwelling mix was 
closely aligned with the target, 
and reflective of the market 
demand for 3+ bedroom housing 
in Armadale. A grouped dwelling 
development approval, comprising 
seven two-bedroom dwellings in the 
Wungong Urban Water Project Area, 
contributed positively to the dwelling 
diversity within the precinct.

Public Transit 
Access

Number of approved 
dwellings within 
walkable catchment 
of public transport 
nodes/stops.

17% 25  
dwellings 

(11.7%)

205 
dwellings 

(36.7%)

120  
dwellings 

(28%)

54  
dwellings 

(18%)

The number of dwellings in proximity 
to public transport was less than 
forecast due to the lower number of 
dwellings approved during the period.

Green Star Rating

Number of (4-6) 
Green Star rated (or 
equivalent) buildings.

4 Star: 0 
5 Star: 0 
6 Star: 0

4 Star: 6 
5 Star: 0 
6 Star: 0

4 Star: 14 
5 Star: 0 
6 Star: 0

4 Star: 15 
5 Star: 0 
6 Star: 0

4 Star: 31 
5 Star: 0 
6 Star: 0

The targeted number of Development 
Applications exceeded the 
original forecast. The increase is 
attributed to the higher number of 
warehouse approvals. 

1 The Armadale Redevelopment Area comprises the Armadale and Wungong Urban Project Areas.
2 Includes serviced apartments.

48 DEVELOPMENTWA ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22



7.5 CENTRAL PERTH REDEVELOPMENT AREA3

KEY 
PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

2012/13 
BASELINE

2019/20  
ACTUAL 
SCORE

2020/21 
ACTUAL 
SCORE

2021/22 
TARGET 
SCORE

2021/22 
ACTUAL 
SCORE

ANALYSIS

User Satisfaction

User Satisfaction 
against:

•  Project area quality
•  Project area 

amenity
•  Project area vitality

90% Not 
applicable

Not 
applicable

70% 62% A survey is conducted at the initiation of 
each project to establish a baseline then 
once the project is normalised or every 
five years. A user satisfaction survey 
was conducted in 2021/22. Overall, 
62% are highly satisfied with the Perth 
Redevelopment Area. This is comprised 
of 21% being ‘extremely satisfied’ and 
41% being ‘very satisfied’. A further 28% 
are ‘moderately satisfied’. Factors that 
contribute to the lower score include the 
spread of interviews across the Area, 
more interviews were conducted in the 
James Street Precinct and fewer in the 
Plaza/Yagan Square and Elizabeth Quay 
Precincts. The precincts also differ in 
terms of their levels of completion. This 
study was conducted in a post-COVID-19 
environment where views on safety and 
comfort are influenced by experiences 
of the pandemic. The question scale 
has also changed from an (indirect) 
agreement scale to a more accurate and 
direct construct-specific response scale

Investment 
Generated

$ value of non-
MRA investment 
compared to MRA 
investment.

1.7 : 1 $71,000,000 
: 

$ 13,895,422 
(5.11:1)

$367,000,000  
: 

$13,255,111 
(27.69:1)

$2,133,818,643 
:  

$0 
(No CapEx MRA 

investment)

$1,884,739,050 
: 

$3,573,960 
(527.35:1)

Non-MRA investment targets are 
estimated based on predictions of 
incoming development applications, 
as such performance against the 
investment generated KPI is significantly 
impacted by market performance. MRA 
expenditure is largely attributed to works 
at Yagan Square. The number of approved 
residential units in the area in 2021/22 
exceed what was forecast however 
non-residential floorspace fell short of 
the targeted amount. Estimates were 
based on preliminary concepts plans 
for development proposals at Elizabeth 
Quay, Perth City Link and Riverside which 
were subject to adjustment during the 
development approval process. Notably, 
the land use mix at Claisebrook Village 
proposed more dwellings but less non-
residential floor space than concept plans 
used for the predictions. No development 
application was received for East Perth 
Power Station due to project delays.

Land Use Volume 
and Mix

Number of approved 
Development 
Application 
residential units4 

Square metres 
of approved 
commercial, retail 
and industrial space

41 Units 
 
 
 
 

36,808m2

83 Units 
 
 
 
 

523m2

237 Units 
 
 
 
 

54,704m2

1,061 Unit 
 
 
 
 

288,790m2

1,073 Units 
 
 
 
 

260,228m2

Housing Stock 
Diversity

Percentage of 
approved diverse 
residential dwellings 
according to number 
of bedrooms (1, 2 and 
3 bedroom) (minimum 
percentage)

1 14.6% 
2 48.8% 

3+ 36.6%

1 4% 
2 65% 
3+ 31%

1 15% 
2 30% 

3+ 55%

1 20% 
2 No Target  

3+  0%

1 42% 
2 41% 

3+ 17%

All approved residential developments 
achieved the minimum housing 
diversity targets of Development 
Policy 9 – Affordable and Diverse 
Housing. Development Policy 9 
specifies percentage targets for 1 
bedroom and 3+ bedroom dwellings 
but no target for 2 bedroom dwellings.
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KEY 
PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

2012/13 
BASELINE

2019/20  
ACTUAL 
SCORE

2020/21 
ACTUAL 
SCORE

2021/22 
TARGET 
SCORE

2021/22 
ACTUAL 
SCORE

ANALYSIS

Public Transit 
Access

Number of approved 
dwellings within 
walkable catchment 
of public transport 
nodes/stops.

100% 
dwellings

83  
dwellings 

(100%)

237 
dwellings 

(100%)

1,061 
dwellings 

(100%)

1,073 
dwellings 

(100%)

All approved developments are within 
a walkable catchment.

Green Star Rating

Number of (4-6) 
Green star rated (or 
equivalent) buildings.

4 Star: 4 
5 Star: 2 
6 Star: 0

4 Star: 0 
5 Star: 1 
6 Star: 0

4 Star: 0 
5 Star: 1 
6 Star: 0

4 Star: 2 
5 Star: 6 
6 Star: 0

4 Star: 1 
5 Star: 6 
6 Star: 0

All approved developments committed 
to achieving the minimum Green 
Star rating required by Development 
Policy 1 – Green Buildings. One 4-Star 
approval was not achieved due to the 
East Perth Power Station development 
application not being lodged.

3  The Central Perth Redevelopment Area comprises the Elizabeth Quay, Perth City Link, Riverside, Perth Cultural Centre, New Northbridge, Claisebrook 
Village and East Perth Power Station Project Areas.

4 Includes hotel rooms.
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7.6 MIDLAND REDEVELOPMENT AREA5 
KEY 
PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

2012/13 
BASELINE

2019/20  
ACTUAL 
SCORE

2020/21 
ACTUAL 
SCORE

2021/22 
TARGET 
SCORE

2021/22 
ACTUAL 
SCORE

ANALYSIS

User Satisfaction

User Satisfaction 
against:

•  Project area quality
•  Project area 

amenity
•  Project area vitality

76% Not 
applicable

Not 
applicable

70% 51% A survey is conducted at the initiation 
of each project to establish a baseline 
then once the project is normalised 
or every five years, whichever is the 
earlier. A user satisfaction survey 
was conducted in 2021/22. Overall, 
just over half (52%) of the Midland 
Redevelopment Area visitors are 
highly satisfied with the location. This 
is comprised of 10% being ‘extremely 
satisfied’ and 41% being ‘very satisfied’ 
with the area. A further 37% said they 
are ‘moderately satisfied.

Investment 
Generated

$ value of non-
MRA investment 
compared to MRA 
investment.

4.6:1 $0.00 
: 

$531,362 
(0:1)

$150,000 
: 

$1,119,472 
(0.13:1)

$99,143,485 
: 

$0 
(No CapEx MRA 

investment)

$185,259,530 
: 

$465,694 
(397.81:1)

Non-MRA investment targets are 
estimated based on predictions 
of incoming development 
applications, as such performance 
against the investment generated 
KPI is significantly impacted by 
market performance.  
Development Applications predicted 
for the 2021/22 financial year for the 
Midland Project Area were not received 
due to market conditions delaying 
further applications and forecast 
lots not being released to the market 
as a result, negatively impacting 
both the land use volume and mix. 
Private development was reduced 
due to market conditions delaying 
applications. Investment generated 
however exceeded the original 
forecast, this was due to Stage 2 Public 
Transport Authority (PTA) Rail Depot 
which had a higher spend than had 
been originally forecast.

Land Use Volume 
and Mix

Number of approved 
Development 
Application 
residential units6 

Square metres 
of approved 
commercial, retail 
and industrial space

15 Units

 
 
 
 

8,485m2

0 Units

 
 
 
 

0m2

0 Units

 
 
 
 

289m2

47 Units

 
 
 
 

31,276m2

6 Units

 
 
 
 

24,854m2

Housing Stock 
Diversity

Percentage of 
approved diverse 
residential dwellings 
according to number 
of bedrooms (1, 2 and 
3 bedroom) (minimum 
percentage)

1 53.3% 
2  40% 

3+  6.7%

Nil Nil 1 20% 

2 No Target 
3+ 10%

1 0% 
2 0% 

3+ 100%

The Housing Stock Diversity, Public 
Transit Access and Green Star 
Rating targets were not met as the 
forecasted residential development 
applications in Midland were not 
received in 2021/22 as per rationale 
noted above.

All approved developments that 
were received are within a walkable 
catchment.Public Transit 

Access

Number of approved 
dwellings within 
walkable catchment 
of public transport 
nodes/stops.

100% Nil Nil 47 
dwellings 

(100%)

6 
dwellings 

(100%)

Green Star Rating

Number of (4-6) 
Green star rated (or 
equivalent) buildings.

4 Star: 1 
5 Star: 0 
6 Star: 0

 4 Star: 0 
5 Star: 0 
6 Star: 0

4 Star: 0 
5 Star: 0 
6 Star: 0

4 Star: 6 
5 Star: 0 
6 Star: 0

4 Star: 4 
5 Star: 0 
6 Star: 0

5 The Midland Redevelopment Area comprises the Midland Project Area.
6 Includes serviced apartments.
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7.7 SCARBOROUGH REDEVELOPMENT AREA7 
KEY 
PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

2015/16 
BASELINE

2019/20  
ACTUAL 
SCORE

2020/21 
ACTUAL 
SCORE

2021/22 
TARGET 
SCORE

2021/22 
ACTUAL 
SCORE

ANALYSIS

User Satisfaction

User Satisfaction 
against:

•  Project area quality
•  Project area 

amenity
•  Project area vitality

81% Not 
applicable

Not 
applicable

70% 89% A survey is conducted at the initiation 
of each project to establish a baseline 
then once the project is normalised 
or every five years, whichever is the 
earlier. A user satisfaction survey was 
conducted in 2021/22. Satisfaction 
with the Scarborough Redevelopment 
Area is high, with 89% of those 
surveyed in the area saying they are 
either ‘extremely satisfied’ (45%) or 
‘very satisfied’ (44%) with the area. A 
further 10% said they are ‘moderately 
satisfied’ with the area. 

Investment 
Generated

$ value of non-
MRA investment 
compared to MRA 
investment.

$89,825,135 
: 

$3,562,897 
(25.2:1)

$4,409,065 
: 

$144,294 
(30.56:1)

$152,500,000 
: 

$9,970 
(15,295.88: 1)

$235,345,615  
:  

$0 
(No CapEx MRA 

investment)

$249,000,000 
: 

$442 
(652,737.30:1)

Non-MRA investment targets are 
estimated based on predictions of 
incoming development applications, 
as such performance against the 
investment generated KPI is significantly 
impacted by market performance.  
State investment in the Scarborough 
project area is almost complete, 
investment in Scarborough is now 
predominantly private.  Predicted 
Development Application forecasts 
were exceeded in 2021/22. While 
one application for West Coast 
Highway was not received, another 
two were received and approved with 
302 dwellings and over 11,000 sqm 
significantly increasing the outcome 
for the year.

Land Use Volume 
and Mix

Number of approved 
Development 
Application 
residential units8 

Square metres 
of approved 
commercial, retail 
and industrial space

236 Units

 
 
 

 
2,496m2

18 Units

 
 
 

 
0m2

214 Units

 
 
 

 
11,480m2

341 Units

 
 
 

 
838m2

558 Units

 
 
 

 
12,376m2

Housing Stock 
Diversity

Percentage of 
approved diverse 
residential dwellings 
according to number 
of bedrooms (1, 2 and 
3 bedroom) (minimum 
percentage)

1 38% 
2 54% 
3+ 8%

1 16% 
2 67% 
3+ 17%

1 47% 
2 38% 
3+ 15%

1 20% 
2 No Target 

3+ 10%

1 37% 
2 45% 
3+ 18%

All approved residential developments 
achieved the minimum housing 
diversity targets in Development 
Policy 9, Affordable and Diverse 
Housing. Development Policy 9 
specifies percentage targets for 1 
bedroom and 3+ bedroom dwellings 
but no target for 2 bedroom dwellings.

Public Transit 
Access

Number of approved 
dwellings within 
walkable catchment 
of public transport 
nodes/stops.

236 
dwellings 

(100%)

18 dwellings 
(100%)

214 
dwellings 

(100%)

341 
dwellings 

(100%)

558 
dwellings 

(100%)

All approved developments are within 
a walkable catchment.

Green Star Rating

Number of (4-6) 
Green star rated (or 
equivalent) buildings.

4 Star: 1 
5 Star: 0 
6 Star: 0

4 Star: 2 
5 Star: 0 
6 Star: 0

4 Star: 2 
5 Star: 1 
6 Star: 0

4 Star: 1 
5 Star: 2 
6 Star: 0

4 Star: 2 
5 Star: 2 
6 Star: 0

Target exceeded. All approved 
developments committed to achieving 
the minimum Green Star rating 
required by Development Policy 1 – 
Green Buildings. 
Two developments have committed 
to achieving a 5 star Green Star rating 
as a means of qualifying bonus height, 
consistent with the predicted outcome.

7 The Scarborough Redevelopment Area comprises the Scarborough Project Area.
8 The User Satisfaction survey was conducted in 2016/17
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7.8 SUBIACO REDEVELOPMENT AREA10 
KEY 
PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

2012/13 
BASELINE

2019/20  
ACTUAL 
SCORE

2020/21 
ACTUAL 
SCORE

2021/22 
TARGET 
SCORE

2021/22 
ACTUAL 
SCORE

ANALYSIS

User Satisfaction

User Satisfaction 
against:

•  Project area quality
•  Project area 

amenity
•  Project area vitality

82% Not 
applicable

Not 
applicable

70% 94% A survey is conducted at the 
initiation of each project to establish 
a baseline then once the project 
is normalised or every five years, 
whichever is the earlier. A user 
satisfaction survey was conducted 
in 2021/22. Overall satisfaction 
with Subiaco Centro is very high 
with 94% of those surveyed stating 
they are either ‘very satisfied’ (47%) 
or ‘extremely satisfied’ (47%). A 
further 6% said they are ‘moderately 
satisfied’ with the precinct.

Investment 
Generated

$ value of non-
MRA investment 
compared to MRA 
investment.

36.4 : 1 $8,000,000 
: 

$0 
(1:0)

$78,625,000 
: 

$0 
(1:0)

$0 
: 

$0 
(No CapEx MRA 

investment)

$0 
: 

$0 
(No CapEx MRA 

investment)

Non-MRA investment targets are 
estimated based on predictions of 
incoming Development Applications, 
as such performance against 
the investment generated KPI is 
significantly impacted by market 
performance. 

There was no capital spend in the 
Subiaco Redevelopment Area in 
2021/22, due to the project nearing 
completion for the MRA. 

There were no Development 
Applications received for Subiaco 
Centro in 2021/22.

Land Use Volume 
and Mix

Number of approved 
Development 
Application 
residential units11 

Square metres 
of approved 
commercial, retail 
and industrial space

101 Units

 
 
 
 

345m2

23 Units

 
 
 
 

96m2

133 Units

 
 
 
 

10,078m2

0 Units

 
 
 
 

0m2

0 Units

 
 
 
 

0m2

Housing Stock 
Diversity

Percentage of 
approved diverse 
residential dwellings 
according to number 
of bedrooms (1, 2 and 
3 bedroom) (minimum 
percentage)

1 49.5% 
2 41.7% 
3+ 8.8%

1 26% 
2 30% 

3+ 44%

1 32% 
2 26% 

3+ 42%

1 No Target 
2 No Target 

3+ No Target

1 0% 
2 0% 

3+ 0%

No new Development Applications 
were received in the Subi Centro 
during 2021/22.

Public Transit 
Access

Number of approved 
dwellings within 
walkable catchment 
of public transport 
nodes/stops.

100% 23 
dwellings 

(100%)

133 
dwellings 

(100%)

0 
dwellings 

(n/a)

0 
dwellings 

(n/a)

No new Development Applications 
were received in the Subi Centro 
during 2021/22.

Green Star Rating

Number of (4-6) 
Green star rated (or 
equivalent) buildings.

4 Star: 1 
5 Star: 0 
6 Star: 0

4 Star: 1 
5 Star: 0 
6 Star: 0

4 Star: 2 
5 Star: 0 
6 Star: 0

4 Star: 0 
5 Star: 0 
6 Star: 0

4 Star: 0 
5 Star: 0 
6 Star: 0

No new Development Applications 
were received in the Subi Centro 
during 2021/22.

10 The Subiaco Redevelopment Area comprises the Subi Centro and Subiaco East Project Area.
11 Includes serviced apartments
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7.9 SERVICES 
SERVICES 2012/13 

BASELINE
2019/20 
ACTUAL 
SCORE

2020/21 
ACTUAL 
SCORE

2021/22 
TARGET 
SCORE

2021/22 
ACTUAL 
SCORE

ANALYSIS

Delivery of 
major projects 
within MRA 
Redevelopment 
Areas

Key Performance 
Indicator

Ratio of net 
operational 
overheads to 
average inventory 
plus gross profit

11% 23% Not 
applicable

Not 
applicable

Not 
applicable

This key performance indicator 
is no longer relevant as MRA 
development assets have been 
transferred to the Western 
Australian Land Authority (WALA). 
MRA has only retained inventory 
that is not undergoing active 
development, as such measuring 
this KPI is not relevant to the 
ongoing operation.

Statutory Planning 
Control

Key Performance 
Indicator

Median 
determination 
timeframe in days 
for Development 
Applications 
(standard * 
and major **), 
subdivision 
applications and 
structure plans

59 days Armadale Median determination timeframes 
for standard Development 
Applications were less than 
the target 90 day period in all 
areas, maintaining efficient 
processing of these more 
minor developments.

The longer timeframes for major 
Development Applications 
in Central Perth, Midland 
and Scarborough were a 
result of extensive design 
review, amendments to plans, 
and additional information 
being required.

No major development 
applications were received in 
Armadale or Subiaco in 2021/22.

Standard 45 
Major 88

Standard 56 
Major 177

Standard 90 
Major 120

Standard 63 
Major N/A

Central Perth

Standard 62 
Major 203

Standard 52 
Major 207

Standard 90 
Major 120

Standard 52 
Major 164

Midland

Standard 60 
Major N/A

Standard 64 
Major N/A

Standard 90 
Major 120

Standard 83 
Major 202

Subiaco

Standard 66 
Major 154

Standard 75 
Major 144

Standard 90 
Major 120

Standard 64 
Major N/A

Scarborough

Standard 67 
Major N/A

Standard 75 
Major 144

Standard 90 
Major 120

Standard 61 
Major 204

*  Section 65(2) of the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority Act 2011 requires standard development applications to be approved within 90 days after 
the date on which the application is received. 

**  Section 65(2) of the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority Act 2011 requires major development applications be approved within 120 days after the 
date on which the application is received.
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7.10 MRA METHODOLOGY NOTES TO
ACCOMPANY EFFECTIVENESS RESULTS 
User Satisfaction
The survey is conducted at the initiation of each project to 
establish a baseline, then once the project is normalised 
or every five years, whichever is the earlier. The survey 
was conducted in the 2016-17 financial year and conducted 
again in 2021-22. The MRA has a target of 66 per cent for the 
overall life of each Redevelopment Area.

Investment Generated
Results derived by:

MRA Investment

•  Amount capitalised as inventory.

•  Plus any capitalised work on the MRA’s investment 
properties.

•  Plus the cost of works done by the MRA for other 
government agencies.

•  Plus the cost of works facilitated by the MRA within the 
Development Contribution Plans.

Non-MRA Investment

•  Development Applications approved in the period 
were filtered by Redevelopment Area, then by project 
and precinct.

A ratio is then sought after both non-MRA investment and 
MRA investment has been calculated.

The formula is value of non-MRA investment ($) compared to 
MRA investment ($).

Urban Efficiency
Number of approved Development applications for 
residential units

•  This was demonstrated by the number of approved 
Development Applications for residential, mixed use, 
change of use to residential and amendments approved 
in the last financial year per Redevelopment Area, then 
by project and precinct.

Square metres of approved Development Applications for 
commercial, retail, industrial etc. space

•  This was demonstrated by the number of Development 
Applications approved in the last financial year per 
Redevelopment Area, then by project and precinct.

•  Development Applications for small additions such as 
patios and fencing were not included.

•  Details of all approved floor space for applications 
were obtained from the Planning and Contract of Sale 
system (PACS).

Social Inclusion
•  Includes Development Applications approved in the last 

financial year in each Redevelopment Area.

•  The Development Applications were for residential, 
mixed use, change of use to residential and amendments 
to Development Applications. 

•  Development Applications for mixed-use developments 
which did not include residential or applications 
for transient residential such as hotel uses were 
not included.

•  Dwelling statistics for all approved residential dwellings 
were obtained from PACS. 
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Connectivity
• Results derived by using only:

 -  Residential and mixed-use Development 
Applications;

 - Approved Development Applications;

 -  Development Applications approved in 2020-21 
financial year were selected.

• Straight Line Distance Analysis

 -  Development Applications which were within a 
walkable 400-metre distance of a bus stop and/or 
800-metres of transit stops were analysed. 

• Walkable Distance Analysis 

 -  The list of Development Application lots within a 
straight line 400-metre to 800-metre distance of a 
transit stop were assessed to see if they were within 
400 to 800-metres via the road network. This was 
undertaken using Google Maps measurement tool as 
the transit stops are visible on this tool.

•  Final count of applicable Development Applications 
within walkable distance of transit stops by 
scheme area.

 -  The list of applicable Development Applications 
within walkable distance of transit was then sorted by 
project area.

Environmental Integrity
•  Results derived by only including development 

Applications approved in the last financial year for 
each Redevelopment Area and then by project area 
and precinct.

•  These results were further refined by including only 
Development Applications for new commercial, 
industrial, mixed use, community or residential units 
excluding single dwellings.

•  Green Star conditions are only imposed when 
constructing new buildings.

•  Development approvals and individual files were 
reviewed to determine whether a (4/5/6 star) Green Star 
rating was imposed as a condition of the approval.

Statutory Planning Control
•  The measure utilised was the average timeframe (in 

days) within which Development Applications (standard 
and major) were determined and applicants notified.

•  Subdivision applications are determined by the Western 
Australian Planning Commission (WAPC) within the 
Armadale Redevelopment Area, with the WAPC providing 
the MRA with a 42-day referral period prior to them 
making a determination.

Railway Square, Midland. 

56 DEVELOPMENTWA ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22



57WALA ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

8.0
FINANCIAL 
REPORTS
- WALA

The Directors declare that:

a) in the Directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the Western 
Australian Land Authority Act 1992, including:

i) giving a true and fair view of the Western Australian Land Authority’s financial position as at 30 June 2022 and of its 
performance, for the financial year ended on that date; and

ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

b) in the Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that Western Australian Land Authority will be able to 
pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to Western Australian Land Authority Act 1992.

On behalf of the Directors

Darren Cooper Reginald Gillard
Board Chairperson Audit and Risk Management Committee Chairperson
21 September 2022 21 September 2022
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      Auditor General

Page 1 of 3

7th Floor Albert Facey House 469 Wellington Street Perth    MAIL TO: Perth BC PO Box 8489 Perth WA 6849    TEL: 08 6557 
7500   

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
2022

Western Australian Land Authority

To the Parliament of Western Australia

Opinion
I have audited the financial report of Western Australian Land Authority (the Authority), which 
comprises:

 the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2022, the Statement of Profit or Loss and 
Other Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash Flows 
for the year then ended

 notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information 

 the directors’ declaration. 

In my opinion, the financial report of the Authority is prepared in accordance with Schedule 3A of 
the Western Australian Land Authority Act 1992, and: 

 presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial position at 30 June 2022 and of its 
performance for the year then ended 

 in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Basis for opinion
I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Report section of my report. 
I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for my opinion.

Emphasis of Matter – Restatement of comparative balances
I draw attention to Note 1(l) of the financial report which states that the amounts reported in the
previously issued 30 June 2021 financial report have been restated and disclosed as
comparatives in this financial report for the year-ended June 2022. My opinion is not modified in
respect of this matter.
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Responsibilities of the directors for the financial report 
The directors of the Authority are responsible for:

 preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards and Schedule 3A of the Western Australian Land Authority Act 1992 

 such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for:

 assessing the Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern

 disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern

 using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Western Australian Government has 
made policy or funding decisions affecting the continued existence of the Authority.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
financial report. The objectives of my audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 
to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing 
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of the financial report. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

A further description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located on the 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website. This description forms part of my auditor’s 
report and can be found at https://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf.  

My independence and quality control relating to the report on the financial report
I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor General Act 2006 and the 
relevant ethical requirements relating to assurance engagements. In accordance with ASQC 1 
Quality Control for Firms that Perform Audits and Reviews of Financial Reports and Other 
Financial Information, and Other Assurance Engagements, the Office of the Auditor General 
maintains a comprehensive system of quality control including documented policies and 
procedures regarding compliance with ethical requirements, professional standards and 
applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

Other Information   
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information is the information in 
the Authority’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2022, but not the financial report and my 
auditor’s report.

My opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly, I do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with my audit of the financial report, my responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial report or my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. 
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If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, I am required to report that fact. I did not receive the other information prior to 
the date of this auditor’s report. When I do receive it, I will read it and if I conclude that there is a 
material misstatement in this information, I am required to communicate the matter to those 
charged with governance and request them to correct the misstated information. If the misstated 
information is not corrected, I may need to retract this auditor’s report and re-issue an amended 
report.

Matters relating to the electronic publication of the audited financial report
This auditor’s report relates to the financial report of the Authority for the year ended 
30 June 2022 included in the annual report on the Authority’s website. The Authority’s 
management is responsible for the integrity of the Authority’s website. This audit does not 
provide assurance on the integrity of the Authority’s website. The auditor’s report refers only to 
the financial report described above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information 
which may have been hyperlinked to/from the annual report. If users of the financial report are 
concerned with the inherent risks arising from publication on the website, they are advised to 
contact the Authority to confirm the information contained in the website version.

Sandra Labuschagne
Deputy Auditor General
Delegate of the Auditor General for Western Australia 
Perth, Western Australia
28 September 2022



61WALA ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN LAND AUTHORITY

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS & 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

 Note 2022 2021

   *Restated

  $’000 $’000

Operating revenue 2(a) 749,930 545,825

Operating expenses 2(b) (519,439) (427,687)

Gross profit  230,491 118,138

    

Other revenue 2(a) 16,812 9,178

    

Estate holding expenses  (48,555) (34,963)

Employee benefits expense  (29,556) (28,313)

Consultant expenses  (5,376) (5,498)

Advertising, public relations and sponsorship  (7,881) (4,513)

Impairment reversal/(loss) on trade receivables  (227) 1,543

Other expenses 2(b) (38,236) (31,483)

Results from operating activities  117,472 24,089

    

Finance income 2(a) 4,323 474

Finance costs  (2,318) (2,815)

Net finance costs  2,005 (2,341)

    

Profit before income tax  119,477 21,748

    

Income tax expense  3 (34,555) (4,049)

Profit for the year  84,922 17,699

    

Total comprehensive income for the year  84,922 17,699

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

*The comparative information has been restated as a result of a prior period error. Refer note 1 (l).
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2022

 Note 2022 2021 *Restated 2020 *Restated

  $’000 $’000 $’000

CURRENT ASSETS     

Cash and cash equivalents 14(a) 172,856 68,531 19,483

Receivables  4 36,801 14,486 52,812

Inventories  5 547,441 440,730 363,151

Other assets  8 35,523 4,050 6,870

Total Current Assets  792,621 527,797  442,316  

NON-CURRENT ASSETS     

Receivables  4 65,866 8,901 8,691

Inventories  5 645,779 465,492 565,169

Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment  6 321,666 306,180 302,559

Right-of-use assets 7(a) 2,593 4,899 7,023

Deferred tax assets  3 47,135 40,399 36,048

Other assets  8 33,321 43,107 28,282

Total non-current assets  1,116,360 868,978 947,772

TOTAL ASSETS  1,908,981 1,396,775  1,390,088  

CURRENT LIABILITIES     

Payables  9 78,337 22,768 23,582

Loans and borrowings  12 47,100 11,775 46,100

Current tax liabilities  3 23,782 7,172 657

Provisions  10 47,624 47,792  23,676  

Lease liabilities 7(b) 2,656 2,496 2,311

Other liabilities  11 115,453 57,604 38,917

Total Current Liabilities  314,952 149,607  135,243  

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES     

Provisions  10 44,713 58,265 51,105

Loans and borrowings  12 129,525 176,625 189,400

Lease liabilities 7(b) 309 2,818 5,043

Other liabilities  11 85,652 37,906 36,810

Total non-current liabilities  260,199 275,614 282,385

TOTAL LIABILITIES  575,151 425,221 417,601

NET ASSETS  1,333,830 971,554 972,487

EQUITY     

Contributed equity  13 1,002,610 701,821 551,787

Retained profits  331,220 269,733 420,700

TOTAL EQUITY  1,333,830 971,554 972,487

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

*The comparative information has been restated as a result of a prior period error. Refer note 1 (l).
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN LAND AUTHORITY

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
AS AT 30 JUNE 2022

 Note Contributed 
equity

Retained 
earnings

Total  
equity

  $’000 $’000 $’000

Restated Balance at 30 June 2020  551,787 420,700 972,487

Restated Balance as at 1 July 2020  551,787 420,700 972,487

Restated Profit for the year 2021  - 17,699 17,699

Restated Total comprehensive income for the year   - 17,699 17,699

Transactions with owners recorded directly in equity    -

Dividends  22  - (168,666) (168,666)

Contributions of equity  13 150,034  - 150,034

Total transactions with owners recorded directly in equity  150,034 (168,666) (18,632)

Restated Balance at 30 June 2021  701,821 269,733 971,554

     

Restated Balance as at 1 July 2021 as originally presented  701,821 269,733 971,554

Profit for the year 2022  - 84,922 84,922

Total comprehensive income for the year   - 84,922 84,922

Transactions with owners recorded directly in equity     

Dividends  22 - (23,435) (23,435)

Contributions of equity  13 300,789  - 300,789

Total transactions with owners recorded directly in equity  300,789 (23,435) 277,354

Balance at 30 June 2022  1,002,610 331,220 1,333,830

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The comparative information has been restated as a result of a prior period error. Refer note 1 (l).
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
AS AT 30 JUNE 2022

 Note

 

2022

 

2021

*Restated 

  $’000 $’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

Receipts from customers  542,992 253,918

Operating subsidies received  256,005 324,700

Payments to suppliers and employees  (659,068) (313,620)

Interest received  287 568

Income tax paid  (24,681) (160)

Net cash generated from operating activities  14(b) (b) 115,535 265,406

    

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

Payments for infrastructure, property, plant and equipment  (26,601) (10,251)

Proceeds from sale of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment  30 15

Proceeds from transfer of assets from Housing Authority  18,750  -

Net cash used in investing activities  (7,821) (10,236)

    

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    

Proceeds from equity contribution  36,500 15,000

Repayment of borrowings  (27,775) (47,100)

Proceeds from borrowings  16,000  -

Payment of dividends  (23,435) (168,666)

Finance interest paid  (2,139) (2,808)

Payment of lease liabilities  (2,540) (2,548)

Net cash used in financing activities  (3,389) (206,122)

    

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  104,325 49,048

    

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  68,531 19,483

    

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD  14(a) 172,856 68,531

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The comparative information has been restated as a result of a prior period error. Refer note 1 (l).
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN LAND AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

The Western Australian Land Authority (WALA) is the 
Western Australian Government’s land and property 
development agency with its office and principal place of 
business as follows:

Level 2, 40 The Esplanade
PERTH WA 6000

WALA is a not-for-profit (NFP) entity that is controlled by the 
State Government of Western Australia.

NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The following accounting policies have been adopted in the 
preparation of the financial statements. Unless otherwise 
stated these policies are consistent with those adopted in 
the previous year.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the 
Directors on 21 September 2022.

a) Basis of preparation

The financial statements constitute a general purpose 
financial report which has been prepared in accordance 
with the Western Australian Land Authority Act 1992 and 
Australian Accounting Standards (including Australian 
Interpretations) adopted by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (AASB). The financial statements do 
not apply AASB 8: Operating Segments, and AASB 120: 
Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of 
Government Assistance.

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual 
basis of accounting using the historical cost convention. 
Accounting policies have been applied in a manner which 
ensures the resulting financial information satisfies the 
concepts of relevance and reliability.

b) Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, 
which is both the functional and presentation currency 
of WALA. All values are rounded to the nearest thousand 
dollars ($’000).

c) Use of judgements and estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 
Australian Accounting Standards requires management to 
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect 
the application of accounting policies and the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual 
results may differ from the estimate.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on 
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised 
and in any affected future periods. In particular, information 
about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and 
critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have 
the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the 
financial statements are described in the following notes:

• Note 5 Inventories, with reference to NRV assessments.

• Note 10 Provisions, with reference to future 
development obligations.

• Note 11 Other Liabilities, with reference to the 
determination of value of grant income deferred. Where 
income is required to be deferred the input method 
(i.e. actual costs) has been used as the basis for the 
recognition of income as this faithfully depicts the 
transfer of benefits for grants received. The revenue 
recognition policy is set out in Note 2.

• Note 19 Joint arrangements with reference to 
the partnering assessment under AASB 11 Joint 
Arrangements.

d) Application of new and revised Accounting 
Standards

New and revised accounting standards and interpretations 
issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) 
that are mandatorily effective 1 July 2021 do not have a 
material impact on WALA.

e) Changes in significant accounting policies

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of 
the financial report are consistent with those followed in 
the preparation of WALA’s financial statements for the 
year ended 30 June 2021, except for the change made 
to the operating subsidies and reclassification of future 
development obligations. Refer to Note 1(l) for impact.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED 
f) Standards and Interpretations in issue not yet 
adopted

WALA has not early adopted any standard, interpretation or 
amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective. 
WALA has assessed there is no material impact from 
amendments or interpretations yet to be adopted.

g) Goods and services tax

Revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities are recognised 
net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), with the 
exception of:

• GST incurred which is not recoverable from the taxation 
authority. This GST is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense 

• Receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive 
of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, 
the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or 
payables.

Cash flows are included in the Statement of cash flows on a 
gross basis. The GST component of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities which are recoverable 
from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified as 
operating.

h) Impairment of assets

Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of WALA’s assets, other than deferred 
tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine 
whether there are any indicators of impairment. If any such 
indicators of impairment exist, the asset’s recoverable 
amount is estimated. The recoverable amount for intangible 
assets, that have an indefinite life or are not yet available 
for use, is estimated annually and whenever there is an 
indication of impairment.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount 
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment 
losses are recognised in profit or loss. The recoverable 
amount of an asset is the greater of its value in use and its 
fair value less costs to sell. In assessing the value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset.

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed 
at each reporting date for any indications that a loss has 
decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is 
reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used 
to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss 
is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying 
amount does not exceed the amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, had no 
impairment loss been recognised in prior periods. 

i) Comparative amounts

When the presentation or classification of items in the 
financial report is amended, comparative amounts are 
reclassified unless the reclassification is impracticable. 
When comparative amounts are reclassified, WALA 
discloses:

• the nature of the reclassification

• the amount of each item or class of items that is 
reclassified

• the reason for the reclassification.

j) Financial assets

All financial assets, aside from long term trade receivables 
that have been present valued, are initially measured at fair 
value and adjusted for transaction costs (where applicable). 
Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing 
component or for which WALA has applied the practical 
expedient are measured at the transaction price determined 
under AASB 15 Revenue From Contracts With Customers.

Analysis of the implementation of AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments and details regarding the classification, 
measurement and impairment of financial assets are 
contained in Note 15 Financial Instruments.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating 
interest income over the relevant period. The effective 
interest rate, is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts, (including all fees on points paid or 
received that form an integral part of the effective interest 
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts), 
through the expected life of the debt instrument, or (where 
appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on 
initial recognition.
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED 
Commercial bills and term deposits with fixed or determinable 
payments and fixed maturity dates that WALA has the 
positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as 
cash investments and are measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method less any impairment.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that 
are recognised in the Statement of profit or loss are 
categorised under financial income and expenses, except 
for the impairment allowance of trade receivables which is 
presented separately on the Statement of profit and loss 
and other comprehensive income.

De-recognition of financial assets

WALA derecognises a financial asset only when the 
contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial 
asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
asset to another party.

If WALA neither transfers nor retains substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the 
transferred asset, WALA recognises its retained interest 
in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may 
have to pay. If WALA retains all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of a transferred financial asset substantially, 
WALA continues to recognise the financial asset and also 
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds 
received. On de-recognition of a financial asset in its 
entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable 
and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in 
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is 
recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of Financial assets

Aside from those trade receivables that are not recognised 
at present valued, financial assets are initially measured at 
fair value adjusted for transactions costs (where applicable). 
Upon implementation of AASB 9 Expected Credit Loss (ECL) 
ratios are calculated and applied to financial assets based 
on a more forward-looking analysis of anticipated credit 
losses. Financial assets are classified into risk portfolios and 
the anticipated ECL ratio is recalculated at each reporting 
date where it is assessed that the risk of default is likely to 
change over the life of the asset.

Expected credit losses for the reporting period are calculated 
by applying the appropriate calculated ratio to the carrying 
amount of the financial asset. The financial asset is then 
reduced by this impairment amount. When a trade receivable 
is uncollectible, it is written off against the impairment 
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are credited against the allowance 
account. Changes in the carrying amount of the impairment 
allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

k) Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of the financial 
instrument, and are measured initially at fair value adjusted 
by transaction costs and subsequently at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method.

Effective Interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating 
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or 
received that form an integral part of the effective interest 
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) 
through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where 
appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a 
financial liability.

Derecognition of Financial Liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, 
discharged, cancelled or expires. The difference between 
the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised 
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in 
profit or loss.
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l) Correction of prior period error and change in accounting policy

i)  Operating subsidy

During the current period it was discovered that a correction to the accounting treatment of operating subsidies was 
required. This was due to the change in understanding of the application of the ‘capital grants’ requirements of AASB 1058 
Income for Not-for-Profit Entities. The error resulted in a material cumulative overstatement of revenue and corresponding 
cumulative understatement of other liabilities at 1 July 2020 and 30 June 2021. In addition, the adjustment has resulted in an 
increase in Inventories and in Infrastructure, Property, Plant and Equipment with no depreciation impact as assets were not 
placed in service as at 30 June 2021.

ii) Future development obligations

During the year WALA made a decision to change its accounting policy to reclassify estimated development cost obligations 
from an offset against inventory to a provision. The change in accounting policy pertains to classification within the 
statement of financial position only and has not impacted the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
Refer to Note 10 for the future development obligations disclosure.

The following table summarises the impact of the correction of the prior period errors and change in accounting policy on 
the financial statements of WALA.

  

June  
2021

Reported

(i) Prior  
period  

error

(ii) Change in 
accounting 

policy

June  
2021 

Restated*

1 July  
2020 

Reported

(i) Prior  
period  

error

(ii) Change in 
accounting 

policy

1 July  
2020 

Restated*

Increase/ (decrease) Increase/ (decrease)

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Statement of financial position (Extract)

Current inventories 354,325 15,299 71,106 440,730 301,404  - 61,747 363,151

Infrastructure, 
property, plant and 
equipment

297,679 8,501  - 306,180 302,559  -  - 302,559

Deferred tax asset 32,186 8,213  - 40,399 27,669 8,379  - 36,048

Current provisions 33,525  - 14,267 47,792 10,878  - 12,798 23,676

Current other liabilities 14,927 42,677  - 57,604 10,985 27,932  - 38,917

Non-current provisions 1,426  - 56,839 58,265 2,156  - 48,949 51,105

Net assets 982,218 (10,664)  - 971,554 992,040 (19,553)  - 972,487

Total Equity 982,218 (10,664)  - 971,554 992,040 (19,553)  - 972,487

Statement of Profit or Loss & Other Comprehensive Income 
(Extract) 
Operating revenue 536,770 9,055 - 545,825   

Profit before income 
tax

12,693 9,055 - 21,748

Income tax expense (3,883) (166) - (4,049)   

Profit for the year 8,810 8,889 - 17,699   
      
Total comprehensive 
income for the year

8,810 8,889 - 17,699   

The error resulted in a reclassification in the Cashflow Statement from operating activities to investing activities. It is a $8,500,645 decrease 
in the 2021 financial year to payments to suppliers and employees and a corresponding increase in payments for infrastructure, property, plant 

and equipment.
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NOTE 2 PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX
Profit before income tax includes the following items of revenue and expense

a) Operating revenue

 

2022

2021

*Restated
 $’000 $’000

Contracts with customers   

Land sales 447,485 150,941

Royalties 2,393 3,317

Total operating revenue with customers 449,878 154,258

   

Grants to fund operating subsidy projects(i) 129,771 299,898

Property rent revenue 54,928 51,092

Property expense recovery 8,012 6,137

Grants to fund operating subsidy projects - holding costs 103,858 33,857

Project management revenue 3,483 583

Total operating revenue 749,930 545,825

   

Other operating revenue   

Participation fees 1,378 1,963

Fair value of assets acquired at nominal consideration 5,237 -

Other revenue 10,197 7,215

Total other operating revenue 16,812 9,178

   

Non-operating revenue   

Finance revenue 4,323 474

Total non-operating revenue 4,323 474

   

Total other revenue 21,135 9,652

(i) Revenue increase of $ 9,055 relating to prior period error restatement. Refer to Note 1(l).
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b) Expense from operating activities

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Operating expenses   

Cost of sales (316,348) (114,990)

Operating subsidy project expenditure (161,964) (274,439)

Property management expenses (41,127) (38,258)

Total operating expenses (519,439) (427,687)

   

Operating expenses from operating activities   

Administration expenses (6,352) (2,628)

Accommodation expenses (1,008) (1,070)

Land study expenses (16,190) (14,275)

Loss on sale of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment (1,070) (14)

Depreciation and amortisation (13,616) (13,496)

Total other expenses from operating activities (38,236) (31,483)

Revenue Recognition

Revenue from Contracts with Customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when the WALA satisfies a performance obligation, by transferring 
a promised good or service to a customer and is based upon the transfer of control rather than the transfer of risks and 
rewards.

If the consideration for the contract contains variable consideration, WALA estimates the amount of the consideration to 
which it is entitled, to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal of the cumulative revenue recognised 
will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration in resolved. 

Where WALA acts as an agent for the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority or any other government agencies, income is 
not recognised. The income received will net off the cost as per the principal and agent provisions in AASB 15.

WALA applies the practical expedient in AASB 15 and does not adjust the consideration for the effects of a significant 
financing component if it expects, at contract inception, that the period between the transfer of the goods or services to the 
customer, and when the customer pays for that good or service, will be one year or less.  

Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities are disclosed separately to identify assets and liabilities in relation to contracts with 
customers.

Land Sales 

Contracts for land sales are assessed to identify the performance obligations contained in the contract. Typically, land sales 
contain one performance obligation, when the transfer of the land is made to the customer. The transfer of the land would 
normally be at settlement, or when control of the land has transferred to the customer. At this point revenue is recognised.  
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Royalty Revenue 

Contracts for royalty payments are earned when resources from the land are sold to a customer. The performance obligation 
is satisfied, when there has been a transfer to the customer, and revenue is recognised. 

Rental Income 

Rental revenue generated from operating leases, where the WALA is a Lessor, is recognised as income on a straight line 
basis over the rental term in accordance to AASB 16 Leases.

Interest Income 

Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes into account the effective yield on the principal sum 
of the financial asset, in accordance to AASB 9 Financial Instruments.

Participation Fee Income

Participation fee revenue is recognised in the profit and loss in proportion to the sale of lots over the total precinct, at the 
reporting date.

Project Management Revenue

Project management revenue is recognised in profit or loss in proportion to the stage of completion of the transaction at the 
reporting date. The stage of completion is assessed by reference to surveys of work performed.

Services earned free of charge

Services received free of charge are recognised as revenue when and only when a fair value can be reliably determined, and 
the services would have been purchased if they had not been donated. Consequently, use of those resources is recognised 
as an expense.

Unearned Revenue

Unearned revenue comprises prepaid rental income, upfront capital lease payments and partnering agreement participation 
fees received but not yet earned. Unearned revenue is released to income as and when the services for which it was paid 
are delivered. Non-current unearned revenue refers to revenue received in advance for capital leases that compensates for 
periods greater than one year.

Other Income 

Other revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be measured reliably and it is probable that economic benefits 
will flow to WALA.

Operating subsidy project funding (including reimbursement of cost)

WALA receives operating subsidy funding from the Department of Treasury and other government agencies in return for 
certain commitments that arise due to its obligations under the Western Australian Land Authority Act 1992. 

1.  WALA is specifically requested, or it is specifically approved to perform a community service obligation. 

2.  WALA could not perform the community service obligation as it would not comply with its own obligation to act on 
commercial principles; or 

3.  The commitment is of the kind that is generally not performed by businesses in the public or private sector. 

Operating subsidy funding is transparently and consistently reported year on year, and recognised as revenue in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income when received unless the following conditions apply:

- The subsidy is used to acquire or construct a recognisable non-financial asset to identified specifications;

- WALA is not required to transfer the non-financial asset to the transferor or other parties; and

- Occurs under an enforceable agreement. 
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When these conditions apply, operating subsidies are initially recognised as a liability and measured at the carrying amount 
of the financial asset received from the transferor. The liability is recognised until such time as WALA satisfies its obligations 
under the transfer and then recognises this as revenue. Actual project spend has been used as basis for revenue recognition 
which faithfully depicts the satisfaction of performance obligations.

Refer to Note 11 Other Liabilities for movement in operating subsidies.

NOTE 3 TAXES
a) Income tax expense

The major components of tax expense and the reconciliation of the expected tax expense based on the effective tax rate 
of 30% (2021: 30%) and the reported tax expense in the Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income are as 
follows:

 

2022

2021

*Restated
 $’000 $’000

Current tax expense comprises:   

Current year 35,658 9,079

Current tax expense - (under)/over provision in respect of prior years 5,632 (512)

Current tax 41,290 8,567

   

Deferred tax expense 221 (4,923)

Deferred tax expense - (under)/over provision in respect of prior years (6,290) 405

Deferred tax (6,069) (4,518)

  

Transfer of land from Housing Authority (666)  -

Transfer of land from Housing Authority (666) -

  

Total income tax expense 34,555 4,049

   

Numerical reconciliation between tax expense and pre-tax accounting profit   

Total profit for the year 84,922 17,699

Total income tax expense 34,555 4,049

Profit excluding income tax 119,477 21,748

  

Income tax using WALA's domestic rate of 30% (2021: 30%) 35,843 6,524

Non-deductible expenses 35 181

Operating subsidies restatement  - (2,550)

Under provision in respect of prior years (657) (106)

Transfer of land from Housing Authority (666)  -

Total income tax expense 34,555 4,049
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Recognition and Measurement

WALA entered into the National Tax Equivalent Regime (NTER) in 2001/02 whereby an equivalent amount in respect of 
income tax is payable to the Department of Treasury. The calculation of the liability in respect of income tax is governed by 
NTER guidelines agreed by the State Government. The Australian Taxation Office administers the NTER. 

As a consequence of participation in the NTER, WALA is required to comply with Accounting Standard AASB 112: Income 
Taxes.

Current tax

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. Current tax is 
calculated by reference to the amount of income taxes payable or recoverable based on the taxable profit or loss for the 
period. It is calculated using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. 
Current tax for current and prior periods is recognised as a liability (or asset) to the extent it is unpaid (or refundable).

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for 
temporary differences at the tax rates expected to apply when the assets are recovered, or liabilities are settled.

The relevant tax rates are applied to the cumulative amounts of deductible and taxable temporary differences to measure 
the deferred tax asset or liability. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary differences giving 
rise to them arise from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities (other than as a result of a business combination) which 
affects neither taxable income nor accounting profit. Furthermore, a deferred tax liability is not recognised in relation to 
taxable temporary differences arising from the recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will 
be available to utilise those temporary differences.

In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, WALA takes into account the impact of uncertain tax positions 
and whether additional taxes and interest may be due. WALA believes that its accruals for tax liabilities are adequate for 
all open tax years based on its assessment of many factors, including interpretations of tax law and prior experience. 
This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may involve a series of judgements about future events. New 
information may become available that causes WALA to change its judgement regarding the adequacy of existing tax 
liabilities; such changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the period of such a determination.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets. 
This occurs when the transactions relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on 
different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a basis or their tax assets, and liabilities 
will be realised simultaneously.



WESTERN AUSTRALIAN LAND AUTHORITY

74 WALA ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

NOTE 3 TAXES CONTINUED
b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities

 
2022

2021 
Restated

 $’000 $’000

Non-current   

Deferred tax asset 54,277 58,400

Deferred tax liability (7,142) (18,001)

Net deferred tax asset/(liability) 47,135 40,399

Movement in deferred tax balances:

 
Opening 
balance

Recognised in 
profit or loss

*Restated

Under/(over) 
provision in 

prior year

Closing 
balance 

*Restated
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2021     

Temporary differences     

Deferred tax assets     

Inventories 14,515  - (404) 14,111

Intangible assets 24  -  - 24

Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment (201) (852) 161 (892)

Right-of-use assets (2,106) 637  - (1,469)

Accrued expenses 2,526 6,363 427 9,316

Provision for superannuation 27 25  - 52

Provision for annual leave 801 305  - 1,106

Provision for long service leave 1,267 142  - 1,409

Provision for doubtful debts 742 (993)  - (251)

Provision for future development obligations 15,578  - (591) 14,987

Accrued income (1,283)  -  - (1,283)

Right-of-use liabilities 2,206 (612)  - 1,594

Recognition of long leases 4,925 (229)  - 4,696

Prepayments 117  - 1 118

Partner development costs (3,090) (29)  - (3,119)

     

Total deferred tax asset/liability 36,048 4,757 (406) 40,399
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Opening 
balance

Recognised  
in profit  

or loss

Under/(over) 
provision in 

prior year

Transfer 
from Housing 

Authority
Closing 

balance
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2022      

Temporary differences      

Deferred tax assets      

Inventories 14,111 (6) (214)  - 13,891

Intangible assets 24  -  -  - 24

Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment (892) (149) 420  - (621)

Right-of-use assets (1,469) 693  -  - (776)

Accrued expenses 9,316 (159)  -  - 9,157

Provision for superannuation 52 (35)  -  - 17

Provision for annual leave 1,106 86  -  - 1,192

Provision for long service leave 1,409 (144)  -  - 1,265

Provision for doubtful debts (251) 111  -  - (140)

Provision for future development obligations 14,987  - 4,707  - 19,694

Accrued income (1,283)  - 1,283  - -

Right-of-use liabilities 1,594 (705)  -  - 889

Recognition of long leases 4,696 115  -  - 4,811

Prepayments 118 (16) 93  - 195

Partner development costs (3,119) 9  -  - (3,110)

Development Management Agreement / Project 
Management Agreement Liabilities - (19)  - 666 647

      

Total deferred tax asset/liability 40,399 (219) 6,289 666 47,135

c) Current tax liabilities

 
2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Current   

Income tax payable 23,782 7,172

Total current tax liabilities 23,782 7,172
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NOTE 4 RECEIVABLES 

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Current   

Trade receivables 24,065 9,102

Expected credit losses (293) (167)

 23,772 8,935

GST receivable 13,029 5,551

Total current receivables 36,801 14,486

   

Non-current   

Trade receivables 65,866 8,901

Total non-current receivables 65,866 8,901

Recommendation and Measurement

Refer Note 15 Financial Instruments for further discussion of financial risks associated with receivables.

NOTE 5 INVENTORIES

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Current - land under development and developed land   

at cost 526,929 356,712  

at net realisable value 20,512 84,018

Total current inventories 547,441 440,230

   

Non-current - undeveloped land   

at cost 491,340 435,113

at net realisable value 154,439 30,379

Total non-current inventories 645,779 465,492

   

Total inventories 1,193,220 906,222  

   

Composition of inventories   

Cost of acquisition 708,288 410,621

Development costs 484,932 495,601  

Total inventories 1,193,220 906,222  
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Recognition and Measurement

Land held for sale comprising development properties is carried at the lower of cost or net realisable value (based on 
undiscounted cash flows).  Land Inventory includes developed land, undeveloped land and includes the cost of acquisition 
and development. Amounts are disclosed as current where it is anticipated that land will be developed ready for sale within 
twelve months after reporting date. The net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of 
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Valuations of Land

The valuations of developed land held for sale have been determined based on advice from independent valuers and real 
estate agents in accordance with WALA Valuation and Pricing policy. Land valued at net realisable value has been determined 
based on robust internal calculations. List prices are reviewed twice a year (depending on the type of land) except during 
static market conditions whereby prices may be reviewed less frequently under the instruction of a relevant delegated 
authority.

The most recent valuations for undeveloped land were performed on land held at 1 January 2022. No adjustment has been 
made to the valuations for the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic. Management continue to monitor the COVID-19 situation 
on inventory.

Undeveloped land valuations were provided by the Western Australian Land Information Authority(Landgate)(Valuation 
Services). All undeveloped land holdings will be independently valued every two years and metropolitan undeveloped land will 
be independently valued every year.

Market value of developed land and undeveloped land held at 30 June 2022 amounted to $2,088,635,490 (2021: 
$1,448,235,938). 

At 30 June 2022 the write-down of inventories to net realisable value amounted to $32,352,047 (2021: $2,867,989). Inventory 
impairment expenses are included in operating expenses.

Regional Land Stimulus

During the 2021 financial year, WALA received specifically approved operating subsidy funding of $166,336,000 to undertake 
a commitment to stimulate regional land developments. As part of the State Recovery Plan, the aim of the State Government 
was to incentivise regional land (residential, commercial, tourism and industrial) activation via targeted incentives and 
regional land repricing to stimulate all sectors of the regional construction industry by attracting new private investment, 
facilitating development finance and growing employment in building trades and construction supply chains in regional WA. 

This subsidy funding was not received in the 2022 financial year.

Inventory Transfer

During the 2022 financial year and as part of the wider Machinery of Government Land Agency Reforms, there was a 
movement of commercial land holdings inclusive of active partnering projects from the Housing Authority to WALA of 
$344,670,845 (2021: $135,034,313). The asset movement was effected through a non-reciprocal transfer of equity between 
the Housing Authority and WALA and comprised 989 land parcels and 14 active project arrangements.

The Housing Authority secured an exemption to Treasurer’s Instruction (TI) 955 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly 
Owned Public Sector Entities, enabling the assets to be moved at the carrying value through equity to WALA. An Agency 
Agreement was entered into in July 2021 in which WALA is the agent on behalf of the Housing Authority to effectively manage 
the partnering arrangements and transfer control of the assets to WALA.
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 Freehold land Buildings Infrastructure Equipment Total

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cost or deemed cost      

Balance at 1 July 2020 95,402 73,757 27,191 223,896 420,246

Additions 12,549 784 8,810 998 23,141

Reclassifications 9,715 (9,715)  - 50 50

Disposals (8,549)  -  - (709) (9,258)

Balance at 30 June 2021 109,117 64,826 36,001 224,235 434,179

Additions  - 80 26,143 1,727 27,950

Reclassifications  - (783) 475 (68) (376)

Disposals  -  -  - (248) (248)

Balance at 30 June 2022 109,117 64,123 62,619 225,646 461,505

      

Accumulated depreciation      

Balance at 1 July 2020 - (18,210) (17,655) (81,822) (117,687)

Additions      

Disposals  -  -  - 687 687

Depreciation expense  - (1,738) (1,247) (8,014) (10,999)

Balance at 30 June 2021 - (19,948) (18,902) (89,149) (127,999)

Additions -  -  -  - -

Disposals  -  -  - 247 247

Reclassification  -  -  - (968) (968)

Depreciation expense  - (1,768) (1,462) (7,889) (11,119)

Balance at 30 June 2022 - (21,716) (20,364) (97,759) (139,839)

      

Carrying amounts      

at 30 June 2021 109,117 44,878 17,099 135,086 306,180

at 30 June 2022 109,117 42,407 42,255 127,887 321,666

(i) WALA obtained valuations from Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate) for land to support the carrying value included in 

infrastructure, property, plant and equipment. Market value of freehold land at 30 June 2022 was $529,137,000 (2021: $465,727,000). 
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NOTE 6 INFRASTRUCTURE, PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT CONTINUED
Recognition and measurement

Items of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.

An item of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment may be gifted or contributed to WALA. Under these circumstances, 
the deemed cost of the item as per AASB 1058 is its replacement cost as at the date it was gifted or contributed.

Subsequent costs

The costs of replacing part of an item of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment are recognised in the carrying amount 
of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to WALA and the cost can 
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. The costs of day-to-day maintenance and 
servicing of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Depreciation

Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value. Depreciation is not charged on freehold land. 
Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment are systematically depreciated over their useful lives in a manner which 
reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits. Depreciation is provided for on the straight line basis to write 
off the net cost of each asset over its expected useful life to its estimated residual value. WALA reviews depreciation rates 
annually.

The following estimated useful lives are used in the calculation of depreciation for each class of depreciable asset, unless 
another method provides a better estimate of useful life:

Buildings 25-40 years

Furniture & Office Equipment 4-10 years

Computer Equipment 3 years

Leasehold Improvements 3 years

Plant & Equipment 10 - 50 years

Infrastructure 22 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

Items of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment costing less than $1,000 are expensed in the year of acquisition (other 
than where they form part of a group of similar items which are significant in total).

Capital works in progress includes expenditure on assets which are under construction, but not substantially complete at the 
reporting date.
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NOTE 7 LEASES
a) Right-of-use assets

 
Buildings/ 

equipment Vehicles Total
 $’000 $’000 $’000

Right-of-use assets    

Balance at 1 July 2020 6,806 217 7,023 

Additions/modifications of right-of-use assets 249 124 373 

Depreciation charge (2,336) (161) (2,497)

Balance at 30 June 2021 4,719 180 4,899

Additions/modifications of right-of-use assets (10) 201 191 

Depreciation charge (2,351) (146) (2,497)

Balance at 30 June 2022 2,358 235 2,593

Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and movements during the period.

b) Lease liabilities 

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Lease liabilities   

As at 1 July 5,314 7,354

Accretion of interest 96 138

Payments (2,636) (2,548)

Modifications/new assets 191 370

As at 30 June 2,965 5,314

   

Current 2,656 2,496

Non-current 309 2,818

Total lease liabilities 2,965 5,314

Right of use assets predominately relate to long- term property leases. Additions during the year were for leased equipment 
and vehicles. Modifications refer to adjustments in lease terms.

Recognition and Measurement

At inception of a contract, the company assess if the contract is, or contains a lease. A contract contains a lease if the 
contract conveys a right to the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 

A contract is assessed for;

i) The use of an identified asset

ii) If the substantial rights and control of the asset are transferred to the customer over the period of use

iii) The customer has the right to obtain substantially all the economic benefit of the asset over the period of use.
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NOTE 7 LEASES CONTINUED
Accounting for Leases as Lessee

On inception of a lease contract, as lessee, WALA recognises a right-of- use asset and lease liability. Where the lease is short 
term, twelve months or less, or of low- value, under five thousand, the practical exemption is applied. Short term and Low 
value lease expenses are disclosed under lease arrangements note 23.

The right of use asset is initially measured at cost and is equal to the initial measurement of lease liability. After initial 
recognition right of use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation, impairment losses, and adjusted 
for any changes to the lease. Right of use assets are depreciated on a straight line basis over the shorter of the lease term.

At the commencement date of the lease, lease liabilities are measured at the present value of lease payments to be made 
over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments, less any incentives receivable, and amounts expected to be 
paid under residual value guarantees. In calculating the present value of the lease payments, an incremental borrowing rate 
at the lease commencement date is used, as the implicit interest rate is not readily determinable. After the commencement 
date, the Lease liability increases by the accretion of interest and reduced by the payments made. The lease liability is 
adjusted for any lease payments made before the commencement date and any additional direct costs attributable to the 
lease.

Concessionary Peppercorn Leases

Leased assets arising from significantly below market leases are measured at fair value at the inception of the lease whereas 
the lease liability is recognised at present value of peppercorn lease payment amounts. The difference between the right-of-
use asset and lease liability is recorded as income in the income statement under AASB 1058.

WALA has elected to measure concessionary leases at cost in accordance with AASB 16 which incorporates the amount of 
the initial measurement of the lease liability.

Accounting for Leases as Lessor

WALA is a lessor in a number of operating leases of industrial, grazing and residential property. These assets are recognised 
on the Statement of financial position as items of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment or inventory depending 
on the intended use of the asset. Refer to Note 5 Inventories and Note 6 Infrastructure, Property, Plant and Equipment for 
accounting treatment.
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NOTE 8 OTHER ASSETS
 

2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Current   

Deposit bonds 7,710 1,326

Prepayments 27,813 2,724

Total current other assets 35,523 4,050

   

Non-current   

Deposits for land acquisitions(i) 33,321 37,079

Prepayments(ii) - 6,028

Total non-current other assets 33,321 43,107

Balance at the end of the period 68,844 47,157

(i) Non-current deposits relate to large government land acquisitions

(ii) Non-current prepayments contain development and Native Title payments to be utilised in a period greater than one year

NOTE 9 PAYABLES

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Current   

Trade payables 41,159 5,660

Accrued expenses 31,989 14,659

GST payable 5,189 2,449

Balance at end of period 78,337 22,768

Recognition and Measurement

Payables, including accruals not yet billed, are recognised when WALA becomes obliged to make future payments as a result 
of a purchase of assets or services. Payables generally have terms of 30 days. Payables are measured initially at fair value 
and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Please refer to Note 15 Financial Instruments.
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NOTE 10 PROVISIONS
 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Current   

Employee benefits 7,274 7,761

Provisions for remediation(i) 3,369 3,898

Other provisions(ii) 20,096 21,866

Future development obligations 16,885 14,267

Total current provisions 47,624 47,792

   

Non-current   

Employee benefits 1,317 1,426

Future development obligations 43,396 56,839

Total non-current provisions 44,713 58,265

Balance at end of period 92,337 106,057
(i) Provision for remediation refers to current obligations as a result of sale and development infrastructure works

(ii) Development costs not yet incurred in relation to the regional land stimulus funding, were provided for as there is a present obligation to 

deliver stimulus to the regions. Settlement of the provision will occur when the development costs are incurred.

Movements in each class of provision during the period:

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Employee benefits   

Carrying amount at start of period 9,187 6,893

Additional provisions recognised 2,314 5,330

Payments (2,910) (3,036)

Carrying amount at end of period 8,591 9,187

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Provision for remediation   

Carrying amount at start of period 3,898 6,141

Reversals of provisions recognised (529) (2,243)

Payments -  -

Carrying amount at end of period 3,369 3,898

2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Other provisions   

Carrying amount at start of period 21,866  -

Additional / (reversal of) provision recognised (1,770) 21,866

Payments -  -

Carrying amount at end of period 20,096 21,866
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NOTE 10 PROVISIONS CONTINUED
Recognition and Measurement 

Provisions are recognised when WALA has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, and it is 
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the 
present obligation at the reporting date. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by 
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is 
recognised as a finance cost.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the 
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that recovery will be received and the amount of the receivable 
can be measured reliably. 

Onerous Contracts

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised and measured as a provision. An onerous contract is 
considered to exist where WALA has a contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the 
contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under it.

Future development obligations

A provision is recognised for obligations to carry out development works under relevant planning permits or development 
agreements. The provision is based on an estimate of anticipated costs at the time a development commences. Over time 
these costs are re-estimated either on an annual basis or when WALA is invoiced for the relevant goods/services.

Wages, salaries, annual leave

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, and annual leave expected to be settled within 12 months 
of the reporting date are recognised in the provision for employee benefits in respect of employees’ services up to the 
reporting date. They are calculated at undiscounted amounts based on the wage and salary rates, including related on-costs 
such as workers compensation insurance and payroll tax that WALA expects to pay as at reporting date. Non-accumulating 
non-monetary benefits such as medical care and cars are expensed based on the net marginal cost to Western Australian 
Land Authority as the benefits are taken by employees.

Long service leave

The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the present value of 
expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by the employees up to the reporting date plus related 
on-costs. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, and periods of service.

Unconditional long service leave provisions and pre-conditional leave entitled within 12 months are classified as current 
liabilities as WALA does not have an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after 
the end of the reporting period. The provision for conditional long service leave entitled later than 12 months is classified 
as a non-current liability, as WALA has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has 
completed the requisite years of service.

An actuarial assessment of long service leave is undertaken each financial year to determine the valuation used. 

Superannuation

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution superannuation funds are recognised as an expense in profit or loss 
when they are due.

 



85WALA ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN LAND AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

NOTE 11 OTHER LIABILITIES

2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Current   

Contract liabilities(i) 55,819 7,730

Operating subsidy liabilities 53,027 42,677

Unearned revenue(ii) 6,607 7,197

Total current other liabilities 115,453 57,604

   

Non-current   

Unearned revenue(ii) 68,954 23,005

Contract liabilities(i) 16,698 4,901

Other(iii) - 10,000

Total non-current other liabilities 85,652 37,906

Total other current liabilities 201,105 95,510

(i) Contract Liabilities include deposits received on sale of land and obligations with partners from projects transferred from Housing 

Authority.

(ii) Unearned revenue is rent received in advance for leased properties.

(iii) Other liabilities relate to development bond monies.

Movement in operating subsidies related to capital grants

 

2022
2021

*Restated
 $’000 $’000

Opening grant liability 42,677  -

Closing grant liability 53,027 42,677

   

Income recognised during the period 129,771 299,898
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NOTE 12 BORROWINGS
2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Current   

Debt portfolio manager(i) 47,100 11,775

Total current borrowings 47,100 11,775

   

Non-current   

Debt portfolio manager(i) 129,525 176,625

Total non-current borrowings 129,525 176,625

Total borrowings 176,625 188,400

(i) Repayments due for the debt manager in the next 12 months are classified as current.

Recognition and Measurement 

Refer to Note 1(k) Summary of significant accounting policies and Note 15 Financial Instruments for accounting policy.

Debt Facilities

WALA currently holds two debt facilities with the Western Australian Treasury Corporation (WATC); a five year rolling Debt 
Portfolio Manager facility and a Working Capital Facility for short-term lending.

Under the Debt Portfolio Manager facility WALA has the ability to repay a maximum of 20% of the balance per year. 

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Financing facilities   

Short-term Working Capital Facility with Treasury Corporation   

Amount used  -  -

Amount unused 30,000 30,000

Total 30,000 30,000

   

Secured loan facilities with Western Australian Treasury Corporation (WATC):   

Amount used 176,625 188,400

Amount unused 100,075 89,500

Total 276,700 277,900

As part of the State Budget Government has approved WALA’s borrowing projections based on cash flow estimates.  
The limits are as follows:

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Borrowing limit at 30 June 276,700 277,900

“Intra-year” peak borrowings* 418,500 332,800

* The Treasurer advises the Western Australian Treasury Corporation (WATC) of a peak borrowing requirement which is based on WALA’s 

forecast cash flow estimates. WALA’s request for borrowing is managed within the confines of this approved limit throughout the year.
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NOTE 13 EQUITY

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Contributed equity   

Capital contributed on formation 113,957 113,957

Capital contributed by State Government during prior years 587,864 437,830

Capital contributed by State Government during the current year 300,789 150,034

Total contributed equity 1,002,610 701,821

   

Asset transfers from Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority 2,205  -

Asset transfer from Housing Authority (Tranche 1) 787 135,034 

Asset transfer from Housing Authority (Tranche 2) 344,671 -

Liabilities transfer from Housing Authority (83,374)  -

Department of Treasury equity contribution 36,500 15,000

Balance at end of period 300,789 150,034

A transfer from the Housing Authority was processed through equity at book value $344,670,845 (2021: $135,034,000). In 
addition, there were $83,374,000 of liabilities assumed that are related to the asset transfer.

During the year, $36,500,00 (2021: $15,000,000) was contributed by the Department of Treasury for the Ocean Reef Marina 
Project.

Recognition and measurement

Capital contributions have been designated as contributions by owners and have been credited directly to Contributed 
Equity in the Statement of financial position only when such contributions have been designated by the Department of 
Treasury as a contribution by the owner at the time of or prior to the transfer.
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NOTE 14 NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Reconciliation of cash

For the purposes of the Statement of cash flows, cash includes cash on hand and in banks, net of outstanding bank 
overdrafts. Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of cash flows is reconciled 
to the related items in the Statement of financial position as follows: 

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Cash and cash equivalents 172,856 68,531

(b)  Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities

Profit for the year 84,922 17,699

Adjustments for:   

Accrued income (8,902) (3,841)

Other operating expenses 2,028 - 

Loss on sale of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment 7  -

Employee benefit expense (non-cash component) (150) (470)

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 13,616 13,496

Impairment loss on trade receivables 227 (1,502)

Finance interest paid 2,139 2,815

Income tax expense 34,555 3,883

 128,442 32,080

Assets (increase)/decrease   

Receivables (70,737) 11,030

Inventories 58,282 204,757

Other assets (21,565) (12,005)

   

Liabilities increase/(decrease)   

Payables 20,116 (685)

Provisions (13,337) 22,387

Other liabilities 39,015 6,231

Cash generated from operating activities 140,216 263,795

Net income tax paid (24,681) 1,999

Net cash generated from operating activities 115,535 265,794

Recognition of Cash and Cash equivalents

Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are highly liquid investments with short periods from 
inception to maturity, are readily convertible to cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value
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NOTE 14 NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS CONTINUED
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

 

Opening

Balance

New 
borrowings/ 

payments
Non-cash 

movement
Closing 

balance

New 
borrowings/ 

payments
Non-cash 

movement
Closing 

balance
 2021 2021 2021 2021 2022 2022 2022

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Short-term borrowings 46,100  - (34,325) 11,775  - 35,325 47,100

Long-term borrowings 189,400 (47,100) 34,325 176,625 (11,775) (35,325) 129,525

Lease liabilities 7,354 (2,548) 508 5,314 (2,540) 191 2,965

Total liabilities from 
financing activities

242,854 (49,648) 508 193,714 (14,315) 191 179,590

(d) Non-cash investing and financing activities 
Non-cash investing and financing activities disclosed in other notes are:

• Transfer of assets from Housing Authority - Note 13

• Transfer of assets from Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority - Note 13.

NOTE 15 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
WALA’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables/payables, Western Australian 
Treasury Corporation (WATC) bank borrowings, lease liabilities and capital grant deferred income. WALA has limited exposure 
to financial risks as detailed below.

Receivables are present valued, to reflect the time value of money, when they have repayment terms greater than one year.

WALA receivables are valued at amortised cost and impaired by the appropriate Expected Credit Loss ratio. 

WALA financial assets and liabilities

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Financial assets at amortised cost   

Cash and cash equivalents 172,856 68,531

Trade and other receivables 89,638 17,836

Total financial assets 262,494 86,367

   

Financial liabilities at amortised cost   

Loans/borrowings 176,625 188,400

Trade and other payables 73,148 22,768

Lease liabilities 2,965 5,314

Total financial liabilities 252,738 216,482
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NOTE 15 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED 
Financial risks and risk management 

WALA has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

(i) credit risk

(ii) liquidity risk

(iii) market risk

The information below represents information about the WALA’s exposure to each of the above risks, their objectives, 
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital.

The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework. The Board 
has established the Audit and Risk Management Committee, which is responsible for developing and monitoring risk 
management policies. The committee reports regularly to the Board on its activities.

Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the WALA, to set appropriate risk limits 
and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly 
to reflect changes in market conditions and WALA’s activities. WALA employs policies and procedures and ongoing staff 
training to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and 
obligations.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee oversees and monitors compliance with WALA’s risk management policies and 
procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by WALA. The Audit 
and Risk Management Committee is supported in its role by regular, thorough and varied internal audit processes conducted 
by external accounting firms. These internal audits include both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and 
procedures, the results of which are reported to the Audit and Risk Management Committee.

(i) Credit risk  

Credit risk occurs where there is a possibility of The WALA’s customers with outstanding receivable balances defaulting on 
their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to WALA.

The majority of WALA’s revenue is received and recognised at the time of settlement of sale. WALA’s customers are required 
to meet the contractual obligations of a sale (being transfer of sale funds to WALA) in order for the ownership of the WALA 
asset to transfer to the customer. As a result, receivables make up a small proportion of the WALA’s overall customer base.

The majority of WALA receivable balances are made up of deferred property sales and rental revenue receivable amounts 
from various Government and commercial tenants. Policies are in place to ensure that goods and services are provided to 
customers with an appropriate credit history. WALA trade receivables are both short and long term in nature. Interest can 
be charged on any outstanding balances to compensate the entity for the use of their funds. Where appropriate WALA will 
utilise guarantees / security for property sales where consideration is deferred. Receivable balances are monitored on an 
on-going basis. 

Bad debts (impairments) are written off against the allowance account when it is highly unlikely or not economically viable to 
recover the debt. At the end of the reporting period there were no significant concentrations of credit risk.

Exposure to credit risk 

AASB 9 contains two approaches to assessing impairment - the simplified approach (applied to trade receivables without 
a financing component) and the general approach (applied to most loans and debt securities). The standard allows a policy 
election to apply the simplified approach or general approach for lease receivables and trade receivables with a significant 
financing component.
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NOTE 15 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED 
Summary of WALA financial asset impairment approach

WALA has reviewed trade receivables by categorising customers into one of three portfolios of customer and subsequently 
risk, as shown in the tables below. WALA has applied the simplified approach in accounting for the Government and 
Commercial/Rental portfolio. Mortgages are considered to carry an inherently higher risk, given their value and term, and 
have therefore been assessed using the general approach. Under the general approach to assessing risk, there mortgages 
will be reviewed on a 12-month basis rather than applying a lifetime expected credit loss ratio. The WALA has used historical 
experience, external indicators and forward-looking information to calculate the expected credit losses (ECL) as at 30 June 
2022, by portfolio of debtor, as shown below:

 
Impairment 

approach ECL type
2022 

ECL %
2021 

ECL %
WALA asset     

Mortgage receivables General 12 months 0.194% 0.001%

Government agency receivables Simplified Lifetime 0.000% 0.000%

Commercial receivables Simplified Lifetime 0.089% 0.033%

 
Total 

$’000 Government Commercial Mortgage
Receivable portfolio     

30 June 2022     

Expected credit loss rate  0.000% 0.089% 0.194%

Estimated total gross carrying amount at default 89,931 13,764 16,914 59,254

Expected credit losses 130 - 15 115

     

30 June 2021     

Expected credit loss rate  0.000% 0.033% 0.001%

Estimated total gross carrying amount at default 18,003 12,461 4,858 684

Expected credit losses 2 - 2 -

Movement in the allowance for impairment of trade receivables

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of trade receivables   

Balance at start of period 167 2,518

Decrease in general ECL provisions for the year (114) (244)

Decrease in provision for mortgage risk  - (343)

Decrease in provision for rental revenue risk  - (106)

Decrease in provision for interest revenue risk  - (1,665)

Provision raise/(reversed) during the year 240 7

Balance at end of period 293 167
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NOTE 15 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED 
The carrying amount of WALA’s financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. WALA’s maximum exposure to 
credit risk at the reporting date was:

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Trade and other receivables 89,931 18,003

Cash and cash equivalents 172,856 68,531

Total 262,787 86,534

(ii) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that WALA will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. WALA’s approach to 
managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, 
under both normal and adverse conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to WALA’s reputation.

WALA limits its exposure to credit risk by only investing in liquid securities and only with counterparties that have a credit 
rating of AA- from Standard & Poor’s. Given these high credit ratings, management does not expect any counterparty to fail 
to meet its obligations.

WALA uses market value to cost its land, which assists it in monitoring cash flow requirements and optimising its cash return 
on investments. Typically, WALA ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses 
for a period of 30 days, including the servicing of financial obligations; this excludes the potential impact of extreme 
circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such as natural disasters.

In addition, WALA maintains the following lines of credit:

• During the year $276,700,000 (2021: $277,900,000) was provided by Western Australian Treasury Corporation (WATC) 
that can be drawn down to meet short and long-term financing needs. WALA utilises a Working Capital Facility product 
for short term lending. Interest is calculated on a simple interest rate basis and is payable on maturity. For long term 
borrowing WALA utilises the Debt Portfolio Manager Service (DPM), which provides a diversified portfolio of twenty 
maturity dates over five years. Interest rates are reset each quarter. A Guarantee fee, charged by the Department of 
Treasury, is applied at a rate of 0.7% on loan balances and is also payable quarterly.

• On request by WALA, guarantees are issued by Commonwealth Bank of Australia to various Government entities as 
security against any adverse contract performance outcomes. The guarantee facility, up to a value of $20 million (2021: 
$20 million), is secured by WALA’s underlying land assets. At 30 June 2022 $12.84 million (2021: $7.5 million) of the facility 
has been used as security on civil contracts, leaving a balance of $7.16 million (2021: $12.5 million) in the facility.
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NOTE 15 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED 
WALA’s contractual maturities of financial liabilities (including estimated interest payments and excluding the impact of 
netting agreements) are as follows:

 

Weighted 
average 

effective 
interest rate

Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
cash flows

6 months  
or less

6 - 12  
months

More than  
1 year

 % $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2022       

Trade and other payables - 73,148 73,148 67,181 3,276 2,691

WATC loans/borrowings 0.45% 176,625 178,300 23,587 23,630 131,083

Lease liabilities 2.15% 2,965 5,433 1,296 1,286 2,851

Total  252,738 256,881 92,064 28,192 136,625

2021       

Trade and other payables - 22,768 22,768 21,601 88 1,079

WATC loans/borrowings 0.42% 188,400 194,253 1,060 12,806 180,387

Lease liabilities 2.10% 5,314 5,459 1,309 1,289 2,861

Total  216,482 222,480 23,970 14,183 184,327

(iii) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect WALA’s 
income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and 
control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

WALA currently has no derivative arrangements.

WALA borrowings are due to the WATC and are repayable at variable rates with varying maturities determined as part of 
overall cash management processes. WALA’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to the 
long-term debt obligations.

Interest rate risk

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of WALA’s interest-bearing financial instruments.

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Variable rate instruments   

Financial assets 172,856 68,531

Financial liabilities (176,625) (188,400)
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NOTE 15 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED 
Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments:

A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/(decreased) equity and profit or loss 
by the amounts shown below.

 Profit or loss

 -100 basis points +100 basis points

 $’000 $’000

2022   

Financial assets 1,729 (1,729)

Financial liabilities (1,766) 1,766

  

2021   

Financial assets 685 (685)

Financial liabilities (1,884) 1,884

Fair values

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
arm’s length market participants at the measurement date, or estimated using another valuation technique.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, WALA takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if 
market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement 
date.

Fair value for measurement or disclosure purposes in these financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for 
leasing transactions that are within the scope of AASB 16, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are 
not fair value, such as net realisable value in AASB 102 or value in use in AASB 136.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within their 
fair value hierarchy based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

• Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

• Level 2: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly 
or indirectly observable

• Level 3: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 
unobservable

Fair values versus carrying amounts

The carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities approximates their fair value.

Capital management

Under Section 19 of the Western Australian Land Authority Act 1992 WALA is required to act on commercial principles. The 
Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base in order to maintain shareholder, creditor and market confidence and to 
sustain the future development of the business.

WALA has agreed to a dividend policy with its shareholder, the State Government, based on a set formula. WALA retain the 
cash balance as a source of capital funding for ongoing activities.

There were no changes to WALA’s approach to capital management during the year.



95WALA ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN LAND AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

NOTE 16 LAND SALES CONTRACTS

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Unsettled sales contracts excluding GST(i) 439,089 220,803

Total unsettled sales contracts 439,089 220,803

(i) Unsettled sales contracts have not been included in revenue since neither title nor possession has been transferred. This treatment is in 

accordance with the Accounting Policy explained in note 2.

 

NOTE 17 COMMITMENTS
(a) Capital commitments expenditure

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Development of land(i) 265,078 242,159

Total Capital Commitments 265,078 242,159

(i) Bank guarantees are held for security over high value civil works, undertaken for State and Local Governments for contracts included in the 

development of land. Refer to Notes 15(ii) Financial Instruments.

Capital commitments relate to development of land and large infrastructure projects under development.

(b) Operating lease commitments

Short term and low value operating lease commitments are disclosed in note 23(a). Right of use assets are disclosed in  
Note 7(a).

NOTE 18 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
WALA is a wholly-owned public sector entity that is controlled by the State of Western Australia.

Related parties of WALA include :

• State Government Cabinet Ministers, their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities;

• All directors and senior officers of WALA, their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities;

• Other departments and statutory authorities, including their related bodies, that are included in the whole of government 
consolidated financial statements;

• Associates and joint arrangements of an entity that are included in the whole of government consolidated financial 
statements; and

• The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB).

Material Transactions with Ministers, senior officers and their related parties 

Current WALA non-executive directors are: Darren Cooper, Rebecca Field, Jane Bennett, Dale Page, Simon Reed, Reg Gillard 
and Jo Gaines. During the year George McCullagh was a board member from 1 July 2021 to 31 August 2021, Alan Carpenter 
was a board member from 1 July 2021 to 28 February 2022 and Simon Read was a board member from 1 July 2021 to 31 August 
2021. All WALA Non-Executive directors are also Non-Executive Directors of the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority.
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NOTE 18 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES CONTINUED
During the current year WALA recovered costs from the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority for transition and project 
costs to the value of $39,436,911 (2021: $11,665,052). WALA paid Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority $4,163,187 (2021: 
$16,708,050) for developer contribution plan contributions and operating subsidies. Asset transfers with a book value of 
$2,204,940 (2021: nil) occurred through equity during the year.

The Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage is the WA State Government department that services the Western 
Australian Planning Commission. Jane Bennett, a Non-Executive Director of WALA, is a member of the Western Australian 
Planning Commission.

During the year WALA incurred $22,738 (2021: $239,155) in land acquisitions costs, $3,564 in administrative costs (2021: 
$31,387), and $3,483 in lease rent (2021: nil) from the Department of Planning, Land and Heritage. WALA received $205,521 in 
secondment recovery (2021: $296,103) and $488,000 for Native Title Compensation (2021: nil). At 30 June 2022 WALA held a 
deposit for land of $33,320,656 (2021: $32,760,769). During the year WALA incurred $6,493 (2021: $115,988) in application fees 
to the Western Australian Planning Commission and received net $8,319,575 related to land exchanges.

Sponsorship, research, professional development and award submission application fees totalling $81,068 (2021: $71,579) 
were incurred during the year to Urban Development Institute of Australia. Jane Bennett, a Non-Executive Director of WALA, 
is a member of the Council of the Urban Development Institute of Australia (WA).

Consultancy Fees totalling $10,145 (2021: $4,329) were incurred during the year to CLE Town Planning and Design. Jane 
Bennett, a Non-Executive Director of WALA, is a Director and significant Shareholder of CLE Town Planning and Design.

Dale Page is a Non-Executive Director of WALA, and was the Director of Planning and Development at the City of Joondalup 
until 19 November 2021. During the year WALA paid $147 in project fees to the City of Joondalup (2021: $21,518).

Dale Page is a Non-Executive Director of WALA, and is the General Manager, Planning and Economic Development at City of 
Perth from 22 November 2021. During the year WALA paid $59,449 in administration costs and received $313,740 in car park 
agreement revenue from the City of Perth.

Darren Cooper is the Board Chair of WALA, and is the Board Chair of Spectur Ltd. During the year WALA paid $29,283 to 
Spectur Ltd for security services.

Material Transactions with Partnering Projects

As part of the Machinery of Government reforms, WALA was transferred partnering projects from Housing Authority on 1 July 
2021. From this date transactions are now considered to be related party transactions with WALA.

Consultancy Fees totalling $497,618 were paid by DevelopmentWA Partnering Projects during the year to CLE Town Planning 
and Design as an existing arrangement. Jane Bennett, a Non-Executive Director of WALA, is a Director and significant 
Shareholder of CLE Town Planning and Design. 

DevelopmentWA Partnering Projects paid $25,096 to Corrs Chambers Westgarth for legal fees as an existing arrangement. 
Rebecca Field, a Non-Director of WALA, is a Partner of Corrs Chambers Westgarth.

Application fees for award subsmissions totalling $2,475 were incurred by DevelopmentwA Partnering Projects during the 
year to Urban Development Institute of Australia. Jane Bennett, a Non-Executive Director of WALA, is a member of the 
Council of the Urban Development Institute of Australia.

Security system costs totalling $15,074 were incurred by DevelopmentWA Partnering Projects during the year to Spectur Ltd 
as an existing arrangement. Darren Cooper, a Director of WALA, is Board Chair of Spectur Ltd.
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NOTE 18 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES CONTINUED 
Compensation of Key Management Personnel 

WALA has determined that the Key Management Personnel of WALA includes all Cabinet Ministers, the directors and senior 
officers of WALA. 

WALA is not responsible for the Cabinet Ministers compensation, disclosures in relation to a Minister’s compensation may be 
found in the Annual Report on State Finances.

 2022 2021

Short-term employee benefits 3,231 3,001

Post-employment benefits 343 327

Other long-term benefits 37 88

Total compensation of key management personnel (excluding Ministers) 3,611 3,416

Significant transactions with Government - Related Entities

WALA transacts with a number of Western Australian State Government authorities, agencies and government trading 
enterprises. Total annual transactions that are deemed significant include the following:

Receipts from related parties:

  2022 2021

  $’000 $’000

Entity Nature   

Housing Authority Recovery of costs associated with the  
transfer of partnering projects

21,919  -

Department of Jobs, Tourism, Science and 
Innovation

Project management and consultancy fees 33,993 34,464

Department of Primary Industries and  
Regional Development

Consultancy fees 12,102 1,098

Department of Treasury Grants to fund operating subsidy projects 
(recurrent)

40,369 169,595

Department of Treasury Grants to fund operating subsidy projects 
(capital)

111,982 15,000

Department of Treasury Regional land stimulus  - 166,336

Department of Treasury Recovery of costs from transfer between 
government entities

93,572  -

Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority Project and transition costs 39,437 11,665

Western Australian Planning Commission Exchange of land parcels 8,320  -
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NOTE 18 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES CONTINUED
Payments to related parties:

  2022 2021

  $’000 $’000

Entity Nature   

Commissioner of State Revenue Stamp duty (35,369) (17,747)

Department of Finance Land tax and state fleet (45,235) (44,701)

Department of Justice Legal costs and claims (1,411)  -

Department of Primary Industries and  
Regional Development

Rent and sublease (1,547)  -

Department of Treasury Recovery of residual funds  - (1,206)

Department of Treasury Dividends (23,435) (168,666)

Department of Treasury Local government rates equivalent tax (32,892) (7,765)

Fremantle Port Authority Rent (774) (1,870)

Government Employees Superannuation  
Board (GESB)

Superannuation (2,236) (2,188)

Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority Developer contribution plan contributions (4,163) (16,708)

RiskCover Insurance (1,590) (1,636)

Synergy Power supplies (1,990) (3,283)

Water Corporation of WA Water services and rates (3,474) (4,901)

Western Australian Treasury Corporation Repayment of borrowings (11,775) (47,100)

Western Australian Treasury Corporation Interest and fees on borrowings (10) (1,397)

Western Power Corporation Electrical connections and services (3,859) (14,289)

Balances outstanding at year end:

  2022 2021

  $’000 $’000

Assets    

Entity Nature   

Department of Biodiversity, Conservation  
and Attractions

Prepayment for environmental offset land 679 2,021

Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage Receivable for deposit for land 33,365 32,760

Housing Authority Receivable for recoverable costs associated 
with the transfer of partnering projects

1,750 -

Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority Receivable for recovery of project costs 4,178 2,176

WA Country Health Service Receivable for deposit for land acquisition 
based on land exchange

2,318 2,318

    

Liabilities    

Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage Lease Liability (44) (43)

Western Australian Planning Commission Land exchange adjustment (2,751) (2,751)

Western Australian Treasury Corporation Accrued interest and borrowings (176,625) (187,905)
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NOTE 19 JOINT ARRANGEMENTS
WALA has arrangements with parties or a group of parties whereby they share joint control over the asset, liabilities, revenue 
and expenses of joint operations. These have been incorporated in the financial statements under each of the appropriate 
headings. Details of the joint operations are set out below:

   WALA Share WALA Share

   2022 2021

Entity Name Estate Suburb % %

     

Brookdale Alliance Sienna Wood Hilbert, Haynes 50.00% N/A

Oyster Harbour Joint Venture Oyster Harbour Bayonet Head 50.00% N/A

Golden Bay Project Golden Bay Golden Bay 50.00% N/A

The Ellenbrook Joint Venture Ellenbrook Ellenbrook 47.14% N/A

The identification of joint operations involves significant judgement where contracts are in substance development 
management agreements. As a result, management has applied judgement in the application of AASB 11 Joint Arrangements 
to reflect the nature of these arrangements.

NOTE 20 REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

 2022 2021 

Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of audit fees during the year:   

Audit of the financial report 189 177

Audit of Royalty for Regions reports 12 15

Total 201 192

NOTE 21 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
During the ordinary course of development activities WALA periodically has to undertake remediation works. WALA 
have land sites classified as contaminated on the Contaminated Sites Report issued by the Department of Water and 
Environmental Regulation, as at 30 June 2022. There is insufficient information available to assess the financial impact 
of remediation required on any contaminated land held, which has yet to be developed. The uncertainties are due to the 
impact of development, current and future use which impacts the nature of any potential obligation, if any, and the level of 
contamination. Any costs that arise relating to remediation and decontamination activities are ultimately incurred as part of 
development activities, form part of WALA’s development costs and will impact Inventory. Refer to Note 5.

WALA is signatory to the Yamatji Nation Indigenous Land Use Agreement. The Agreement was registered by the National 
Native Title Tribunal on 30 July 2020 and placed on the Register of Indigenous Land Use Agreements. The Agreement was 
Conclusively Registered on 26 October 2020. WALA has commercial and industrial land commitments under this agreement 
triggered by events not wholly in control of by WALA. The estimated value of these obligations is intrinsically linked to market 
forces and demand and could be up to $2 million.
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NOTE 22 DIVIDENDS

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Recognised amounts   

Normal dividend  - 2,330

Special dividends:   

- Residential Land Tranche 1 Asset Adjustments 23,435  -

- Regional Land Booster  - 166,336

Total 23,435 168,666

WALA’s dividend policy is to pay a percentage of prior year net profit after tax to the State Government. This has ranged 
from 125% in 2019/20, 100% in 2020/21 and 75% in 2021/22. The dividend policy is endorsed by the Expenditure Review 
Committee.

In August 2021 DevelopmentWA received approval from Cabinet to retain normal dividend that it was forecast to pay in 
the current financial year, accordingly there has been no payment made to the State. As part of Machinery of Government 
Reform relating to transferred assets and projects from the Housing Authority, WALA received a form of subsidy for $23.435 
million to cover specific transaction costs relating to Residential Land for Social and Affordable Housing. Part of the 
agreement included the expectation to repay the cash to the State via a special dividend.

In the 2021 financial year, the Board approved the recommendation to the Minister of a final dividend for 2019/20 to be paid in 
2020/21 of $2,330,000. The dividend reflects a Net Profit after tax calculation of 100%. The dividend was paid in  
December 2020.

NOTE 23 LEASING ARRANGEMENTS
(a) Short-term and low-value leases (Lessee Arrangements)

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

No later than 1 year 41 39

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 14 1

Later than 5 years 180 2

Total leases 235 42

(b) Operating lease receivables

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

No later than 1 year 31,549 28,695

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 113,420 96,427

Later than 5 years 296,987 277,024

Total 441,956 402,146
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NOTE 23 LEASING ARRANGEMENTS CONTINUED
Leases are negotiated with terms between two to five years with a number of contracts in excess of 25 years. Rental income 
is subject to future assessment based on the terms of the lease arrangements. Outstanding operating leases are based on 
existing rates and do not include the extension periods under option.

Recognition and Measurement 

Refer to Note 1(k) Summary of significant accounting policies and Note 2 Profit before income tax for accounting policy. 

NOTE 24 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
There have been no material events since the reporting date which would require adjustment to, or disclosure in the financial 
statements.



DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION
For the year ended 30 June 2022

9.0
FINANCIAL 
REPORTS
- MRA

The Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority (MRA) has 
pleasure in presenting its audited general purpose financial 
statements for the financial reporting period ended 30 June 
2022 which provides users with the information about the 
MRA’s stewardship of resources entrusted to do it.

CERTIFICATION OF FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
The accompanying financial statements of the Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority have been prepared in compliance 
with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 
(WA) from proper accounts and records to present fairly the 
financial transactions for the financial year ending 30 June 
2022 and the financial position as at 30 June 2022.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any 
circumstances which would render the particulars included 
in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

Darren Cooper - Board Chairperson  
21 September 2022

Reginald Gillard - Audit and Risk Management  
Committee Chairperson 
21 September 2022

Fiona Barclay - Chief Financial Officer 
21 September 2022
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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE 
For the year ended 30 June 2022

Hon John Carey MLA
Minister for Housing; Lands;  
Homelessness and Local Government
7th Floor, Dumas House
2 Havelock Street
West Perth, WA 6005

Dear Minister

In accordance with section 63 of the Financial Management Act 2006, I hereby submit for your 
information and presentation to Parliament, the Annual Report of the MRA for the reporting 
period ended 30 June 2022. 

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Financial 
Management Act 2006.

Darren Cooper Reginald Gillard
Board Chairperson Audit and Risk Management Committee Chairperson

21 September 2022

METROPOLITAN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
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7th Floor Albert Facey House 469 Wellington Street Perth    MAIL TO: Perth BC PO Box 8489 Perth WA 6849    TEL: 08 6557 
7500   

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
2022

Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority

To the Parliament of Western Australia

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
I have audited the financial statements of the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority (Authority) 
which comprise: 

 the Statement of Financial Position at 30 June 2022, and the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash Flows for the year then 
ended 

 notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information.

In my opinion, the financial statements are: 

 based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all material respects, the operating results 
and cash flows of the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority for the year ended 
30 June 2022 and the financial position at the end of that period 

 in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (applicable to Tier 2 Entities), the 
Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions.

Basis for opinion
I conducted my audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements section of my report. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for my opinion.

Responsibilities of the Board for the financial statements
The Board is responsible for: 

 keeping proper accounts

 preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards (applicable to Tier 2 Entities), the Financial Management Act 2006 
and the Treasurer’s Instructions

 such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the financial statements, the Board is responsible for: 

 assessing the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern

 disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern

 using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Western Australian Government 
has made policy or funding decisions affecting the continued existence of the Authority.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
financial statements. The objectives of my audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is 
a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of the financial statements. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

A further description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on 
the Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website. This description forms part of my auditor’s 
report and can be found at https://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf.  

Report on the audit of controls 
Opinion
I have undertaken a reasonable assurance engagement on the design and implementation of 
controls exercised by the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority. The controls exercised by the 
Board are those policies and procedures established to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and 
investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have 
been in accordance with legislative provisions (the overall control objectives).

In my opinion, in all material respects, the controls exercised by the Metropolitan Redevelopment 
Authority are sufficiently adequate to provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, expenditure 
and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property and the incurring of liabilities 
have been in accordance with legislative provisions during the year ended 30 June 2022.

The Board’s responsibilities
The Board is responsible for designing, implementing and maintaining controls to ensure that the 
receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property and the 
incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006, the Treasurer’s 
Instructions and other relevant written law.
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Auditor General’s responsibilities 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility as an assurance practitioner is to 
express an opinion on the suitability of the design of the controls to achieve the overall control 
objectives and the implementation of the controls as designed. I conducted my engagement in 
accordance with Standard on Assurance Engagements ASAE 3150 Assurance Engagements on 
Controls issued by the Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. That standard 
requires that I comply with relevant ethical requirements and plan and perform my procedures to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether, in all material respects, the controls are suitably 
designed to achieve the overall control objectives and were implemented as designed.
An assurance engagement involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the 
suitability of the controls design to achieve the overall control objectives and the implementation 
of those controls. The procedures selected depend on my judgement, including an assessment 
of the risks that controls are not suitably designed or implemented as designed. My procedures 
included testing the implementation of those controls that I consider necessary to achieve the 
overall control objectives. 
I believe that the evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion.

Limitations of controls
Because of the inherent limitations of any internal control structure, it is possible that, even if the 
controls are suitably designed and implemented as designed, once in operation, the overall 
control objectives may not be achieved so that fraud, error or non-compliance with laws and 
regulations may occur and not be detected. Any projection of the outcome of the evaluation of 
the suitability of the design of controls to future periods is subject to the risk that the controls may 
become unsuitable because of changes in conditions.

Report on the audit of the key performance indicators
Opinion
I have undertaken a reasonable assurance engagement on the key performance indicators of the 
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority for the year ended 30 June 2022. The key performance 
indicators are the Under Treasurer-approved key effectiveness indicators and key efficiency 
indicators that provide performance information about achieving outcomes and delivering 
services.

In my opinion, in all material respects, the key performance indicators of the Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority are relevant and appropriate to assist users to assess the Authority’s 
performance and fairly represent indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2022. 

The Board’s responsibilities for the key performance indicators
The Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key performance 
indicators in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s 
Instructions and for such internal control as the Board determines necessary to enable the 
preparation of key performance indicators that are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error.

In preparing the key performance indicators, the Board is responsible for identifying key 
performance indicators that are relevant and appropriate, having regard to their purpose in 
accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction 904 Key Performance Indicators.
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Auditor General’s responsibilities 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility as an assurance practitioner is to 
express an opinion on the key performance indicators. The objectives of my engagement are to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the key performance indicators are relevant and 
appropriate to assist users to assess the entity’s performance and whether the key performance 
indicators are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes my opinion. I conducted my engagement in accordance with 
Standard on Assurance Engagements ASAE 3000 Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or 
Reviews of Historical Financial Information issued by the Australian Auditing and Assurance 
Standards Board. That standard requires that I comply with relevant ethical requirements relating 
to assurance engagements.

An assurance engagement involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the 
amounts and disclosures in the key performance indicators. It also involves evaluating the 
relevance and appropriateness of the key performance indicators against the criteria and 
guidance in Treasurer’s Instruction 904 for measuring the extent of outcome achievement and 
the efficiency of service delivery. The procedures selected depend on my judgement, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the key performance indicators. In 
making these risk assessments I obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the 
engagement in order to design procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances.

I believe that the evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion.

My independence and quality control relating to the report on financial statements, 
controls and key performance indicators
I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor General Act 2006 and the 
relevant ethical requirements relating to assurance engagements. In accordance with ASQC 1 
Quality Control for Firms that Perform Audits and Reviews of Financial Reports and Other 
Financial Information, and Other Assurance Engagements, the Office of the Auditor General 
maintains a comprehensive system of quality control including documented policies and 
procedures regarding compliance with ethical requirements, professional standards and 
applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

Other information
The Board are responsible for the other information. The other information is the information in 
the entity’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2022, but not the financial statements, key 
performance indicators and my auditor’s report. 

My opinions on the financial statements, controls and key performance indicators do not cover 
the other information and, accordingly, I do not express any form of assurance conclusion 
thereon. 

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, controls and key performance indicators, 
my responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements and key performance 
indicators or my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
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If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, I am required to report that fact. I did not receive the other information prior to 
the date of this auditor’s report. When I do receive it, I will read it and if I conclude that there is a 
material misstatement in this information, I am required to communicate the matter to those 
charged with governance and request them to correct the misstated information. If the misstated 
information is not corrected, I may need to retract this auditor’s report and re-issue an amended 
report.

Matters relating to the electronic publication of the audited financial statements 
and key performance indicators
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements and key performance indicators of the 
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority for the year ended 30 June 2022 included in the annual 
report on the Authority’s website. The Authority’s management is responsible for the integrity of 
the Authority’s website. This audit does not provide assurance on the integrity of the Authority’s 
website. The auditor’s report refers only to the financial statements, controls and key 
performance indicators described above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information 
which may have been hyperlinked to/from the annual report. If users of the financial statements 
and key performance indicators are concerned with the inherent risks arising from publication on 
a website, they are advised to contact the entity to confirm the information contained in the 
website version.

Sandra Labuschagne
Deputy Auditor General 
Delegate of the Auditor General for Western Australia 
Perth, Western Australia
28 September 2022
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

 Notes 2022 2021

  $’000 $’000

INCOME    

Sales revenue  2 - 3,177

Developer Contribution Income (DCP)  7,204 27,962

Interest  2 2,312 4,018

Rechargeable Works  - 283

Other Income  2 7,707 3,193

Fair Value Increment for Distribution to Owner  - 62

Fair Value Increments on Investment Properties  - 975

TOTAL INCOME  17,223 39,670

EXPENSES    

Cost of Goods Sold  2 - 12

Employee Benefits  3 2,215 7,490

Supplies and Services  3 6,698 12,624

Depreciation and Amortisation  8,186 9,349

Developer Contribution Expenses (DCP)  29,045 1,781

Finance Costs  13 279 11,714

Rechargeable Works Expenses  560 418

Other Expenses  3 759 1,272

Property Maintenance  1,289 4,334

Sales and Marketing  - 218

Infrastructure Development Expenses  1,997 4,146

Fair Value Decrements on Investment Properties  2,815 6,430

TOTAL EXPENSES  53,843 59,788

Net loss other than income from State Government  (36,620) (20,118)

Income from State Government    

Income from other Public Sector Entities  - 919

Resources received free of charge  133 179

Grants and contributions from other government agencies  9,863 9,620

LOSS FOR THE PERIOD  (26,624) (9,400)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME    

Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss    

Remeasurements of defined benefit liability  135 220

Changes in asset revaluation reserve   - (70)

Total Other Comprehensive Income  135 150

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR  (26,489) (9,250)
The statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2022

Notes 2022 2021

  $’000 $’000

ASSETS    

Current Assets    

Cash and Cash Equivalents  4 20,674 20,466

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents  4 47,441 60,720

Inventories  5 5,494 1,113

Assets held for distribution to owner  6 4,346 9,932

Receivables  7 18,604 10,034

Other Current Assets  8 99 77

Total Current Assets  96,658 102,342

Non-Current Assets    

Receivables  7 6,568 17,979

Infrastructure, Property, Plant and Equipment  9 192,891 200,944

Investment Properties  10 13,585 17,400

Right of Use Assets  11 2,848 3,180

Total Non-Current Assets  215,892 239,503

TOTAL ASSETS  312,550 341,845

LIABILITIES    

Current Liabilities    

Payables  12 5,207 4,213

Lease Liabilities  11 722 674

Other Liabilities  14 75 220

Provisions  15 9,307 9,830

Total Current Liabilities  15,311 14,937

Non-Current Liabilities    

Lease Liabilities  11 7,427 8,151

Provisions  15 1,848 2,099

Other Liabilities  14 986 986

Total Non-Current Liabilities  10,261 11,236

TOTAL LIABILITIES  25,572 26,173

NET ASSETS  286,978 315,672

EQUITY    

Contributed Equity  16 678,089 680,294

Reserves  16 - -

Accumulated Losses  16 (391,111) (364,622)

TOTAL EQUITY  286,978 315,672
The statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

 Notes

 

Contributed 
equity

$’000
Reserves 

$’000

Accumulated 
losses 
$’000

Total  
equity

$’000

Balance at 1 July 2020  16 475,819 70 (355,442) 120,447

Deficit   -  - (9,400) (9,400)

Other Comprehensive Income   - (70) 220 150

Total Comprehensive Income for the Period  - (70) (9,180) (9,250)

Transactions with Owners in their Capacity as Owners: 

Contribution from Owners  211,539  -  - 211,539

Distribution to Owners  (7,064)  -  - (7,064)

Balance at 30 June 2021  16 680,294 - (364,622) 315,672

Balance at 1 July 2021  16 680,294 - (364,622) 315,672

Deficit   -  - (26,624) (26,624)

Other Comprehensive Income   - - 135 135

Total Comprehensive Income for the Period  - - (26,489) (26,489)

Transactions with Owners in their Capacity as Owners: 

Distribution to Owners  (2,205)  -  - (2,205)

Balance at 30 June 2022  16 678,089 - (391,111) 286,978

The statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

Notes 2022 2021
  $’000 $’000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities    

Interest received  193 137

Developer Contribution Plan receipts  9,063 27,962

Receipts from customers  10,983 44,002

Developer Contribution Expenses  (25,452) (1,781)

Payments to suppliers and employees  (11,325) (20,782)

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 17(b) (16,538) 49,538

Cash Flows from Investing Activities    

Payments for Capital Works  -  -

Payments for Capital Assets  -  -

Net cash used in investing activities  - -

Cash Flows from Financing Activities    

Repayment of borrowings  - (214,344)

Proceeds from borrowings  - 2,652

Interest and charges paid on Financing Activities  (5) (12,985)

Payment of Lease Liabilities  (671) (719)

Net cash used in financing activities  (676) (225,396)

Cash Flows from State Government    

Grants and Subsidies  4,143  -

Distribution to Owners  - (6,389)

Contribution from Owners  - 211,539

Net cash provided by State Government  4,143 205,150

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (13,071) 29,292

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July 2021  81,186 51,894

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 2022 17(a) 68,115 81,186

The statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

ABOUT THESE STATEMENTS
The Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority (‘the MRA’) is a 
Western Australian Government entity, controlled by the 
State of Western Australia, which is the ultimate parent.  
The Agency is a not-for-profit entity (as profit is not its 
principal objective).

NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The following accounting policies have been adopted in the 
preparation of the financial statements. 

These financial statements were authorised for issue on  
21 September 2022 by the MRA’s Board.

a)  Basis of preparation

These general purpose financial statements are prepared in 
accordance with:

1) The Financial Management Act 2006 (FMA)

2) The Treasurer’s Instructions (the Instructions or TI)

3) Australian Accounting Standards (AAS) – Simplified 
Disclosure Requirements

4) Where appropriate, those AAS paragraphs applicable for 
not for profit entities have been applied.

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s 
instructions (the Instructions) take precedence over 
AAS. Several AAS are modified by the Instructions to 
vary application, disclosure format and wording. Where 
modification is required and has had a material or 
significant financial effect upon the reported results, details 
of that modification and the resulting financial effect are 
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Development Contribution Plans (DCP) are included within 
the MRA’s financial statements, as the MRA is deemed to 
have control over the operations and financial decision 
making of the DCP’s. Transactions and balances between the 
MRA and the DCP are not presented in the MRA’s financial 
statements as they are transactions within the same 
economic entity.

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual 
basis of accounting using the historical cost convention, 
except for land, buildings (including investment property) 
and artworks which have been measured at fair value. 

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation in 
the financial statements have been consistently applied 
throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated. 

Where modification is required and has had a material or 
significant financial effect upon the reported results, details 
of that modification and the resulting financial effect are 
disclosed in the Notes to the financial statements. 

Fair value

Fair value within the scope of AASB13 Fair Value 
Measurement is the price that would be received to 
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between arm’s length market participants at the 
measurement date, or estimated using another valuation 
technique.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, 
MRA takes into account the characteristics of the asset 
or liability if market participants would take those 
characteristics into account when pricing the asset or 
liability at the measurement date.

Fair value for measurement or disclosure purposes in these 
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except 
for leasing transactions that are within the scope of AASB16 
Leases, and measurements that have some similarities 
to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable 
value in AASB 102 Inventories or value in use in AASB136 
Impairment of Assets.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or 
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within 
their fair value hierarchy based on the lowest level input that 
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

• Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities

• Level 2: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level 
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 
directly or indirectly observable

• Level 3: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level 
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 
unobservable 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
Level 2 fair values are derived using the market approach. 
The market approach provides an indication of value by 
comparing the subject asset with identical or similar assets 
for which price information is available. Under this approach 
the first step is to consider the prices for transactions of 
identical or similar assets that have occurred recently in 
the market. If few recent transactions have occurred, it 
may also be appropriate to consider the prices of identical 
or similar assets that are listed or offered for sale provided 
the relevance of this information is clearly established and 
critically analysed.

For market valued assets free of encumbrances, the value 
is measured by market transactions involving comparison 
and analysis of identical or comparable assets. For assets 
with encumbrances, the income approach was used which 
converts future cash flow amounts to a single current 
discounted amount to arrive at a fair value.

b) Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, 
which is both the functional and presentation currency of 
MRA. All values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars 
($’000).

c) Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 
Australian Accounting Standards requires management to 
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect 
the application of accounting policies and the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual 
results may differ from the estimate.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on 
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised 
and in any affected future periods. In particular, information 
about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and 
critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have 
the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the 
financial statements are described in the following notes:

• Note 10 Investment Property with reference to fair value 
valuations

• Note 5 Inventories with reference to net realisable 
valuations

• Note 15 Employee Benefits with reference to actuarial 
adjustments 

• Note 16 Equity with reference to fair value of land & 
buildings transferred

• Note 18 Financial Instruments with reference to 
Expected credit Loss calculations

d) Application of new and revised accounting 
standards

New and revised accounting standards and interpretations 
issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) 
that are mandatorily effective 1 July 2021 do not have a 
material impact on MRA. 

e)	 Changes	in	significant	accounting	policies

There were no significant changes to the MRA accounting 
policies during the year. There were no changes required 
upon implementation of AASB1059 to the results for the 
2021-22 reporting period.

f) Accounting standards and interpretations issued 
but not yet effective

MRA has not early adopted any standard, interpretation or 
amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective. 
MRA has assessed there is no material impact from 
amendments or interpretations yet to be adopted.

g) Payables

Payables, including accruals not yet billed, are recognised 
when MRA becomes obliged to make future payments 
as a result of a purchase of assets or services. Payables 
are measured initially at fair value and subsequently at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

h) Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment

Recognition and measurement

Property, plant and equipment and infrastructure are 
initially recognised at cost. For items of property, plant 
and equipment and infrastructure acquired at no cost or 
for nominal cost, the cost is the fair value at the date of 
acquisition.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED 
Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure 
costing $5,000 or more and with a useful life of more than 
two years are recognised as assets and the cost of utilising 
assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives. 
Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure 
costing less than $5,000 are expensed directly to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where they 
form part of a group of similar items which are significant in 
total) and are held for more than two years of useful life.

Subsequent measurement

Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the Authority 
uses the revaluation model for the measurement of land, 
buildings, artwork and public art, and historical cost for 
all other property, plant and equipment. Land, buildings, 
artwork and public art are carried at fair value less disposal 
costs. All other items of property, plant and equipment are 
stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and 
any accumulated impairment losses. 

Where market based evidence is available, the fair value 
of land, buildings, artwork and public art is determined on 
the basis of current market buying values determined by 
reference to recent market transactions. When buildings 
are revalued by reference to recent market transactions, the 
accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross 
carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to 
the revalued amount. 

In the absence of market based evidence, the fair value of 
land, buildings, artwork and public art is determined on the 
basis of existing use. This normally applies where assets 
are specialised or where use is restricted. Fair value for 
existing use assets is determined by reference to the cost of 
replacing the remaining future economic benefits embodied 
in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost. Where 
the fair value of buildings is determined on the depreciated 
replacement cost basis, the gross carrying amount and the 
accumulated depreciation are restated proportionately. 

Land and buildings are independently valued annually by an 
external valuer and recognised annually to ensure that the 
carrying amount does not differ materially from the asset’s 
fair value at the end of the reporting period. Artwork and 
public art are deemed to be of a more subjective nature and 
are independently valued on a triennial basis.

Derecognition

Upon derecognition of an item of property, plant and 
equipment and infrastructure, any revaluation surplus 
relating to that asset is retained in the asset revaluation 
surplus. On disposal, any revaluation surplus relating to that 
asset is transferred to retained earnings. Transfers from 
asset revaluation reserve are not made through the profit  
or loss.

Depreciation

Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment are 
depreciated at rates based on the expected useful lives 
using the straight line method. Depreciation on assets under 
construction commences when the assets are ready for use. 
Depreciation is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. The depreciation rates for the various classes of 
non-current assets are as follows and are reviewed annually:

Class  Useful Life

Plant & Equipment  3 - 20 years

Buildings  25 - 60 years

Furniture & Office Equipment  3 - 10 years

Computer Equipment  3 - 10 years

Lease Improvements  10 - 15 years

Infrastructure  15 - 50 years

Land, Artwork and Public Art are not depreciated.

Loss on Disposal of Assets

Losses on the disposal of non-current assets are recognised 
when the consideration received is lower than the carrying 
value of the asset. Losses are recognised in Profit and Loss 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

i) Impairment

Property, plant and equipment, infrastructure and intangible 
assets are tested for any indication of impairment at the end 
of each reporting period. The risk of impairment is generally 
limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation 
is materially understated, where the replacement cost is 
falling or where there is a significant change in useful life. 
Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify 
that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects 
the level of consumption or expiration of asset’s future 
economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from 
falling replacement costs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
j)	 Employee	benefits

Employee benefits are all forms of consideration given by 
MRA in exchange for services rendered by employees or 
for the termination of employment. It includes salaries, 
superannuation, annual leave, long service leave, 
professional memberships, employee wellness program, 
staff training and fringe benefits tax. It does not include 
other staffing costs, Board Director allowances, other 
Board costs or contractors. These costs and the on-costs 
of providing employment such as payroll tax and workers 
compensation insurance which do not constitute a benefit 
to employees can be found under Other Expenses. 

Liabilities for Wages, salaries, annual leave

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary 
benefits, and annual leave expected to be settled within 12 
months of the reporting date are recognised in the provision 
for employee benefits in respect of employees’ services up 
to the reporting date. They are calculated at undiscounted 
amounts based on the wage and salary rates, including 
related on-costs such as workers compensation insurance 
and payroll tax that MRA expects to pay as at reporting date. 
Non-accumulating non-monetary benefits such as medical 
care and cars are expensed based on the net marginal cost 
to MRA as the benefits are taken by employees.

Liabilities for Long service leave

The liability for long service leave is recognised in the 
provision for employee benefits and measured as the 
present value of expected future payments to be made in 
respect of services provided by the employees up to the 
reporting date plus related on-costs. Consideration is given 
to expected future wage and salary levels, and periods of 
service.

Unconditional long service leave provisions and pre-
conditional leave entitled within 12 months are classified 
as current liabilities as MRA does not have an unconditional 
right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 
months after the end of the reporting period. The provision 
for conditional long service leave entitled later than 12 
months is classified as a non-current liability, as MRA has 
an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability 
until the employee has completed the requisite years of 
service.

Valuation

The value of leave provisions are assessed annually by an 
independent actuary, PwC Australia.

Superannuation 

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution 
superannuation funds are recognised as an expense in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The MRA’s total superannuation liability has been actuarially 
assessed as at 30 June 2022.

Defined benefit plans

The employer-financed benefit is a pension benefit 
payable on retirement, death or invalidity, or a lump sum 
on resignation. The Pension Scheme operates under the 
State Superannuation Act 2000 (Western Australia) and the 
State Superannuation Regulations 2001 (Western Australia). 
Although the Scheme is not formally subject to the 
Superannuation Industry (Supervision) (SIS) legislation, the 
WA Government has undertaken (in a Heads of Government 
Agreement) to operate the Scheme in accordance with 
the spirit of the SIS legislation. As exempt public sector 
superannuation Schemes (as defined in the SIS legislation), 
the Schemes are not subject to any minimum funding 
requirements.

As a constitutionally protected superannuation fund (as 
defined in the Income Tax Assessment legislation), the 
Schemes are not required to pay tax.

The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) 
is the Pension Trustee and is responsible for the governance 
of the Scheme. As Trustee, GESB has a legal obligation to 
act solely in the best interests of Scheme beneficiaries. 
GESB has the following roles:

• Administration of the Scheme and payment to the 
beneficiaries when required in accordance with the 
Scheme rules;

• Compliance with the Heads of Government Agreement 
(referred to above).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
There are a number of risks to which the Pension Scheme 
exposes the MRA. The most significant are:

• Legislative risk - The risk that legislative changes 
could be made which increase the cost of providing the 
defined benefits.

• Pensioner mortality risk - The risk that pensioner 
mortality will be lighter than expected, resulting in 
pensions being paid for a longer period.

• Inflation risk - The risk that inflation is higher than 
anticipated, increasing pension payments, and the 
associated employer contributions.

There were no amendments, curtailments or settlements 
during the year to the Schemes.

A net defined benefit asset or liability is shown on the 
Statement of Financial Position equal to:

• The present value of the accrued defined benefit 
obligation; less

• The fair value of the Scheme assets; plus 

• Any adjustment for the limitation on the net asset. 

The defined benefit cost to be included in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income is made up of the following 
elements:

• Current service cost paid to the Government of Western 
Australia for the pension scheme expensed under the 
Superannuation classification. 

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability/(asset) 
are recognised in Other Comprehensive Income. 

k) Contributed equity

AASB 1004 Contributions, Interpretation 1038 Contributions 
by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities 
requires transfers in the nature of equity contributions, 
other than as a result of a restructure of administrative 
arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the 
owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to 
transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity 
contributions. Capital appropriations have been designated 
as contributions by owners by TI 955 Contributions by Owners 
Made to Wholly Owner Public Sector Entities and have been 
credited directly to Contributed Equity.

The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, 
other than as a result of a restructure of administrative 
arrangements, are designated as contributions by owners 
where the transfers are non-discretionary and non-
reciprocal.

Distributions to Owners are recognised at fair value based 
on external professional valuations. 

Repayments to the Consolidated Fund

In accordance with the Metropolitan Redevelopment 
Authority Act 2011, the Treasurer may direct the payment 
of any surplus, in part or whole, at the end of the financial 
year, to the Consolidated Fund. The amount of the surplus 
payment is determined by the Treasurer in conjunction with 
the MRA.

Asset Revaluation Reserve

The Asset Revaluation Reserve is used to record increments 
and decrements on revaluation of non-current assets on 
a class of assets basis, specifically, Investment Property, 
Buildings, Plant, Public Artworks and Artworks.  Revaluation 
increments on the same class of non-current asset will 
be credited to the asset revaluation reserve, unless it 
reverses a revaluation decrement that has been expensed 
to the Statement of Comprehensive income, then it will 
be recognised as revenue. A revaluation decrement 
will be recognised as an expense in the statement of 
comprehensive income except to the extent that a credit 
balance exists for the same class of asset in the asset 
revaluation reserve.

l) Goods and services tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 
amount of goods and services tax (GST), except:

i) where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable 
from the taxation authority, it is recognised as part of 
the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item 
of expense; or

ii) for receivables and payables which are recognised 
inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, 
the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or 
payables. The GST component of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities which is recoverable 
from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified as 
operating cash flows. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED 
m) Inventories – land held for sale

All land and buildings and capital works held for development 
and subsequent sale are regarded as inventory and are 
classified as such in the Statement of Financial Position. 
Development expenditure is capitalised with reference to 
the stage of completion of the project.

The MRA recognises as inventory all of the costs which have 
been incurred in bringing developed land to a condition 
ready for sale. Such costs are typically accumulated on a 
project by project basis. The MRA allocates development 
costs to individual lots within the project on a rational and 
consistent basis given the specific circumstances of the 
project. 

Land held for development and subsequent sale is classified 
as a current asset when development is completed and sales 
are expected to result in realisation of settled sales within 12 
months based on management’s sales forecasts. Inventories 
are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value 
(NRV). NRV is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business, less estimated costs of completion and, 
if appropriate, the estimated costs of making the sale.

Cost includes the costs of acquisition development, holding 
and borrowing costs incurred during development. When 
development is completed, holding and borrowing charges 
are expensed as incurred. Holding and borrowing costs 
are also expensed if active development is interrupted for 
extended periods.

n) Assets held for distribution

Assets are classified as held for distribution when the entity 
is committed to distribute the asset to the owners. They 
are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair 
value less costs of disposal. For assets to be classified as 
held for distribution, they must be available for immediate 
distribution in their present condition and the distribution 
must be highly probable. Actions to complete the 
distribution must have been initiated and are expected to be 
completed within one year from the date of classification. 

Assets classified as held for distribution will be transferred 
at current book value and no impairment loss or gain will 
be recognised. Assets will not be depreciated or amortised 
while they are classified as held for distribution. 

Assets classified as held for distribution are presented 
separately on the face of the statement of financial position, 
in current assets.

o) Lease arrangements

Accounting for leases as Lessee

MRA recognises these leases as a right-of-use asset and a 
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset 
is available for use. Lease payments and interest charges 
are recognised against the lease liability. The interest 
charge is recorded in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income over the lease period to produce a constant periodic 
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for 
each period. The right-of-use asset is depreciated over 
the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a 
straight-line basis.

Office Occupancy Costs are variable outgoings for right-of-
use assets recognised under AASB16 Leases. Operational 
expenses for other property are recorded within the 
Property Maintenance classification in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income

Accounting for leases as Lessor

MRA is a lessor in a number of operating leases of 
commercial property. These assets are recognised on the 
Statement of financial position as investment property. 
Refer to Note NOTE 1(s) and Note NOTE 1(w) for accounting 
treatment.

p) Provisions

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount 
and are recognised where there is a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of a past event and when 
the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is 
probable and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount 
of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period. 

q) Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement of financial 
instruments is at fair value which normally equates to the 
transaction cost or face value. Subsequent measurement 
is at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
The fair value of trade receivables and payables is the 
transaction cost or the face value.
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
r) Intangibles

Recognition and Measurement

Acquired and internally generated intangible assets costing 
$5,000 with a useful life of more than two years or more 
are capitalised. The cost of utilising the assets is expensed 
(amortised) over their useful life. Costs incurred below 
these thresholds are expensed directly to the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income. Software that is an integral 
part of the related hardware is treated as property, plant 
and equipment. Software that is not an integral part of 
the related hardware is treated as an intangible asset. 
Software costing less than $5,000 is expensed in the year of 
acquisition.

Initial Recognition

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets 
acquired at no cost, or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair 
value at the date of acquisition.

Subsequent Measurement

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement 
requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses.

Amortisation

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is 
calculated for the period of the expected benefit (estimated 
useful life) on the straight-line basis using rates which are 
reviewed annually. All intangible assets controlled by the 
MRA have a finite useful life and zero residual value. 

The expected useful lives for each class of intangible asset 
are:

Class Useful life

Software (a) 3 – 5 years

a) Software that is not integral to the operation of any 
related hardware.

s) Investment properties

Recognition and Measurement

Investment property, principally comprising freehold land 
and buildings, is not occupied by the MRA and derives 
long term rental yields. Investment property is carried 
at fair value, as mandated by TI 954 Revaluation of Non-
Current Physical Assets, representing open-market value 
determined annually by external valuers. Changes in fair 
value are recorded in the Revaluation Reserve.  Investment 
Property land and buildings were revalued by an independent 
external expert within the financial year. 

t) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalent assets comprise cash on hand and 
short-term deposits with original maturities of three months 
or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of 
cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes 
in value.

Cash and cash equivalents consist of the MRA’s operating 
account, which is a non-interest-bearing account.

Restricted cash and cash equivalents are where the use of 
such assets is restricted, wholly or partially by regulations or 
other externally imposed requirements.

Restricted cash and cash equivalents predominantly 
represent funds held for Development Contribution Plans 
(DCP) held in an interest-bearing public bank account.

u) Interest bearing liabilities

All borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the 
consideration received less directly attributable transaction 
costs.

After initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Finance costs reflected in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income comprise interest payable on borrowings. Borrowing 
costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which they 
are incurred except where they are directly attributable to 
the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying 
asset in which case they are capitalised as part of the cost 
of the asset, in accordance with AASB 123 Borrowing Costs.
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED 
Finance costs consist of those costs incurred in connection 
with the borrowing of funds. They include interest on both 
short and long-term loans, interest components of lease 
liability repayments and the increase in financial liability due 
to the unwinding of discount to reflect the passage of time. 

Finance costs are recognised as an expense in the reporting 
period in which they are incurred, except to the extent that 
they are capitalised when incurred for the purposes of the 
development of sale lots. 

Finance costs on Lease Liabilities are shown in Note 11.

v) Receivables

Trade Receivables   

Trade Receivables and Other Receivables are initially 
recognised at fair value. Debtors are carried at the 
original amounts recognised due less an allowance for any 
uncollectible amounts. Trade debtors are generally settled 
within 30 days.

The value of the provision for impairment loss is assessed 
using an analysis of historical data to determine the level 
of risk and subsequent recovery of debts based on the age 
of amounts outstanding. Bad debts are written off when 
formally recognised as being irrecoverable.

Other Receivables

Other Receivables predominantly relate to the discounted 
present value of land sales where timing of staged payments 
is uncertain and rental debtors. 

Fair Value 

Management consider the carrying amounts of trade and 
other receivables represent their fair value. 

Expected Credit Loss

Expected credit losses expense is recognised as the 
movement in the allowance for expected credit losses. The 
allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables 
is measured at the lifetime expected credit losses at each 
reporting date. The MRA assesses the expected credit loss 
on each debtor individually and is adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtor, the economic 
environment and any held security. 

w) Revenue recognition

Sales Revenue

Revenue from customers is recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income in accordance with AASB 15 Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers when control is transferred. 

MRA recognises the sale of land at the transaction price 
when control of the land is transferred to the customer. This 
is normally on settlement of the transaction and transfer of 
legal title. For conditional exchanges, sales are recognised 
only when all the significant conditions are satisfied. For 
sales where part of the purchase price has been deferred, 
the fair value of the consideration will be the present value 
of future receipts, discounted at a market discount rate. It is 
the MRA’s practice to maintain an option to repurchase land 
if the Purchaser breaches any covenants in relation to the 
future development of the land.

x) Income

Developer Contribution Plan

Developer Contribution Plan (DCP) revenues are recognised 
when developers obtain clearance of development/
subdivision conditions for land held within the DCP area or 
at the expiry of the DCP, unless administration of the DCP is 
transferred to another party.

Interest Revenue

MRA recognises interest as it accrues. Interest recognised 
on deferred payments for land sales relates to the increase 
in the value of the receivable as a result of the time value 
of money. As such, MRA’s interest revenue is derived 
predominantly from nominal interest applied in respect of 
staged sales proceeds. 

Development Applications, Planning Fees/Charges

MRA receives fees from developers and the community 
in relation to development applications, subdivision 
clearances, zoning certificates, scheme amendments and 
providing planning documentation.

The charges and fees are in accordance with Part 6, 
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority Regulations 2011. The 
fees and charges are recognised when they are received. 
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED 
Rental     

MRA operates a number of commercial tenancies. It also 
holds a small number of residential properties. Rental 
income arising on investment properties is accounted for on 
a straight-line basis over the lease term and is recognised as 
income in the periods in which it is earned. 

Tenant Recoverable Outgoings    

Tenant recoverable outgoings represent funds received 
from tenants for expenditure directly related to their 
tenancies. These were initially paid for by MRA when 
the expenses were incurred and are recorded within the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income in accordance with 
the nature of the expenditure’s classification.

Services Received or provided Free of Charge or for  
Nominal Cost

Services received free of charge or for nominal cost that 
can be reliably measured are recognised as income at fair 
value. Where the resource received represents a service 
that MRA would otherwise pay for, a corresponding expense 
is recognised. Receipts of assets are recognised in the 
Statement of Financial Position. Services provided free of 
charge or for nominal cost that can be reliably measured are 
recognised within the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
as an expense under the appropriate category, with an equal 
and corresponding revenue recorded under sponsorship.

Levies and Charges

Levies and charges are received from land owners to fund 
place making activities in the Central Perth Redevelopment 
Area. Levies and charges are recognised as income in the 
period in which they are earned.

Contributions

Contributions are only recognised as revenue when they 
do not represent contributions by owners. Revenue is 
recognised at fair value when the MRA obtains control over 
the assets comprising the contributions. If the contributions 
are in the form of cash, control is usually obtained when 
cash is received. If the contributions are in the form of land 
or buildings, control is usually obtained when settlement of 
the acquisition occurs and title is transferred. Contributions 
of services are only recognised when a fair value can be 
reliably determined and the services would be purchased if 
not donated.

Service Appropriations

Service Appropriations are recognised as income at the 
fair value of consideration received in the period in which 
the Agency gains control of the appropriated funds. During 
the year all appropriations were paid to West Australian 
Land Authority. Appropriation Income is recognised in MRA 
to the extent of the recovered expenses paid by Western 
Australian Land Authority, as an agent for the MRA. 

No gifts of public property were provided by the MRA.  

y)	 Comparative	figures

Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified 
to be comparable with the figures presented in the current 
financial year.
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NOTE 2 SALES REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME
 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Sales Revenue - 3,177

   

Cost of Sales:   

Opening inventory at NRV 1,113 7,695

Purchases - 650

Goods available for sale 1,113 8,345

Reclassifications (to)/from assets held for distribution owners 4,381 (7,220)

NRV write-down of inventory - -

Closing inventory at NRV (5,494) (1,113)

Cost of Goods Sold - 12

Trading Profit - 3,165

Interest Income   

Interest income consists of the following items:   

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Development Contribution Plan interest 259 127

Interest Recognised on Deferred Payments 2,053 3,891

Total Interest Income 2,312 4,018

Other Income   

Other Income consists of the following items:   

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Development Applications and Planning   

Fees/Charges - 89

Venue Hire - 9

Rental Income 2,716 (41)

Tenant Outgoings - Recoverable 427 871

Levies & Charges 488 150

Other Revenue 4,076 2,115

Total Other Income 7,707 3,193
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NOTE 3 EXPENSES
2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Employee	Benefits	Expense   

Wages and Salaries 2,002 7,057

Superannuation 179 389

Staff Training and Memberships 57 9

Fringe Benefits Tax (23) 35

Total	Employee	Benefits	Expense 2,215 7,490

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Supplies and Services   

Administration 272 535

Communication - 46

Consultants and Contractors 399 3,365

Insurances 685 737

IT Software and Licences - 57

Office Occupancy Costs 181 341

Other Supplies and Services 5 6

Property and Estate Management 5,156 7,537

Total Supplies and Services 6,698 12,624

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Other Expenses   

Expected Credit Losses 403 863

Loss on Disposal of Assets 189 8

Payroll Tax 132 381

Other Expenditure 6 -

Board and Land Development Committee Expenses 29 20

Total Other Expenses 759 1,272
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NOTE 4 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Current   

Cash and Cash Equivalents 20,674 20,466

 

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents   

Commonwealth specific purpose grants   

- Public Art Fund (i) 386 469

- Parking Cash-in-Lieu Account (ii) 528 528

- Wungong Urban Water DCP Account 35,514 41,295

- Forrestdale East DCP Account 240 6

- Forrestdale West DCP Account 7,525 18,199

- Scarborough DCP Account 248 223

- Yagan Square Account 3,000 -

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents 47,441 60,720

   

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 68,115 81,186

i) Holds the balance of the Public Art Fund to be used by the Authority for the provision of public art in accordance with the 
development policies of the MRA Redevelopment Areas. See Note 15.

ii) Holds the balance of payments received from developers in lieu of car parking in accordance with the MRA Redevelopment 
schemes See Note 15.

The below Developer Contribution cash balances refer only to the Cash held within the Restricted Cash Bank Account for 
each	Redevelopment	Area,	they	do	not	reflect	the	actual	balance	of	the	Developer	Contribution	Plan.

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Wungong Urban Water DCP Account   

Holds the net of developer contribution receipts collected from land owners within the 
Wungon Urban Water Development Contribution Area, as set out in Appendix 1 of the Armadale 
Redevelopment Scheme 2, less development costs.

  

Balance at the start of the period 41,295 36,673

Receipts 5,111 6,336

Payments (10,892) (1,714)

Balance at the end of the period 35,514 41,295

Normalisation of Champion Lake DCP occurred during the current financial year resulting in nil balance at 30 June 2022.
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NOTE 4 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS CONTINUED 

2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Forrestdale Park East DCP   

Holds the net developer contribution receipts collected from land owners within the 
Forrestdale Project area precinct 7 and 7A Area, as defined in the Armadale Redevelopment 
Scheme 2, less development costs.

  

Balance at the start of the period 6  -

Receipts 953 6

Payments (719)  -

Balance at the end of the period 240 6

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Forrestdale Park West DCP Account   

Holds the net developer contribution receipts collected from land owners within the 
Forrestdale Project area precinct 8 and 8A Area, as defined in the Armadale Redevelopment 
Scheme 2, less development costs.

  

Balance at the start of the period 18,199  -

Receipts 3,167 18,470

Payments (13,841) (271)

Balance at the end of the period 7,525 18,199

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Scarborough DCP Account   

Holds the developer contribution receipts collected from landowners within the Development 
Contribution Area, as set out in chapter 7 of the Scarborough Redevelopment Scheme, less 
development costs.

  

Balance at the start of the period 223  -

Receipts 25 237

Payments  - (14)

Balance at the end of the period 248 223
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NOTE 5 INVENTORIES
 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Developed land   

Current 5,494 1,113

Total Inventories 5,494 1,113

   

Reconciliation of Inventory Movements   

Balance at start of the period 1,113 7,695

Cost of Sales  - (12)

Additional works  - 650

Reclassification (to)/from Assets held for distribution to owner 4,381 (6,607)

Restatement to Fair Value for Distribution to Owner  - 62

Distribution to Owner - (Public Transport Authority)  - (675)

Total Inventories 5,494 1,113

Market valuations for inventories held were higher than the carrying value of inventories at 30 June 2022.  As a result, no 
writedown of inventories to net realisable value was required. 
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NOTE 6 ASSETS HELD FOR DISTRIBUTION TO OWNER
 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Inventory 21 6,607

Investment Property 4,325 3,325

Total 4,346 9,932

Reconciliation of Assets held for Distribution to Owner Movement

Balance at start of the period 9,932 -

Reclassification (to)/from Assets held for Distribution to Owner - Inventory (4,381) 6,607

Distribution to Owner (WALA) (2,205) -

Reclassification to Assets held for Distribution to Owner – Investment Property 1,000 3,325

Total Assets held for distribution to owner 4,346 9,932 

Assets held to be transferred subsequently to WALA and Perth Theatre Trust at book value, having received an exemption to 
Treasury Instruction 955.

NOTE 7 RECEIVABLES
 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Current   

Trade receivables 1,899 3,064

Allowance for impairment of trade receivables (38) (38)

GST receivables 83 149

Other receivables 19,081 8,473

Allowance for impairment of other receivables (1,451) (1,179)

Present value of other receivables (970) (435)

Total Current Receivables 18,604 10,034

   

Non-Current   

Other receivables 8,187 22,186

Present value discount of other non-current receivables (1,619) (4,207)

Total Non-Current Receivables 6,568 17,979

   

Total Receivables 25,172 28,013

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period for trade receivables is the carrying amount of the 
asset inclusive of any expected credit loss as shown in the table at Note 18 “Financial Instruments”. Refer Note 18 for further 
discussion of financial risks associated with receivables.
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NOTE 8 OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Current   

Prepayments 99 77

Total Current Other Assets 99 77

NOTE 9 INFRASTRUCTURE, PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

 Buildings Infrastructure WIP
Public  

Artworks Equipment Total
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cost or deemed cost       

Balance at 30 June 2021 1,041 204,492 1,800 3,802 31,223 242,358

Additions - - - - - -

Disposals - - - (125) (188) (313)

Balance at 30 June 2022 1,041 204,492 1,800 3,677 31,035 242,045

       

Accumulated depreciation       

Balance at 30 June 2021  - (24,225)  -  - (17,189) (41,414)

Disposals - -  - - 119 119

Depreciation (111) (5,012)  - - (2,736) (7,859)

Balance at 30 June 2022 (111) (29,237) - - (19,806) (49,154)

       

Carrying amounts       

30 June 2021 1,041 180,267 1,800 3,802 14,034 200,944

30 June 2022 930 175,255 1,800 3,677 11,229 192,891

Land, Buildings and artwork are measured on the revaluation model as per Note (1h).
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NOTE 10 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Investment Property at Fair Value   

Carrying amount at start of period 17,400 26,250

Reclassification to assets held for distribution to owner (1,000) (3,325)

Net loss from fair value adjustment (2,815) (5,525)

Total Investment Property 13,585 17,400

During the year a fair value assessment was undertaken on MRA Investment assets. Valuations were performed by Collier 
International (WA) Pty Ltd. A revaluation decrement of net $2,815,000 (2021: $5,525,000) was required which had an impact 
on to the statement of comprehensive income.  

Assumptions in estimating fair value are made when assessing the highest and best use of assets. Professional judgement by 
the valuer is required where the evidence does not provide a clear distinction between market type assets and existing use 
assets.

NOTE 11 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

 Office 
accommodation

Vehicles Total

 $’000 $’000 $’000

1 July 2020    

Gross carrying amount 3,499 28 3,527 

Accumulated depreciation (326) (21) (347)

Carrying amount at start of period 1 July 2021 3,173 7 3,180

    

Modification of right of use assets  - (5) (5)

Depreciation (325) (2) (327)

Net Carrying Amount as at 30 June 2022 2,848 - 2,848

Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and movements during the period
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NOTE 11 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES CONTINUED

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Lease Liabilities   

as at 1 July 8,825 9,279

Accretion of interest 247 265

Payments (919) (719)

Transfer of MV Lease (4)  -

as at 30 June 8,149 8,825

   

Current 722 674

Non-Current 7,427 8,151

 8,149 8,825

The MRA leases office accommodation, car parking bays and vehicles. The MRA sub-let its leased office space at the GPO 
building, Perth to the Minister for Works.

 

NOTE 12 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
 2022 2021
 $’000 $’000

Current   

Trade Payables 427 515

Accrued Expenses 4,309 3,626

Accrued Salaries 45 64

GST Payable 363 (55)

Bonds Received 55 55

Other Payables 8 8

Total Current Payables 5,207 4,213
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NOTE 13 INTEREST BEARING LIABILITIES
During the year MRA held no debt. In June 2021, the remaining borrowings of $2,651,749 were repaid to the Western 
Australian Treasury Corporation. 

Finance costs consist of those costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds. They include interest on both 
short and long-term loans, interest components of lease liability repayments and the increase in financial liability due to the 
unwinding of discount to reflect the passage of time.

Finance costs are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are incurred, except to the extent that they 
are capitalised when incurred for the purposes of the development of sale lots. 

In FY2021, Western Australian Treasury Corporation finance costs included $337,442 of interest and $10,920,823 repayment 
premium due to early repayment of loan.

Finance costs on Lease Liabilities are shown in Note 11.

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Finance Costs   

Interest - WATC Borrowings 5 546

Repayment Premium - 10,921

Lease Interest Expense 247 265

Other Interest 27 (18)

Total Finance Costs 279 11,714

NOTE 14 OTHER LIABILITIES
 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Current   

Rental Income in Advance 75 220

Total Current Other Liabilities 75 220

   

Non-Current   

Non-Refundable Development Bond 986 986

Total Non-Current Other Liabilities 986 986
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NOTE 15 PROVISIONS
 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Current Provisions   

Annual leave 301 432

Long Service Leave 148 396

Superannuation 43 75

Employee oncosts 30 58

Total Employee provisions 522 961

Public Art provision 386 469

Parking provision 528 528

Other provisions (i) 7,871 7,872

Total Current provisions 9,307 9,830

   

Non-Current Provisions   

Long Service Leave 149 200

Superannuation 10 22

Employee oncosts 6 13

Total Employee provisions 165 235

Defined Benefit Superannuation Plans 1,683 1,864

Total Non-Current provisions 1,848 2,099

i) Other provisions contain legal and contamination provisions in relation to Central Perth Development Area

Movements in each class of provision during the period

Employee Provisions

Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the leave liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

Annual Leave

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 161 318

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 165 184

 326 502
Long Service Leave

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 49 183

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 227 512

 276 695
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NOTE 15 PROVISIONS CONTINUED
Employee	Benefits

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Carrying amount at the start of period 1,196 2,927

Additional provisions/(reversals of) provisions recognised (279) (850)

Payments (230) (881)

Carrying amount at end of period 687 1,196

Defined	Benefit	Plans

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Reconciliation	of	the	Net	Defined	Benefit	Liability   

Carrying amount at the start of period 1,864 2,141

Within statement of comprehensive income   

Interest costs (unwinding of discount) 27 18

Within other comprehensive income   

Net actuarial (gains)/losses recognised (135) (220)

Benefits paid (73) (75)

Carrying amount at the end of the period 1,683 1,864

Reconciliation of the Fair Value of Scheme Assets

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Carrying amount at start of period   -

Employer contributions 73 75

Benefits paid (73) (75)

Carrying amount at the end of the period - -

Public Art Contributions

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Carrying amount at start of period 469 586

Amounts received during the period 75  -

Amounts used during the period (158) (117)

Carrying amount at end of period 386 469

A provision for public art contributions is recognised when a third party becomes obligated under planning conditions of the 
development area to provide a cash-in-lieu contribution. These funds are held and applied by the MRA for the provision of 
public art within or immediately adjacent to the same project area as the contributing site.
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NOTE 15 PROVISIONS CONTINUED
Parking Contributions

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Carrying amount at the start of period 528 528

Amounts received during the period  -  -

Amounts used during the period  -  -

Carrying amount at end of period 528 528

A provision for parking contributions is recognised when a developer becomes obligated to pay a parking contribution to the 
MRA as a result of not fulfilling minimum parking requirements in their particular development plans. These contributions 
are held by the MRA to be applied for the provision of public parking, cycling, pedestrian facilities or public transport within 
the redevelopment area.

Other provisions

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Carrying amount at start of period 7,872 4,000

Additional provisions recognised  - 3,500

Reclassifications  - 1,800

Amounts used  - (1,428)

Carrying amount at end of period 7,872 7,872

Future development obligations

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Carrying amount at start of period  - 1,715

Reclassifications  - (1,800)

Unwind of discount  - 85

Carrying amount at end of period - -

A current provision has been recognised for future contractual payments in respect of environmental remediation, and 
infrastructure expenses to be incurred within the Central Perth Redevelopment Area, these are listed under other provisions.
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NOTE 16 EQUITY
 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Contributed Equity   

Balance at start of period 680,294 475,819

Contributions by State Government  - 211,539

Distributions to Owners:   

Repayments to the Consolidated Fund  - (6,389)

Assets Transferred to the WALA (2,205)  -

Assets Transferred to the Public Transport Authority  - (675)

Balance at end of period 678,089 680,294

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Asset Revaluation Reserve   

Balance at the start of period - 70

Net revaluation (decrements)/increments  - (70)

Balance at end of period - -

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Accumulated Surplus/(Deficit)   

Balance at start of period (364,622) (355,442)

Surplus/(Deficit) for the period (26,624) (9,400)

Net revaluation of Defined Benefit Scheme 135 220

Balance at end of period (391,111) (364,622)

   

Total Equity at end of period 286,978 315,672

During the year inventory was transferred to the Western Australian Land Authority, for the book value of $2,204,940.  
Refer to Note 6.

 



METROPOLITAN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

136 MRA ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

NOTE 17 NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
a) Reconciliation of cash

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash includes cash on hand and in banks, net of outstanding bank 
overdrafts. Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows is reconciled 
to the related items in the statement of financial position as follows:

 2022 2021

  $’000 $’000

Cash and cash equivalents  68,115 81,186

b)	 Reconciliation	of	cash	flows	from	operating	activities

Loss for the period other than income from State Government  (36,620) (19,199)

Adjustments for:    

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets  8,186 9,349

Net (gain)/loss on sale of assets  193 (8)

Revaluation decrement  2,815 5,455

Expected credit losses  403 863

Unwinding of discounts  (2,053) (3,881)

Finance costs expensed  5 11,714

Appropriation from WALA  5,637 9,620

Other expenses  217 2,060

Assets (increase)/decrease    

Receivables  4,491 36,429

Inventories  - (637)

Other current assets  (22) 23

Liabilities increase/(decrease)    

Payables  849 (1,091)

Provisions  (639) (1,417)

Other liabilities  - 258

Net cash from operating activities  (16,538) 49,538
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NOTE 17 NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS CONTINUED
c)	 Reconciliation	of	liabilities	arising	from	financing	activities

 
Opening 
balance Payments

Non-cash 
movement

Closing 
balance Payments

Non-cash 
movement

Closing 
balance

 2021 2021 2021 2021 2022 2022 2022

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Short-term borrowings 211,692 (211,692)  - -  -  - -

Lease liabilities 9,279 (719) 265 8,825 (919) 243 8,149

Total	liabilities	from	financing	
activities

220,971 (212,411) 265 8,825 (919) 243 8,149

 

NOTE 18 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Recognition, initial measurement and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
financial instrument, and are measured initially at fair value adjusted by transaction costs and subsequently at amortised 
cost.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when 
the financial asset and all substantial risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability is derecognised when it is 
extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.

MRA’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables/payables and Western 
Australian Treasury Corporation (Western Australian Treasury Corporation) bank borrowings. MRA has limited exposure to 
financial risks as detailed below.

Receivables are present valued, to reflect the time value of money, when they have repayment terms greater than one year.

MRA receivables are valued at amortised cost and impaired by the appropriate Expected Credit Loss ratio. 

MRA	financial	assets	and	liabilities

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Financial assets   

Cash and cash equivalents 68,115 81,186

Financial assets at amortised cost 25,089 27,865

Total	financial	assets 93,204 109,051

   

Financial liabilities   

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 8,149 8,825

Trade and other payables at amortised cost 4,844 4,213

Total	financial	liabilities 12,993 13,038
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NOTE 18 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED
Financial risks and risk management

MRA has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

i) credit risk

ii) liquidity risk

iii) market risk

The information below represents information about the MRA’s exposure to each of the above risks, their objectives, policies 
and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital.

The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework. The Board 
has established the Audit and Risk Management Committee, which is responsible for developing and monitoring risk 
management policies. The committee reports regularly to the Board on its activities.

Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the MRA, to set appropriate risk limits 
and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to 
reflect changes in market conditions and MRA’s activities. MRA employs policies and procedures and ongoing staff training 
to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee oversees and monitors compliance with MRA’s risk management policies and 
procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by MRA. The Audit and 
Risk Management Committee is supported in its role by regular, thorough and varied internal audit processes conducted by 
external accounting firms. These internal audits include both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and 
procedures, the results of which are reported to the Audit and Risk Management Committee.

i) Credit risk

Credit risk occurs where there is a possibility of MRA’s customers with outstanding receivable balances defaulting on their 
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to MRA.

The majority of MRA’s revenue is received and recognised at the time of settlement of sale. MRA’s customers are required to 
meet the contractual obligations of a sale (being transfer of sale funds to MRA) in order for the ownership of the MRA asset to 
transfer to the customer. As a result, receivables make up a small proportion of the MRA’s overall customer base.

The majority of MRA receivable balances are made up of rental revenue receivable amounts from various commercial 
tenants. Policies are in place to ensure that goods and services are provided to customers with an appropriate credit 
history. MRA trade receivables are both short and long term in nature. Interest can be charged on any outstanding balances 
to compensate the entity for the use of their funds. Receivable balances are monitored on an on-going basis by external 
property managers.

Bad debts (impairments) are expensed against the allowance when it is highly unlikely or not economically viable to recover 
the debt.

Exposure to credit risk

AASB 9 contains two approaches to assessing impairment - the simplified approach (applied to trade receivables without 
a financing component) and the general approach (applied to most loans and debt securities). The standard allows a policy 
election to apply the simplified approach or general approach for lease receivables and trade receivables with a significant 
financing component.
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NOTE 18 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED 
Summary	of	MRA	financial	asset	impairment	approach

MRA has reviewed trade receivables by assessing each debt individually for risk. The MRA has used historical experience, 
external indicators and forward-looking information to calculate the expected credit losses (ECL) as at 30 June 2022 as 
shown below:

 Impairment 
approach

ECL type 2022 ECL % 2021 ECL %

MRA Asset     

Cash Simplified N/A 0.000% 0.000%

Trade receivables     

Mortgage receivables General 12 month 0.000% 0.000%

Commercial receivables Simplified Lifetime 45.080% 24.325%

  Receivable portfolio 
  Total Mortgage Commercial

30 June 2022     

Expected credit loss rate   0.000% 45.080%

Estimated total gross carrying amount at default  26,578 23,275 3,303

Expected credit losses  (1,489)  - (1,489)

     

30 June 2021     

Expected credit loss rate   0.000% 24.325%

Estimated total gross carrying amount at default  29,081 24,082 4,999

Expected credit losses  (1,217)  - (1,217)

Movement in the allowance for impairment of trade receivables

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of trade and other receivables:   

Balance at start of period 1,217 493

Increase in general ECL provision for the year 276 856

Amounts written off during the period (4) (132)

Balance at end of period 1,489 1,217

ii) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that MRA will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. MRA’s approach to 
managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, 
under both normal and adverse conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to MRA’s reputation.

MRA limits its exposure to credit risk by only investing in liquid securities and only with counterparties that have a credit 
rating of AA- from Standard & Poor’s. Given these high credit ratings, management does not expect any counterparty to fail 
to meet its obligations.
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MRA uses market value to price its land, which assists it in monitoring cash flow requirements and optimising its cash 
return on investments. Typically, MRA ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses 
for a period of 30 days, including the servicing of financial obligations; this excludes the potential impact of extreme 
circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such as natural disasters.

MRA’s contractual maturities of financial liabilities (including estimated interest payments and excluding the impact of 
netting agreements) are as follows: 

 Weighted 
average 

effective 
interest rate

Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
cash flows

6 months or 
less 6 - 12 months

More than 1 
year

 % $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2022       

Trade and other payables  - 4,844 4,844 (1,340) (3,504)  -

WATC loans/Borrowings  -  - -  -  -  -

Lease Liabilities 2.10% 8,149 9,282 (470) (479) (8,333)

  12,993 14,126 (1,810) (3,983) (8,333)

2021       

Trade and other payables  - 4,213 (4,213) (4,208) (4)  -

WATC loans/Borrowings  -  - -  -  -  -

Lease Liabilities 2.10% 8,825 (10,206) (457) (465) (9,285)

  13,038 (14,419) (4,665) (469) (9,285)

iii) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect MRA’s 
income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and 
control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

MRA currently has no derivative arrangements.

As at 30 June 2022 MRA has no borrowings, during the FY2021 year all the MRA borrowings were paid back to Western 
Australian Treasury Corporation.
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NOTE 18 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED
Interest rate risk

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of MRA’s interest-bearing financial instruments 

 2022 2021

$’000 $’000

Variable rate instruments

Financial assets 93,204 109,051

Financial liabilities 12,993 13,037

 106,197 122,088

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased (decreased) equity and profit or loss 
by the amounts shown below.

 

Profit or loss

 100 bp 
increase

100 bp 
decrease

$’000 $’000

2022

Financial assets 932 (932)

Financial liabilities (130) 130

   

2021   

Financial assets 1,091 (1,091)

Financial liabilities (130) 130

Fair values

Fair values versus carrying amounts

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the Statement of financial 
position, are as follows:

 30 June 2022 30 June 2021

$’000
Carrying 
amount Fair value

Carrying 
amount Fair value

Cash and cash equivalents 68,115 68,115 81,186 81,186

Trade and other receivables 25,089 25,089 27,865 27,865

Trade and other payables (4,844) (4,844) (4,213) (4,213)

Lease Liabilities (8,149) (8,149) (8,825) (8,825)

 80,211 80,211 96,013 96,013
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NOTE 19 REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS
 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Auditing of the accounts, financial statements, and key performance indicators 66 87

 66 87

NOTE 20 RELATED PARTIES
MRA is a wholly-owned public sector entity that is controlled by the State of Western Australia.

Related parties of MRA include

• State Government Cabinet Ministers, their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities

• All directors and senior officers of Western Australia Land Authority, their close family members, and their controlled or 
jointly controlled entities

• Other departments and statutory authorities, including their related bodies, that are included in the whole of government 
consolidated financial statements

• Associates and joint ventures of an entity that are included in the whole of government consolidated financial statements

• The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB).

Material	Transactions	with	Ministers,	senior	officers,	and	their	related	parties

Current MRA non-executive directors are: Darren Cooper, Rebecca Field, Jane Bennett, Dale Page, Simon Reed, Reg Gillard 
and Jo Gains. During the year George McCullagh was a board member from 1 July 2021 to 31 August 2021, Alan Carpenter was 
a board member from 1 July 2021 to 28 February 2022 and Simon Read was a board member from 1 July 2021 to 31 August 
2021. All MRA Non-Executive directors are also Non-Executive Directors of the Western Australian Land Authority.

During the current year MRA received operating subsidy of $4,163,187 (2021: nil) and no developer contribution plan 
income (2021: 16,708,050) from the West Australian Land Authority. MRA paid $39,436,912 (2021: $11,665,052) to WALA for 
project expenses. The project expenses included recovery of costs for MRA assets and transition costs. Asset transfers of 
$2,204,940 ( 2021: $nil) were transferred via equity to WALA during the year.

Compensation of Key Management Personnel

MRA has determined that the Key Management Personnel of Western Australia Land Authority includes all Cabinet Ministers, 
the directors and senior officers of Western Australia Land Authority.

MRA is not responsible for the Cabinet Ministers compensation, disclosures in relation to a Minister’s compensation may be 
found in the Annual Report on State Finances.
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NOTE 20 RELATED PARTIES CONTINUED
 2022 2021

Compensation band ($)   

150,001 - 160,000  - 1

160,001 - 170,000  - 1

170,001 - 180,000  - 1

180,001 - 190,000  - 1

190,001 - 200,000 1  -

210,001 - 220,000  -  -

220,001 - 230,000  -  -

240,001 - 250,000 1 1

290,001 - 300,000 1  -

 3 5
     

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

Short-term employee benefits 581 1,005

Post-employment benefits 55 80

Other long-term benefits (18) 19

Termination benefits 120 232

Total compensation of key management personnel (excluding Ministers) 738 1,336

MRA employee benefits were paid by Western Australian Land Authority but recharged to MRA on a monthly basis.

NOTE 21 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
For assets that MRA controls there are no capital commitments as at 30 June 2022 (2021: $nil).

 

NOTE 22 CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
During the ordinary course of development activities MRA periodically has to undertake remediation works. MRA have 
sites classified as contaminated on the Contaminated Sites Report issued by the Department of Water and Environmental 
Regulation, as at 30 June 2022. In addition, these are properties requiring investigation for possible contamination. 
There is Insufficient information available to assess the financial impact of remediation required on any contaminated 
land held, which has yet to be developed. The uncertainties are due to the impact of development, current and future use 
which impacts the nature of any potential obligation, if any, and the level of contamination. Any costs that arise relating to 
remediation and decontamination activities are ultimately incurred as part of development activities, form part of MRA’s 
development costs and will impact Inventory. Refer to Note 5.
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NOTE 23 LEASING ARRANGEMENTS
Operating lease receivables

 2022 2021

 $’000 $’000

MRA holds certain land and buildings for strategic purposes only. Such holdings are rentable 
properties and are treated as operating lease receivables. Total future lease receivables are as 
follows:

Within 1 year 1,184 1,480

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 4,932 6,318

Later than 5 years 2,682 4,199

 8,798 11,997

Leases are negotiated with terms between two to five years with the exception of a number of contracts with terms of 20 
years. Rental income is subject to future assessment based on the terms of the lease arrangements. Outstanding operating 
leases are based on existing rates and do not include the extension periods under option.

NOTE 24 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD
Approvals were granted in May 2022 to transfer MRA assets for the value of $2,425,000.  In June 2022, documents were 
lodged with Landgate to facilitate the transfer however the transfer of titles were not finalised at 30 June 2022.  The 
transaction was processed post year end after the effective transfer of titles, at book value as distribution to owner.  MRA 
obtained an exemption from Treasury Instruction 955 requirement for equity transfer to transfer at fair value in accordance 
with AASB 13.

NOTE 25 EXPLANATORY STATEMENT
Part 1 – Statement of Comprehensive Income

These statements below provide details of any significant variations between estimates (as per the Ministerially approved 
Operational Plan 2021/22) and actual results for 2022 and between the actuals results for 2022 and 2021 are shown below. 
Significant variations are considered to be those greater than 10% and 1% of prior year Total Expenses, for the statement of 
comprehensive income i.e. 1% of $59,788,000.

Major Estimates versus Actual Narratives

1. No sales activity recorded in the financial year compared to prior year, a result of the administrative merger between 
MRA and WALA in 2019 and assets have been transferred to WALA since.

2. Developer Contribution Income is lower than estimates and prior year due to lower development planning submissions.

3. Interest is lower than estimates and prior year due to lower bank balances from Developer Contribution Plan.

4. Other Income is higher than previous year, as the prior year was impacted by rental subsidies due to COVID-19.  

5. Fair value of decrements on investment properties are not included in the estimates as they are a function of market 
movements and can not be reliably estimated. Refer to 1(s)

6. Employee expenses are lower than estimates and prior year due to lower FTE, a result of the administrative merger 
between MRA and WALA.



METROPOLITAN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

145MRA ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

NOTE 25 EXPLANATORY STATEMENT CONTINUED
7. Supplies and Services are lower than estimates and prior year due to lower activity after the administrative merger 

whereby WALA have undertaken the majority of development works.

8. Depreciation and Amortisation is lower than prior year due to the diminishing value of the assets.

9. Developer Contribution Expenses are higher than estimates and prior year due to more project works completed in the 
year.

10. Finance costs are lower than prior year due to repayment of debt facility last year.

11. Other expenses are less than estimates due to lower expected credit loss in the financial year where higher estimates 
were anticipated as a result from the impact of Covid. In addition, MRA incurred lower expenses (e.g. payroll tax) after the 
administrative merger between MRA and WALA.

12. Property Maintenance is lower than estimates and prior year due to assets being transferred from MRA to WALA post the 
administrative merger.

13. Current year expenses are greater than estimates due to higher consultant fees relating to DCP and works undertaken to 
close out agreement with local government authorities. Costs were lower than previous year due to lower provisioning for 
remediation costs.

14. Fair value of decrements on investment properties are not included in the estimates as they are a function of market 
movements and can not be reliably estimated. Refer to Note 1(s).

 Value decrements are lower than previous year primarily driven by market valuation for Yagan Square, a decrement of 
$4.2m in the current financial year and $6.3m from previous year.

15. Grant funding is lower than estimates as the costs attributable to the MRA entity were lower than expected.
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 Variance 

Notes
Actual  

2022
Estimate 

2022
Actual  

2021
Variance 
between 

actual and 
estimate

Variance 
between 

actual results 
for 2022 and 

2021
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
INCOME       
Sales revenue 1 -  - 3,177 - (3,177)
Developer Contribution Income (DCP) 2 7,204 27,892 27,962 (20,688) (20,758)
Interest 3 2,312 4,153 4,018 (1,841) (1,706)
Rechargeable Works  - - 283 - (283)
Other Income 4 7,707 7,436 3,193 271 4,514
Fair Value Increment for Distribution to Owner  - - 62 - (62)
Fair Value Increments on Investment Properties 5 - - 975 - (975)
TOTAL INCOME  17,223 39,481 39,670 (22,258) (22,447)

EXPENSES       
Cost of Goods Sold  - - 12 - (12)
Employee Benefits 6 2,215 6,069 7,490 (3,854) (5,275)
Supplies and Services 7 6,698 17,378 12,624 (10,680) (5,926)
Depreciation and Amortisation 8 8,186 7,939 9,349 247 (1,163)
Developer Contribution Expenses (DCP) 9 29,045 22,431 1,509 6,614 27,536
Finance Costs 10 279 440 11,986 (161) (11,707)
Rechargeable Works Expenses  560 - 419 560 141
Other Expenses 11 759 5,136 1,272 (4,377) (513)
Property Maintenance 12 1,289 5,332 4,334 (4,043) (3,045)
Sales and Marketing  - - 218 - (218)
Infrastructure Development Expenses 13 1,997 929 4,145 1,068 (2,148)
Fair Value Decrements on Investment Properties 14 2,815 - 6,430 2,815 (3,615)
Write Down of Inventories to Net Realisable Value  - - - - -
TOTAL EXPENSES  53,843 65,654 59,788 (11,811) (5,945)

Note income/(loss) other than income from  
State Government

 (36,620) (26,173) (20,118) (10,447) (16,502)

Income from State Government       
Income from other Public Sector Entities  - - 919 - (919)
Resources received free of charge  133 - 179 133 (46)
Grants and contributions from other government agencies 15 9,863 13,845 9,620 (3,982) 243
INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD  (26,624) (12,328) (9,400) (14,296) (17,224)

Other comprehensive income       
Items	not	reclassified	subsequently	to	profit	or	loss       
Remeasurements of defined benefit liability  135 - 220 135 (85)
Changes in asset revaluation reserve  - - (70) - 70
Total Other Comprehensive Income/(Loss)  135 - 150 135 (15)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR  (26,489) (12,328) (9,250) (14,161) (17,239)
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NOTE 25 EXPLANATORY STATEMENT CONTINUED
Part 2 – Statement of Financial Position

These statements below provide details of any significant variation between estimates (as per the Ministerially approved 
Operational Plan 2021/22) and actual results for 2022 and between the actuals results for 2022 and 2021 are shown below. 
Significant variations are considered to be the greater of 10% and 1% of  current year estimate of Total Assets, for the 
statement of financial position i.e. 1% of $321,978,000.

Major Estimate versus Actual Narratives

1. Inventories are lower than estimates as the assets to be transferred to WALA were not included in the estimates.  
Inventories are higher than previous year due to reclassification of inventory from Assets held for distribution to owner 
which are to be retained by MRA.

2. Asset held for distribution are subject to approvals so have not been included in the estimates.  Current year balance 
represented the assets to be transferred from MRA to WALA and other government agency following the Board’s 
approval.  During the year, an asset of $2.2m was transferred to WALA via equity from Assets held for distribution.  Refer 
to Note 6 for further details.

3. Investment Properties are lower than estimates and prior year due to fair value decrement from market valuation.
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NOTE 25 EXPLANATORY STATEMENT CONTINUED
 Variance 

Notes
Actual 

2022
Estimate 

2022
Actual 2021 Variance 

between 
actual and 

estimate

Variance 
between actual 
results for 2022  

and 2021
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
ASSETS       
Current assets       
Cash and Cash Equivalents 20,674 10,909 20,466 9,765 208
Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents 47,441 72,993 60,720 (25,552) (13,279)
Inventories 1 5,494 11,064 1,113 (5,570) 4,381
Asset held for distribution to owner 2 4,346 - 9,932 4,346 (5,586)
Receivables 18,604 1,269 10,034 17,335 8,570
Other Current Assets  99 77 77 22 22
Total Current Assets  96,658 96,312 102,342 346 (5,684)

Non-current assets       
Receivables 6,568 10,362 17,979 (3,794) (11,411)
Infrastructure, Property, Plant and Equipment  192,891 197,069 200,944 (4,178) (8,053)
Investment Properties 3 13,585 15,500 17,400 (1,915) (3,815)
Right of Use Assets  2,848 2,735 3,180 113 (332)
Total non-current assets  215,892 225,666 239,503 (9,774) (23,611)

Total assets  312,550 321,978 341,845 (9,428) (29,295)

LIABILITIES       
Current liabilities       
Payables 5,207 3,843 4,213 1,364 994
Lease Liabilities  722 671 674 51 48
Other Liabilities  75 507 220 (432) (145)
Provisions  9,307 9,830 9,830 (523) (523)
Total current liabilities  15,311 14,851 14,937 460 374

Non-current liabilities       
Lease Liabilities  7,427 7,391 8,151 36 (724)
Provisions  1,848 2,100 2,099 (252) (251)
Other Liabilities  986 986 986 - -
Total non-current liabilities  10,261 10,477 11,236 (216) (975)

Total liabilities  25,572 25,328 26,173 244 (601)

NET ASSETS  286,978 296,650 315,672 (9,672) (28,694)

EQUITY       
Contributed Equity  678,089 673,600 680,294 4,489 (2,205)
Reserves  -  - - - -
Accumulated Losses  (391,111) (376,950) (364,622) (14,161) (26,489)

Total equity  286,978 296,650 315,672 (9,672) (28,694)
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NOTE 25 EXPLANATORY STATEMENT CONTINUED
Part 3 – Statement of Cash Flows

These statements below provide details of any significant variation between estimates (as per the Ministerially approved 
Operational Plan 2021/22) and actual results for 2022 and between the actuals results for 2022 and 2021 are shown below. 
Significant variations are considered to be the greater of 10% and 1% of prior year Total Expenses, included on the statement 
of comprehensive income i.e. 1% of $59,788,000.

Major Estimate versus Actual Narratives

1. Developer Contribution Plan receipts are lower than estimates and prior year due to less developers submissions for 
planning approval.

2. Receipts from customers are less than estimates and prior year due to lower sales activities and rental income.

3. Developer Contribution Expenses are higher than estimates and prior year due to more project works completed to date

4. Payments to suppliers and employees are lower than estimates and prior year due to lower FTE and more project works 
undertaken by WALA post the administrative merger.

5. Capital assets spend is lower than estimates as capital spend was redesignated to WALA.

6. Repayment of debt facility to Treasury completed in last financial year.  

7. MRA held no debt in the current financial year.

8. Interest paid is less than prior year due to repayment of debt facility.

9. Grants and Subsidies in the current year are lower than estimates, as MRA activity decreased and more MRA costs were 
expended in WALA.  

10. The estimate was based on Mardalup Park expenditure, this occurred in WALA, where a portion of this funding was 
received. Distribution to owners of $2.2m was made via equity transfer hence no payment was reported in the current 
year. A payment of $6.4m to the Consolidated Fund was made in prior year.

11. No contributions were received in the current year , the estimate included capital funding not required, and the prior year 
included funding for repayment of debt, MRA had no debt in the current  year.
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NOTE 25 EXPLANATORY STATEMENT CONTINUED
 Variance  

Notes
Actual  

2022
Estimate  

2022
Actual  

2021
Variance 
between 
estimate  

and actual

Variance 
between actual 
results for 2022 

and 2021
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities       

Interest received  193 - 137 193 56

Developer Contribution Plan receipts 1 9,063 27,892 27,962 (18,829) (18,899)

Receipts from customers 2 10,983 27,738 44,002 (16,755) (33,019)

Developer Contribution Expenses 3 (25,452) (22,431) (1,781) (3,021) (23,671)

Payments to suppliers and employees 4 (11,325) (41,812) (20,782) 30,487 9,457

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating 
activities

 
(16,538) (8,613) 49,538 (7,925) (66,076)

       

Cash Flows from Investing Activities       

Payments for Capital Works  - - - - -

Payments for Capital Assets 5 - (3,250) - 3,250 -

Net cash used in operating activities  - (3,250) - 3,250 -

       

Cash Flows from Financing Activities       

Repayment of borrowings 6 - - (214,344) - 214,344

Proceeds from borrowings 7 - - 2,652 - (2,652)

Interest and charges paid on Financing 
Activities

8 (5) - (12,985) (5) 12,980

Payment of Lease Liabilities  (671) - (719) (671) 48

Net	cash	used	in	financing	activities  (676) 0 (225,396) (676) 224,720

       

Cash Flows from State Government       

Grants and Subsidies 9 4,143 13,845 - (9,702) 4,143

Distribution to Owners 10 - (866) (6,389) 866 6,389

Contribution from Owners 11 - 1,600 211,539 (1,600) (211,539)

       

Net cash provided by State Government  4,143 14,579 205,150 (10,436) (201,007)

       

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents

 (13,071) 2,716 29,292 (15,787) (42,363)

       

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July 2021  81,186 81,186 51,894 - 29,292

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 2022  68,115 83,902 81,186 (15,787) (13,071)



Subi Oval, Subiaco.



Ocean Reef Marina. Artist impression only

Disclaimer: The information contained in this document is provided in good 
faith; however, neither DevelopmentWA nor any of its directors, agents or 
employees give any warranty of accuracy nor accepts any liability as a result 
of a reliance upon the information, advice, statement or opinion contained in 
this document. This disclaimer is subject to any contrary legislative provisions 
©DevelopmentWA 2022 DEVWA0836 09/22.

EcoStar is an environmentally responsible 100% recycled paper made from 
100% postconsumer waste that is FSC CoC certified and bleached chlorine 
free (PCF).


	Annual Report 2021-22 - FC
	Acknowledgement of Country
	Contents

	1.0 INTRODUCTION
	1.1 About Developmentwa
	1.2 About this report
	2.0 PURPOSE
	2.1 SHAPING OUR STATE’S FUTURE
	2.2 Values
	2.3 Operating Environment
	2.4 Our Strategic Objectives
	3.0 DELIVERY
	3.1 Activating Our City
	3.2 Supporting Regional Lifestyles
	3.3 Creating jobs and economic diversity
	4.0 INSIGHTS
	5.0 INNOVATION
	6.0 GOVERNANCE
	6.1 Corporate Governance Report
	6.2 Directors’ Report
	7.0 MRA KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
	7.1 Certification of Key Performance Indicators
	7.2 Key Performance Indicators
	7.3 Agency Desired Outcome
	7.4 Armadale Redevelopment Area
	7.5 Central Perth Redevelopment Area
	7.6 Midland Redevelopment Area
	7.7 Scarborough Redevelopment Area
	7.8 Subiaco Redevelopment Area
	7.9 Services
	7.10 MRA Methodology Notes to Accompany Effectiveness Results

